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For Our Students

Whatever be the detail with which you cram your students, the chance of their meeting in
after-life exactly that detail is infinitesimal; and if they do meet it, they will probably have
forgotten what you taught them about it. The really useful training yields a comprehension
of a few general principles with a thorough grounding in the way they apply to a variety
of concrete details. In subsequent practice the students will have forgotten your particular
details; but they will remember by an unconscious common sense how to apply principles to
immediate circumstances.

Alfred North Whitehead
The Aims of Education and Other Essays

WARNING: Study of this book is known to cause thinking, occasionally deep thinking.
Typical side effects include mild temporary anxiety followed by profound long-term
understanding and satisfaction.
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PREFACE

Our perspective in this textbook derives from our belief that effective finan-
cial reporting, starting with financial statement preparation and ending
with financial statement analysis and use, requires ruthless objectivity and
extreme expertise. For the financial reporting process to have its intended
effects, preparers of financial statements must make unbiased and informed
measurements—in particular, fair value measurements—and users of finan-
cial statements must comprehend and analyze those measurements with
skill and objectivity.

Over the years, we have come to refer to our book’s title by the acronym FACM U—Finan-

cial Accounting: An Introduction to Concepts, Methods, and Uses. We take concepts, meth-

ods, and uses to be the central elements in learning and teaching about financial accounting.

The 13th Edition of FACMU has the same objectives as the previous editions:

To help students develop a sufficient understanding of the basic concepts underlying
financial reports so that they can apply the concepts to new and different situations.

To train students in accounting terminology and methods so that they can interpret,
analyze, and evaluate financial statements and notes currently published in corporate
annual reports.

Most introductory financial accounting textbooks state these, or similar, objectives. Text-
books differ in their relative emphases on concepts, methods, and uses.

1. Concepts This book emphasizes the rationale for, and implications of, accounting con-

cepts. To learn accounting, students must develop the ability to conceptualize the trans-
actions that accounting summarizes and the process of summarization. Without such
concepts, students will have difficulty focusing on the relevant issues in new and different
situations.

Accordingly, each chapter identifies important accounting concepts, and includes
numerical examples illustrating their application. The end-of-chapter material includes
numerous short exercises and longer problems to check students’ ability to apply the
concepts to different situations.

Methods We place enough emphasis on accounting procedures to enable students to
interpret, analyze, and evaluate published financial statements. The text does not empha-
size procedures to such an extent that students bog down in detail. All writers of account-
ing textbooks must decide just how much accounting procedure to include. We believe
students learn most effectively by working exercises and problems. Too much emphasis on
accounting procedures, however, lulls students into the security of thinking they under-
stand accounting concepts when they do not. We have for many years used the mixture of
concepts and procedures in this book and have found it effective in the classroom.

Understanding the accounting implications of an event requires that students con-
struct the journal entry for that event. Throughout this book we use journal entries in
describing the nature of accounting events. Moreover, most chapters contain exercises
and problems that require the analysis of transactions with debits and credits. Do not
conclude by a glance at this text, however, that it is primarily procedural. We want students
to learn concepts, the procedures enhance the learning of concepts.

Uses This book attempts to bridge the gap between the preparation of financial reports
and their use in various decision situations. The chapters consider the effects of alternative
accounting principles on the measurement of earnings and financial position and the
appropriate interpretations of them. Numerous problems based on financial statement
data of actual companies appear at the end of most chapters.
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OVERVIEW OF CHANGES IN THE 13TH EDITION

New authors. We have added Jennifer Francis and Katherine Schipper to the team. They bring
teaching excellence and the experience of a standard setter to the collaboration. That they
have had outstanding careers as accounting scholars enables them to contribute beyond their
roles as outstanding teachers.

We four authors have made the following changes in the 13th Edition:

1. Integration of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). As this book goes to
press, the SEC has announced a decision process that, within seven years, may result in
IFRS replacing U.S. GAAP as the body of accounting principles that U.S. companies
must follow. We have integrated IFRS into the text. We start from the premise that U.S.
GAAP and IFRS use the same concepts, but sometimes require or permit different
methods. At the FACMU level, for MBA students and upperclass undergraduates, the
methods are often identical or similar; where they are not, we describe and illustrate
the differences. You can easily see the scope of the U.S. GAAP/IFRS details in this
book by examining the chart in the front endpapers, inside the front cover. That chart
shows you the chapters and topics where the discussion includes IFRS as well as U.S.
GAAP.

2. New emphasis on fair values and components of other comprehensive income. As U.S.
GAAP and IFRS incorporate more required or permitted fair value measurements, we
have broadened our coverage. The fair value option in U.S. GAAP and IFRS affects
accounting for some debt securities and some investments. We discuss these in Chapters
10, 12, and 13, both concepts and methods. Insofar as changes in fair values affect other
comprehensive income, we’ve expanded that discussion as well. We refer to the Decem-
ber 2008 report by the SEC on its “Study on Mark-to-Market Accounting” at the several
places where this report affects the material we discuss.

3. Codification of U.S. GAAP. In its Accounting Standards Codification™ system, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued a compilation of U.S. GAAP,
including Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, Accounting Principles Board
Opinions, Accounting Research Bulletins, Staff Accounting Bulletins, EITF Consensuses,
FASB Interpretations, and several other sorts of pronouncements. This compilation,
which organizes the material by topic, brings together into one place the various account-
ing methods and procedures that treat that topic. If you see SFAS No. 2, you likely think
about research and development costs, not Codification Topic 730. In the future, how-
ever, students will need to think in terms of topic numbers, not pronouncement names
and numbers, in order to participate in accounting conversations during their profes-
sional careers. We provide both conventional citations and Codification Topic numbers
in all citations to U.S. GAAP (except for Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts,
which are not part of the Codification). The Codification topic numbers within citations
will look like this: (Codification Topic 730).

4. Increased use of actual financial statements. We have increased the use of actual financial
statement excerpts in the chapters and in end-of-chapter assignment materials. You will
see that Chapter 1, for example, reprints the actual financial statements of both Nord-
strom and Scania, while Chapter 6 uses most of the financial statements of Wal-Mart.

The preceding changes affect more than one chapter of the book. The following affect
individual chapters.

5. Addition of an early chapter treating the record-keeping cycle. Given the success our
new Duke University authors have had with the record-keeping material they give to
their MBA students before the financial accounting course begins, we have reorganized
the balance sheet and income statement record-keeping material into a single chapter.
Chapter 2 introduces assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity, journal entries, T-accounts,
recording of operating transactions, elementary adjusting entries, closing entries, and
preparation of financial statements. Chapter 2 accomplishes all this without overwhelm-
ing the student with advanced accounting and economic concepts. The problem material
includes the “working backward” problems that have distinguished this text from many
of its competitors. The basic record-keeping cycle gives students transactions, then asks
for recording entries and adjusting entries, then asks for preparation of the income state-
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ment, then closing entries, and finally the ending balance sheet and statement of cash
flows. In the working backward problems, we give students some of the later items and
ask them to derive earlier items. We say one doesn’t understand accounting until one
can work through the record-keeping cycle backward as well as forward. The typical
accounting problem gives facts and asks the students to derive the financial statements.
The working backward problems start with some subset of the financial statements and
ask the students to derive the underlying transaction.

Enhanced focus on balance sheet and income statement measurements, formats, and con-
ventions. Chapter 3 (balance sheet) introduces the asset and liability recognition criteria
and measurement bases, including fair value measurement. Chapter 4 (income statement)
continues by describing basic revenue and expense recognition criteria and measurement
and timing issues; Chapter 7 contains a more detailed discussion of revenue recognition.
Both chapters highlight classification and display differences that exist across firms, as
well as between firms that follow U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

Increased emphasis on the direct method of computing cash flow from operations. Both
the FASB and the TASB have expressed a preference for the direct method of comput-
ing cash flow from operations. Students are likely to increasingly encounter the direct
method during their professional careers. Thus, we place increased emphasis on the direct
method in the 13th Edition. Our students encounter difficulty with the indirect method
of computing cash flow from operations when they initially study the statement of cash
flows in Chapter 5. We have found that introducing the direct method initially helps them
to understand the adjustments required to convert net income to cash flow from opera-
tions under the indirect method. Chapter 5 therefore places increased emphasis on the
direct method, without deleting material on the indirect method commonly found in
practice. Chapter 15 revisits the statement of cash flows, integrating material on more
advanced topics into discussions of both the direct and indirect methods for presenting
cash flow from operations. For example, we now include transactions for, and income tax
effects of, stock option compensation expense, impairment loss, and employees’ exercise
of their stock options.

Reorganization of topics involving revenue recognition and working capital. Chapter 7
treats revenue recognition, receivables, and advances from customers. Chapter 8 treats
other current assets and current liabilities, including inventories, payables, and restruc-
turing liabilities, whose treatment is new in this edition. The decision to bring all the
working capital account issues together results from our view that the accounting for
current liabilities has more in common with the accounting for current assets than with
the accounting for noncurrent liabilities. Think, for example, about the allowance method
applied both to uncollectibles and to warranty costs.

IFRS differences from U.S. GAAP for noncurrent assets. Chapter 9 contrasts the U.S.
GAAP and IFRS treatments of noncurrent assets. At the elementary level of this book,
the major differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS in the accounting for noncurrent
assets occur in the accounting for development costs and impairments.

Reorganization of noncurrent liability topics. Chapter 10 treats mortgages, bonds, install-
ment notes, and lease liabilities, this last moved here from the following chapter. Chapter
11 treats income taxes with the same coverage as in preceding editions and adds addi-
tional material on off-balance sheet financing and defined benefit pension arrangements.
Leases are so common in business that we now treat them as a basic, not an advanced,
topic in liabilities. We have structured the presentation of the advanced topics in liabili-
ties so that the instructor can omit any of the three without loss of continuity to the
others. For example, you can easily skip the pension material and assign the material on
income taxes. We do. We don’t expect students to master all this material during their
first term in accounting, but many will not take more accounting and find later in their
careers that they need to understand the basics of accounting for these more advanced
topics. We have included this material, in the FACMU style of concepts, methods, and
uses, so that this book can serve as a reference on these topics for our alumni.

Separation of investments in marketable securities and derivatives from treatment of the
equity method and consolidated statements. Chapter 12 expands our coverage of account-
ing for derivatives, while Chapter 13 adds material on joint ventures and variable inter-
est entities (U.S. GAAP) and special purpose entities (IFRS). We have expanded this
material into two chapters so that we can provide more coverage on derivatives without

vii
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having a single enormous chapter. As in Chapter 11, we have provided a significant
amount of advanced materials to support instructor choice as to which advanced top-
ics to cover and to ensure that our alumni will have this material at the ready when they
encounter these issues on the job or in more advanced courses in the MBA curriculum.

12. Summary of the FASB’s and IASB’s joint projects on the conceptual framework and finan-
cial statement presentation. Chapter 16 discusses the current status of the joint FASB-
TASB conceptual framework project and the likely changes under consideration. It also
describes and illustrates the tentative conclusions of these standard setting bodies on the
format of the financial statements.

13. More complex topics appear on the Web site. We have placed complex material on deferred
taxes, foreign currency translation, and general price-level-adjusted accounting on the
text’s Web site.

ORGANIZATION

This book comprises four major parts:

B Part One: “Overview of Financial Statements,” consisting of Chapters 1 and 2.
B Part Two: “Accounting Concepts and Methods,” Chapters 3 through 6.

m  Part Three: “Measuring and Reporting Assets and Equities Using U.S. GAAP and
IFRS,” Chapters 7 through 14.

B Part Four: “Synthesis,” Chapters 15 and 16.

In our view, the four parts are tiers, or steps, in the learning process. Part One presents a
general overview of the principal financial statements and basic transactions recording and
financial statement preparation. Part Two discusses the basic accounting model accountants
use to generate the principal financial statements. Part Three considers the specific account-
ing principles or methods used in preparing the financial statements. Part Four summarizes
and integrates the material from the first three parts. This organization reflects the view that
learning takes place most effectively when students begin with a broad picture, then break up
that broad picture into smaller pieces until achieving the desired depth, and finally synthesize
so that the relation between the parts and the whole retains its perspective.

Chapter 1 presents a brief description of the principal activities of a business firm (goal
setting and strategy formulation, investing, financing, and operating) and shows how the
principal financial statements—the balance sheet, the income statement, and the statement
of cash flows—report the results of these activities. We use the business activities and the
financial statements of Nordstrom and Scania to illustrate the important concepts. Chapter
1 also provides an overview of the financial reporting environment. Many students feel del-
uged with the multitude of new terms and concepts after reading Chapter 1. However, most
of these same students admit later that the broad overview helped piece material together as
they later explored individual topics at greater length and in greater depth. The new Chap-
ter 2 focuses on record-keeping vocabulary and processes. Chapter 2 uses T-accounts and
journal entries as tools for recording transactions. The appendix to Chapter 2 describes and
illustrates the use of a Microsoft Excel® spreadsheet for recording transactions for instructors
who prefer this approach. Chapter 2, unlike treatments in other texts, integrates the account-
ing entries for transactions during a period with the related adjusting entries at the end of the
period. When textbooks discuss these two types of entries in separate chapters, students often
lose sight of the fact that measurement of net income and financial position requires both
kinds of entries.

Chapters 3 through 5 present the basic accounting model that generates the financial
statements.

Chapters 3 and 4 discuss the elements of financial statements: assets, liabilities, sharehold-
ers’ equity, revenue, and expenses. The conceptual frameworks of the FASB and the IASB
provide the basis for these discussions, which include fair value measurements for assets and
liabilities.

Chapter 5 discusses cash flows. We continue to put coverage of the statement of cash
flows early in the text. This placement serves two purposes. First, it elevates the statement



Preface

to its rightful place among the principal financial statements. Students can thereby integrate
the concepts of profitability and cash flow more effectively and begin to understand that one
does not necessarily accompany the other. Covering this statement at the end of the course
can lead students to think the cash flow statement less important. Placing this chapter early
in the book forces the student to cement understanding of the basic accounting model from
Chapters 2, 3, and 4. Preparing the statement of cash flows requires the student to work
backward from the balance sheet and income statement to reconstruct the transactions that
took place. As the previous section discussed, we place increased emphasis on the direct
method of computing cash flow from operations, without detracting from the importance of
understanding the indirect method. The FASB, for more than a decade, and the IASB have
expressed a preference for the direct method. Few U.S. companies currently use it, but we
think this will change during the careers of your students.

Chapters 2 to 5 use the balance sheet equation or changes in the balance sheet equation to
motivate understanding. Each of these chapters includes one or more simple problems that
students can work using the balance sheet approach to prepare the principal financial state-
ments. Although these chapters emphasize debit/credit procedures, instructors can use the
balance sheet equation approach to communicate the basics of statement preparation.

Chapters 3, 4, and 5 each contain a section on analyzing and interpreting the financial
statement introduced in the chapter. This presages the integrated analysis of profitability and
risk in Chapter 6.

Chapter 6 describes and illustrates tools for analyzing the financial statements, using the
financial statements of Wal-Mart. The discussion structures the various financial statement
ratios in a multi-level format that, students have found, reduces the need to memorize formu-
las. Instructors who incorporate annual reports of actual companies throughout their course,
as we do with Nordstrom and Scania, will find that analysis of the financial statements
of such companies provides an effective synthesis at this point. An appendix to Chapter 6
illustrates procedures for preparing pro forma financial statements. This topic helps cement
understanding of the relations among the principal financial statements.

Chapters 7 through 14 discuss the guidance in U.S. GAAP and IFRS for generating the
financial statements. Each chapter not only describes and illustrates the application of the
guidance, but also considers how accounting principles affect the financial statements. This
approach reflects the view that students should be able to interpret and analyze published
financial statements and to understand the effect of alternative accounting methods on such
assessments.

Chapter 15 deepens the exploration of the statement of cash flows by presenting a compre-
hensive illustration using the transactions in Chapters 7 to 14. Chapter 16 reviews the account-
ing principles discussed in Chapters 7 to 14 and discusses reporting issues that standard-setting
bodies are currently addressing, particularly those where U.S. GAAP and IFRS diverge. Prob-
lems 3 and 4 at the end of Chapter 16 provide a review for the entire book.

An appendix to the book describes compound interest and present value computations
for students not previously exposed to this topic.

The end of the book includes a comprehensive glossary of accounting terms. It serves as
a reference tool for accounting and other business terms and provides additional descriptions
of a few topics, such as accounting changes and inventory profit, considered only briefly in
the text.

ReLATED MATERIALS ACCOMPANYING THE TEXTBOOK

Contact the publisher to receive the following supplementary materials that augment the
textbook:

Instructor’s Resource CD-ROM (ISBN 0-324-78801-0) The Instructor’s Resource
CD-ROM includes the following supplements:

B Solutions Manual The Solutions Manual, written by the authors, provides full solutions
for all end-of-chapter assignment items, including questions, exercises, and problems. We
give computations, allowing the instructor to show how to reach a particular answer. The
Solutions Manual also appears as a printed item.

B Solutions Transparency Masters Transparency masters, available to adopting instruc-
tors, accompany all numerical end-of-chapter exercises and problems.
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m  Test Bank Prepared by Peter Ben Ezra (George Washington University), the Test Bank
includes multiple-choice items, matching questions, short essay questions, and problems.

®m ExamView Computerized Testing Software All items in the Test Bank are available in
ExamView computerized testing software format for Microsoft Windows. This supple-
ment allows instructors to add or edit questions, instructions, and answers by previewing
them onscreen. They can also create and administer quizzes online—whether over the
internet, a local area network (LAN), or wide area network (WAN).

B Lecture Presentations in PowerPoint These sample lectures aid in class preparation by
those using this text. The PowerPoint slides are also available by download to instructors
on the book’s Web site.

Printed Solutions Manual (ISBN 0-324-78901-7) The Solutions Manual, writ-
ten by the authors, provides full solutions for all end-of-chapter assignment items, including
questions, exercises, and problems.. We give computations, allowing the instructor to show
how to reach a particular answer.

Spreadsheet Template Software To reduce tedium in solving problems and increase
student awareness of basic software applications, at least three problems per chapter have a
corresponding template where basic problem data appear on a Microsoft Excel® spreadsheet.
Additional spreadsheet templates are a pedagogical tool in learning selected topics such as
for the statement of cash flows. The templates, both student and instructor versions, are avail-
able by download on the book’s Web site.

Student Solutions Manual (ISBN 0-324-78900-9) The Student Solutions Man-
ual, written by the authors, provides full solutions for the odd end-of-chapter assignment
items, including questions, exercises, and problems.

Web Resources. Many helpful Web resources, including topical discussions, advanced
topics, regulatory updates, editorial and marketing contacts, and more are available for stu-
dents to access. These items help reinforce and shed light on text topics. We invite you to dis-
cover this wealth of student and instructor resources by logging into the text Web site. (www
.cengage.com/accounting/stickney)

Community Web Site. For those who do not have a physical copy of the book, this Web
site contains information about the revision: www.cengage.com.community/facmu

We encourage instructors to contact their South-Western Cengage Learning sales repre-
sentative for information and samples of these items.

Instructors may also contact the publisher directly with questions, comments, or
concerns:

Matt Filimonov, Senior Acquisitions Editor — matt.filimonov@cengage.com
Steve Joos, Marketing Manager — steven.joos@cengage.com
Craig Avery, Senior Developmental Editor — craig.avery@cengage.com
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Introduction to Business

Activities and Overview
of Financial Statements
and the Reporting Process

Understand four principal activities of
business entities: (a) establish goals and
strategies, (b) obtain financing, (c) make
investments, and (d) conduct operations.
Understand the purpose and content

of the principal financial statements:

(a) balance sheet, (b) income statement,
(c) statement of cash flows, and (d) state-
ment of shareholders’ equity.
Understand the roles of participants in
the financial reporting process, includ-
ing managers and governing boards,

4. Gain an awareness of financial reporting

5.

as part of a global system for provid-
ing information for resource allocation
decisions, including the existence of two
financial reporting systems (U.S. GAAP
and International Financial Reporting
Standards).

Understand the difference between
the cash basis and the accrual basis

of accounting, and why the latter pro-
vides a more informative measure of
performance.

LEARNING
Q"B FE C EV'E"S

accounting standard setters and regula-
tors, independent external auditors, and
financial statement users.

Resource allocation decisions of investors and creditors depend on reliable and relevant
information about firms’ financial positions, profitability, and risk. Financial reports pre-
pared by firms are a key source of this information. The process of preparing those reports
is financial accounting, or, more broadly, financial reporting. Understanding the basics of the
financial reporting process is fundamental to understanding how to use financial reports for
resource allocation decisions, such as making investments.

You are about to embark on the study of financial accounting. You will learn the concepts
underlying the accounting principles firms use to measure the results of their business activi-
ties, the accounting principles themselves, some of the judgments and estimates managers
must make to apply accounting principles, and tools for analyzing financial statements. You
will learn about two similar—but not identical—financial accounting systems: U.S. GAAP!
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Accounting systems specify the
financial accounting principles and procedures that firms must use, and the kinds of esti-
mates and judgments that managers must make in applying those principles. We introduce
these two systems in this chapter, illustrate them with a firm that uses U.S. GAAP (Nord-
strom, Inc.) and a firm that uses IFRS (Scania Group), and continue to present both systems
throughout the book.

Our aim is to equip you with sufficient understanding of the concepts, methods, and uses
of financial statements to enable you to use financial accounting information effectively. As
a financial statement user, you will encounter financial reports that use a variety of formats

IGAAP refers to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. These are the authoritative guidance for financial
accounting in the United States. We discuss U.S. GAAP and IFRS in more detail later in this chapter and
throughout the book.
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and presentations. We attempt to show a few of those variations, with the understanding that
you will encounter many more.

This chapter overviews the book, beginning with a description of Nordstrom’s and Sca-
nia’s business activities. We next see how firms measure the results of their business activities
and report those results in their financial statements. Finally, we describe several components
of the financial reporting process and introduce U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This chapter intro-
duces material that later chapters will cover in greater depth. At this point, you will not fully
understand all the concepts and terms discussed in this chapter. As the chapter title suggests,
this chapter introduces the concepts, methods, and uses that later chapters discuss in detail.

OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The managers of a business” prepare financial statements to present meaningful information
about that business’s activities to external users, including owners, lenders, regulators, and
employees. Understanding those financial statements, therefore, requires an understanding of
the activities of the business:

1. Establishing goals and strategies

2. Obtaining financing

3. Making investments

4. Conducting operations.

We illustrate these four principal business activities using two firms, Nordstrom, Inc. and
Scania Group.

Example 1 Per their 2006 annual report, Nordstrom, Inc. operates 155 specialty retail stores
in the United States. It prepares its financial statements using U.S. GAAP. Its business has
three principal components:

B Retail stores selling high-quality clothing, shoes, cosmetics, and accessories.

m Catalog and Internet sales selling the same products as the retail stores.

B Private-label debit and credit cards, plus Nordstrom-branded ® credit cards, generating
finance charges.

Example 2 Scania Group, based in Sweden, prepares its financial statements using IFRS.
Scania produces high-quality heavyweight vehicles and engines and provides a range of
transport-related services. It operates in approximately 100 countries; Europe is its largest
market. Its business has three principal components:

B Manufacturing: trucks, buses and coaches, and industrial and marine engines.

B Support services: parts, maintenance agreements, repairs, driver training, and informa-
tion technology support for transport planning.

®m Customer finance.

Although Nordstrom and Scania differ markedly in terms of their business size, and
geographical scope, their managers must carry out similar kinds of business activities, dis-
cussed next. Differences in the two firms’ business models affect the content of each of the
activities.

EstABLISH CORPORATE GOALS AND STRATEGIES

Goals are the end results toward which the firm directs its energies, and strategies are the
means for achieving those results. Examples of corporate goals include maximizing the return
to the firm’s owners, providing a good working environment for employees, and improving

>We use “managers” and “management” to refer to employees who make operating, investing, and financing
decisions and apply applicable accounting standards to prepare financial statements, subject to the oversight of
the firm’s governing board (or boards). We also use “firms” to refer to these same decision makers.

Copyright 2010 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved.
May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part.
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the environmental performance of both the firm’s products and the processes that generate
those products. Management, under the oversight of the firm’s governing board (or boards),’
sets the firm’s strategies—for example, determining the firm’s lines of business and its geo-
graphic locations, the strategies for each business unit or product, and the degree to which a
given business unit will engage in new product development. We discuss the roles of manage-
ment and governing boards in financial reporting later in this chapter.

Examples of factors from the operating environment that would affect a firm’s goals and
strategies include the following:

1. Goals and strategies of the firm’s competitors.

2. Barriers to entry of the firm’s industry, such as patents or large investments in buildings
and equipment.

3. Nature of the demand for the firm’s products and services. For example, demand might
be increasing rapidly, such as for certain pharmaceutical products, or demand might be
relatively stable, such as for groceries.

4. Existence and nature of government regulation.

Firms provide extensive information about their corporate goals and strategies. For exam-
ple, Scania’s 2006 annual financial report states that one corporate goal is to grow by 10%
annually, with margins of 12-15%.* One strategy for achieving this goal is to adapt its produc-
tion processes so as to reduce labor costs below 15% of total production costs. Scania’s 2006
annual report also announced plans to increase its production capacity from 70,000 vehicles
to 100,000 vehicles annually, by 2010. Similarly, Nordstrom’s 2006 annual report announced
a plan to open 26 new or relocated stores and to remodel 69 existing stores.

Establishing corporate goals and strategies does not directly affect the firm’s cash flows.
The other three business activities—obtaining financing, making investments, and carrying
out operations—either generate cash or use cash. The statement of cash flows, introduced
later in the chapter, separates cash inflows and outflows into those related to operations,
those related to investing, and those related to financing.

OsBTAIN FINANCING

To carry out their plans, firms such as Scania and Nordstrom require financing, that is, funds
from owners and creditors. Owners provide funds to a firm and in return receive ownership
interests. For a corporation, the ownership interests are shares of common stock and the
owners are shareholders or stockholders.’ In some cases the common shares trade in active
markets such as the New York Stock Exchange and the London Stock Exchange. Firms
whose shares trade in active markets are publicly traded and subject to special regulations,
which this chapter discusses later. When the firm raises funds from owners, it has no obligata-
tion to repay these funds. Sometimes, a firm’s governing board may decide to distribute divi-
dends to that firm’s shareholders. Dividends are a distribution of the firm’s assets to owners;
the assets are often cash (dividends paid in cash) but could take other forms as well (including
dividends paid with other assets, such as shares in other companies).

Creditors provide funds that the firm must repay, usually with interest, in specific amounts
at specific dates. Long-term creditors require repayment from the borrower over a period of
time that exceeds one year. One common form of long-term financing is bonds. A bond agree-
ment specifies the amount borrowed and the terms of repayment, including the interest rate
and the timing and amounts of cash the borrower agrees to pay to the creditors. Banks usu-
ally lend for periods between several months and several years. A note, in which the bor-
rowing company promises to repay the amount borrowed plus interest at some future date,
provides evidence of bank borrowings. Finally, suppliers of raw materials or merchandise
that do not require payment for 30 days also provide short-term funds—the firm gets raw

3By law, some countries require firms to have two governing boards; other countries require one.

4“Margin” in this context means the difference between what Scania charges customers for its products and
services and Scania’s costs to create those goods and services.

SIf the business is organized as a partnership, the owners are partners. If the business is organized as a propri-
etorship, the owner is the proprietor. This book considers corporations, in which the owners are shareholders
or stockholders.
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materials or merchandise now but need not pay cash until later. Likewise, employees paid
weekly or monthly, and governmental units requiring quarterly tax payments, provide funds
by not demanding payment on a more frequent basis (such as daily).

Each firm makes financing decisions about the proportion of funds to obtain from own-
ers, long-term creditors, and short-term creditors. Corporate finance courses cover the tech-
niques that firms use to make financing decisions.

MAkEe INVESTMENTS

A firm makes investments to obtain productive capacity to carry out its business activities.
Investing activities involve acquiring some of the following:

1. Land, buildings, and equipment. These long-term investments provide the capacity to
manufacture and sell products. They are usually long term, in the sense that they provide
productive capacity for a number of years.

2. Patents, licenses, and other contractual rights. These long-term investments provide rights
to use ideas and processes. They are intangible, in the sense that the rights have a legal
existence but not a physical existence.

3. Common shares or bonds of other firms. These investments make a firm an owner or
creditor of another firm. Short-term investments in equity interests typically involve par-
tial ownership, involving temporarily excess cash, while long-term investments in equity
interests involve partial or complete ownership of another business. An example of the
latter would be a situation where one firm wishes to secure a source for critical raw mate-
rials and purchases a long-term equity stake in a supplier.

4. Inventories. Firms maintain an inventory of products to sell to customers. For example,
Nordstrom maintains inventories of apparel, shoes, accessories, and cosmetics.

5. Accounts receivable from customers. In many businesses, customers do not pay for goods
and services immediately. The firm uses the term accounts receivable to describe the
amounts owed to it by customers for short periods, such as 30 days. In extending credit
to customers, the firm forgoes collecting its cash right away, but if it did not extend the
credit, it might not make the sale in the first place. The firm delays the collection of
needed cash from its customers, so it must obtain funds elsewhere.

6. Cash. Most firms maintain cash balances (like a corporate checking account) to pay their
current bills. Firms use cash management systems to keep these amounts small.

Managerial accounting courses and corporate finance courses cover the techniques that
firms use to make investment decisions.

CARRY OuTt OPERATIONS

Management operates the productive capacity of the firm to generate earnings. Operating
activities include the following:

1. Purchasing. The purchasing department of a retailer, such as Nordstrom, acquires items
to sell to customers. The purchasing department of a manufacturing firm, such as Sca-
nia, acquires raw materials needed for production.

2. Production. The production department in a manufacturing firm combines raw materi-
als, labor services, and other manufacturing inputs to produce goods for sale; a service
firm combines labor inputs and other inputs to provide services to customers. Scania is
both a manufacturing firm and a service firm.

3. Marketing. The marketing department oversees selling and distributing products and
services to customers.

4. Administration. Administrative activities include data processing, human resource man-
agement, legal services, and other support services.

5. Research and development. A firm undertakes research and development in the hope (and
expectation) of discovering new knowledge that it can use to create new products, new
processes, Or new services.

Managerial accounting, marketing, and operations management courses cover the tech-
niques that firms use to make operating decisions.
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PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Firms communicate the results of their business activities in the annual report to sharehold-
ers.® The annual report may contain letters from the firm’s management describing the firm’s
goals, strategies, and accomplishments, as well as descriptions and pictures of the firm’s prod-
ucts, facilities, and employees. If the firm’s shares trade publicly, it will also file an annual
report with a regulator, typically a government agency.” The applicable laws and regulations
of the country where the shares trade specify the form and content of the annual report. In
the United States, regulatory requirements applicable to publicly traded firms also require
the inclusion of a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), in which management
discusses operating results, liquidity (sources and uses of cash), capital resources, and reasons
for changes in profitability and risk during the past year.

We focus on the firm’s four financial statements and the supplementary information,
including the following:

1. Balance sheet or statement of financial position at a specified time.

2. Income statement or statement of profit and loss for a specified time period.
3. Statement of cash flows.

4. Statement of shareholders’ equity.

5. Notes to the financial statements, including various supporting schedules.

The following sections of this chapter briefly discuss each of these five items. In describ-
ing these items here and throughout the book, we refer to the financial statements of Nord-
strom and Scania. Nordstrom’s financial statements appear in Exhibits 1.1-1.4, and Scania’s
financial statements appear in Exhibits 1.5-1.8. We begin by making several observations
about certain conventions and concepts that apply to financial statements in general.

FinaANcIAL REPORTING CONVENTIONS

As you read financial statements, you will see both commonalities and differences. In this sec-
tion we describe some conventions commonly used in financial statement preparation. These
conventions govern the length of time covered by the financial statements (the accounting
period), the number of reporting periods included in a given financial statement presentation,
the monetary amounts, and the terminology and level of detail in the financial statements.

Length of Reporting (Accounting) Period Financial statement presentations can
span intervals of any length. The most common reporting interval for external reporting is
one year, called the fiscal year. While many firms use the calendar year as their fiscal year
(that is, the fiscal year ends on December 31), some firms select other fiscal year-ends. For
example, retailers like Nordstrom often use a fiscal year ending on or close to January 31,
after the end of the holiday shopping season. When the fiscal year ends in June-December
of calendar year T, convention describes the financial reports as pertaining to fiscal year T.
For example, Scania’s financial report for the year ended December 31, 2006, reports Scania’s
performance for fiscal 2006. When the fiscal year ends in January—May of year T, convention
describes the financial reports as pertaining to fiscal year T — 1. For example, Nordstrom’s
financial report for the year ended February 3, 2007, reports Nordstrom’s performance for
fiscal 2006.8 We discuss reporting periods in more detail later in this chapter.

Number of Reporting Periods To assist users of financial reports in making over-time
comparisons, both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms to include results for multiple report-
ing periods in each report. Firms must include two balance sheets describing the beginning

®Many firms provide these annual reports on their Web sites. Nordstrom’s and Scania’s annual reports appear
at the investor relations sections of www.nordstrom.com and www.scania.com, respectively.

"The regulator may also require interim reports, for example, on a quarterly basis. In the United States, firms
whose shares trade publicly file quarterly reports that contain a subset of the information that is in the annual
report. The reports filed with the U.S. regulator appear on the regulator’s Web site (www.sec.gov). The U.S.
regulator is the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

8Not all firms follow this convention in describing their financial results, so use caution in comparing results
of two or more firms.
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Nordstrom, Inc.

EXHIBIT 1.1 Consolidated Balance Sheets

e ———— e ——

(amounts in thousands)

February 3, 2007 January 28, 2006
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $402,559 $462,656
Short-term investments = 54,000
Accounts receivable, net 684,376 639,558
Investment in asset backed securities 428,175 561,136
Merchandise inventories 997,289 955,978
Current deferred tax assets, net 169,320 145,470
Prepaid expenses and other 60,474 558859
Total current assets 2,742,193 2,874,157
Land, buildings and equipment, net 1,757,215 1,773,871
Goodwill 51,714 51,714
Acquired tradename 84,000 84,000
Other assets 186,456 137,607
Total assets $4,821,578 $4,921,349
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $576,796 $540,019
Accrued salaries, wages and related benefits 339,965 285,982
Other current liabilities 433,487 409,076
Income taxes payable 76,095 81,617
Current portion of long-term debt 6,800 306,618
Total current liabilities 1,433,143 1,623,312
Long-term debt, net 623,652 627,776
Deferred property incentives, net 356,062 364,382
Other liabilities 240,200 213,198
Shareholders' equity:
Common stock, no par value: 1,000,000 shares authorized;

257,313 and 269,549 shares issued and outstanding 826,421 685,934
Unearned stock compensation = (327)
Retained earnings 1,350,680 1,404,366
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) earnings (8,580) 2,708

Total shareholders' equity 2,168,521 2,092,681
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $4,821,578 $4,921,349

and ending balances of the accounts for the current fiscal year. Refer to Exhibit 1.1, which
shows that Nordstrom includes in its fiscal 2006 annual report to shareholders a balance sheet
as of February 3, 2007, and a balance sheet as of January 28, 2006, showing the beginning
balances for fiscal year 2006 (which are also the ending balances for fiscal 2005). Some firms
may include more comparative balance sheets. Refer to Exhibit 1.5, which shows that Scania
provides balance sheet information for December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006. For the income
statement, statement of cash flows, and statement of sharecholders’ equity, SEC rules require
statements for the current year and the two prior years; IFRS requires statements for the cur-
rent year and the prior year. Both Nordstrom and Scania provide these three financial state-
ments for fiscal 2004, 2005, and 2006.

Monetary Amounts The financial statements report numerical amounts for each listed
item on the financial statements. The numerical amount reported is a monetary amount. The
financial statements indicate the measuring units, both the numerical expression such as in
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Nordstrom, Inc.
Eol Ul e Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Fiscal year 2006 2005 2004
Net sales $8,560,698 $7,722,860 $7,131,388
Cost of sales and related buying and occupancy costs (5,353,949) (4,888,023) (4,559,388)
Gross profit 3,206,749 2,834,837 2,572,000
Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,296,863) (2,100,666) (2,020,233)
Operating income 909,886 734,171 S5l 161
Interest expense, net (42,758) (45,300) (77,428)
Other income including finance charges, net 238,525 196,354 172,942
Earnings before income tax expense 1,105,653 885,225 647,281
Income tax expense (427,654) (333,886) (253,831)
Net earnings $677,999 $551,339 $393,450
Earnings per basic share $2.60 $2.03 $1.41
Earnings per diluted share $2.55 $1.98 $1.38
Basic shares 260,689 271,958 278,993
Diluted shares 265,712 277,776 284,533
Cash dividends paid per share of common stock outstanding $0.42 $0.32 $0.24

e e e e e et et e e et e, _o

thousands, in millions, or in billions, and the currency, such as dollars ($), euros (€), or Swed-
ish kronor (SEK). A firm typically reports in the currency of the country where it is head-
quartered or where it conducts most of its business. For example, a firm with headquarters
and most of its business activities in England would report its results in pounds sterling (£).
However, a firm need not report in the currency of its home country.

Terminology and Level of Detail U.S. GAAP and IFRS contain broad guidance on
what the financial statements must contain, but neither system completely specifies the level
of detail or the names of accounts. IFRS contains relatively more prescriptive guidance, list-
ing, for example, the line items that the balance sheet must display and listing items that the
firm must separately disclose.” U.S. GAAP contains no analog to this IFRS guidance.'” You
should therefore expect to encounter variation in the ways financial statements display informa-
tion and variation in the level of detail provided. In addition, the rules do not always require
firms to use specific names for accounts and line items on the financial statements. While
practice tends to converge on certain descriptive names, such as cash, accounts receivable,
and inventories, you should expect to encounter variation in account titles as well as variation
in format and display.

With these conventions in mind, we turn to a discussion of the principal financial
statements.

BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheet, also called the statement of financial position, provides information, at
a point in time, on the firm’s productive resources and the financing used to pay for those
resources. Exhibit 1.1 presents Nordstrom’s balance sheet as of January 28, 2006, and Febru-
ary 3, 2007. Exhibit 1.5 presents Scania’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, December
31, 2005, and December 31, 2006. The balance sheet presents information at a point in time,
in this case, the end of the firm’s fiscal year. Nordstrom’s annual report states that its fiscal

“International Accounting Standards Board, International Accounting Standard 1, “Presentation of Financial
Statements,” revised 2003.

10As this book goes to press, a project is underway to improve and converge the U.S. GAAP and IFRS guid-
ance for financial statement presentation. Chapter 16 discusses this project more fully.



10

EXHIBIT 1.3
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Nordstrom, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(amounts in thousands)

Fiscal year 2006 2005 2004
Operating Activities
Net earnings $677,999 $551,339 $393,450
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of buildings and equipment 284,520 276,328 264,769
Amortization of deferred property incentives and other, net (36,293) (33,350) (31,378)
Stock-based compensation expense 37,362 13,285 8,051
Deferred income taxes, net (58,274) (11,238) (8,040)
Tax benefit from stock-based payments 43,552 41,092 25,442
Excess tax benefit from stock-based payments (38,293) = =
Provision for bad debt expense 17,064 20,918 24,639
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (61,301) (15,140) (2,950)
Investment in asset backed securities 127,984 (135,790) (149,970)
Merchandise inventories (38,649) (20,804) (11,771)
Prepaid expenses (4,723) (1,035) (3,163)
Other assets (7,661) (3,473) (8,143)
Accounts payable 84,291 31,721 23,930
Accrued salaries, wages and related benefits 48,719 (11,284) 15,055
Other current liabilities 23,533 38,755 58,471
Income taxes payable (5,522) (33,877) (18,999)
Deferred property incentives 30,723 49,480 19,837
Other liabilities 17,334 19,305 7,116
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,142,365 776,232 606,346
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (264,437) (271,659) (246,851)
Proceeds from sale of assets 224 107 5,473
Purchases of short-term investments (109,550) (542,925) (3,232,250)
Sales of short-term investments 163,550 530,750 3,366,425
Other, net (8,067) (8,366) (2,830)
Net cash used in investing activities (218,280) (292,093) (110,033)
Financing Activities
Principal payments on long-term debt (307,559) (101,047) (205,252)
(Decrease) increase in cash book overdrafts (50,853) 4,946 (2,680)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 50,900 73,023 87,061
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 16,300 15,600 12,892
Excess tax benefit from stock-based payments 38,293 - i
Cash dividends paid (110,158) (87,196) (67,240)
Repurchase of common stock (621,527) (287,080) (300,000)
Other, net 422 (352) (752)
Net cash used in financing activities (984,182) (382,106) (475,971)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (60,097) 102,033 20,342
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 462,656 360,623 340,281
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $402,559 $462,656 $360,623

—————— e e e e S i

——— e e T S S —

year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31; Scania states that its fiscal year ends on
December 31. The financial position of the firm at other times during the year can differ sub-
stantially from that depicted on the end-of-year balance sheet.

Concepts of Assets, Liabilities, and Shareholders’ Equity The balance sheet
lists the firm’s assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity and provides totals and subtotals.
Each line item on the balance sheet has a descriptive title that indicates the nature of the item
and a numerical amount reported in units of currency. For example, the first item on Nord-
strom’s balance sheet is Cash and Cash Equivalents in the amount of $402,559; the upper left
corner of the balance sheet indicates the measuring unit is thousands of U.S dollars. The first
item on Scania’s balance sheet is Intangible Noncurrent Assets, measured in millions (m.) of
Swedish kronor (SEK) in the amount of SEK?2,464.

Assets are economic resources with the potential to provide future economic benefits to
a firm. The firm’s investments in items to provide productive capacity are examples of assets.
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Nordstrom, Inc.
EXHIBIT 1.4 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Unearned Other
Common Stock Stock Retained  Comprehensive
Shares Amount  Compensation Earnings _ Earnings (Loss) Total
Balance at January 31, 2004 276,753 $424,645 $(597) $1,201,093 $8,868 $1,634,009
Net earnings = = = 393,450 = 393,450
Other comprehensive earnings:
Foreign currency translation adjustment = . = = 493 493
Unrecognized loss on SERP, net of tax
of $76 = = = E (119 (119)
Fair value adjustment to investment in
asset backed securities, net of tax
of $(59) - - — - 93 93
Comprehensive net earnings = = = = = 393,917
Cash dividends paid (50.24 per share) = = o (67,240) = (67,240)
Issuance of common stock for:
Stock option plans 7,238 111,315 = = = 111,315
Employee stock purchase plan 977 14,081 = = = 14,081
Other 178 2,614 298 - - 2,912
Repurchase of common stock (13,815) S = (300,000) = (300,000)
Balance at January 29, 2005 271,331 552,655 (299) 1,227,303 9,335 1,788,994
Net earnings = = = 551,339 = 551,339
Other comprehensive earnings:
Foreign currency translation adjustment = = = E (1,815) (1,815)
Unrecognized loss on SERP, net of tax
of $4,950 N - = ] (7,742) (7,742)
Fair value adjustment to investment in
asset backed securities, net of tax
of $(1,875) - = - = 2,930 2,930
Comprehensive net earnings = = = = - 544,712
Cash dividends paid ($0.32 per share) - = = (87,196) - (87,196)
Issuance of common stock for:
Stock option plans 5,820 112,948 = - = 112,948
Employee stock purchase plan 757 16,767 = = - 16,767
Other 136 3,564 (28) - hnd 3,536
Repurchase of common stock (8,495) = = (287,080) = (287,080)
Balance at January 28, 2006 269,549 685,934 (327) 1,404,366 2,708 2,092,681
Net earnings = S = 677,999 = 677,999
Other comprehensive earnings:
Foreign currency translation adjustment = = - = 1,309 1,309
Unrecognized gain on SERP, net of tax
of $(1,938), prior to adoption of SFAS 158 S = = = 3,032 3,032
Fair value adjustment to investment in
asset backed securities, net of tax
of $2,173 - - = o (2,805) (2,805)
Comprehensive net earnings o = = = = 679,535
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS 158, net of tax
of $8,199 5 - - i (12,824) (12,824)
Cash dividends paid ($0.42 per share) - = = (110,158) = (110,158)
Issuance of common stock for:
Stock option plans 3,838 94,099 - - = 94,099
Employee stock purchase plan 446 16,652 = = b 16,652
Other 27 721 327 = = 1,048
Stock-based compensation = 29,015 S = = 29,015
Repurchase of common stock (16,547) = = (621,527) = (621,527)
Balance at February 3, 2007 257,313 $826,421 T $1,350,680 $(8,580) $2,168,521

e —— e ————— s e 8 e e e e i ——

—r e

For example, both Nordstrom and Scania list buildings and equipment (Scania calls these
“tangible non-current assets”) among the assets on their balance sheets. Note that the order
in which the assets appear differs between Nordstrom’s and Scania’s balance sheets; we dis-
cuss this ordering in Chapter 2.

Liabilities are creditors’ claims for funds, usually because they have provided funds, or
goods and services, to the firm. We describe two examples of liabilities that result from a
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Scania Group
EXHIBIT 1.5 Consolidated Balance Sheets

31 December, SEK m. Note 2006 2005 2004
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible non-current assets 11 2,464 2,698 2,626
Tangible non-current assets 12 17,130 16,715 14,766
Lease assets 12 9,666 9,883 9,144
Financial non-current assets
Holdings in associated companies and joint ventures 13 173 96 92
Long-term interest-bearing receivables 16,599 15,543 12,756
Other long-term receivables ' 15,17 1,023 1,393 503
Total financial non-current assets 17,795 17,032 13,351
Deferred tax assets 8 649 565 383
Tax assets 34 0 0
Total non-current assets 47,738 46,893 40,270
Current assets
Inventories 14 10,100 9,949 9,487
Current receivables
Tax assets 370 206 733
Interest-bearing trade receivables 8,600 7,847 7,875
Non-interest-bearing trade receivables 7,379 8,008 7,641
Other current receivables ' 15 3,046 2,622 2,199
Total current receivables 19,395 18,583 18,448
Short-term investments 911 1,194 909

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments comprising

cash and cash equivalents 8,808 493 470

Cash and bank balances 1,126 1,106 1,119

Total cash and cash equivalents 9,934 1,599 1,589

Total current assets 40,340 31,325 30,433

Total assets 88,078 78,218 70,703
B e — =

firm’s having previously received benefits (inventories, labor services) for which it must pay a
specified amount on a specified date.:

B First, both Nordstrom and Scania have made purchases but have not yet paid the entire
amount owed. Nordstrom includes the amount owed to its suppliers in Accounts Pay-
able; Scania calls this account Trade Payables.!!

B Second, employees have provided labor services for which Nordstrom and Scania have
not made full payment as of the balance sheet date. Nordstrom includes the amounts
owed to employees in Accrued Salaries, Wages and Related Benefits; Scania includes
them in Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income.

Shareholders’ equity shows the amounts of funds owners have provided and, in paral-
lel, their claims on the assets of a firm. The owners have a residual interest in the firm’s
assets; that is, owners have a claim on all assets in excess of those required to meet creditors’
claims. Shareholders’ equity lists both the amounts invested by shareholders for their owner-
ship interests and retained earnings. Scania uses the word Equity to describe its sharehold-

"Here and elsewhere, we note that many account titles are not standardized. Firms use a variety of descriptive
titles to refer to the same account.
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Scania Group
EXHIBIT 1.5 Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)

31 December, SEK m. Note 2006 2005 2004
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 2,000 2,263 2,000
Contributed capital 1,120 1,120 1,120
Hedge reserve 87 -83 =
Accumulated exchange rate difference 243 903 -400
Retained earnings 22,679 19,524 18,708
Equity attributable to Scania shareholders 26,129 23,727 21,428
Minority interest 5 9 5
Total equity 16 26,134 23,736 21,433
Non-current liabilities
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 17,918 19,323 19,809
Provisions for pensions 17 3,605 3,458 2,499
Other non-current provisions 18 1,473 1,310 1,236
Accrued expenses and deferred income 19 1,861 2,126 2,369
Deferred tax liabilities 8 2,278 2,140 2,305
Other tax liabilities 170 195 187
Other non-current liabilities ' 536 621 394
Total non-current liabilities 27,841 29,173 28,799
Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 16,350 9,351 5,804
Current provisions 18 1,125 962 1,366
Accrued expenses and deferred income 19 7,283 6,836 5,643
Advance payments from customers 449 593 611
Trade payables 6,011 4,901 4,167
Tax liabilities 946 645 1,377
Other current liabilities ! 1,939 2,021 1,603
Total current liabilities 34,103 25,309 20,471
Total equity and liabilities 88,078 78,218 70,703

s = o p—

ers’ equity and lists both share capital and contributed capital; the sum of these amounts
(SEK 3,120 million at December 31, 2006) is the amount invested by Scania’s shareholders for
their ownership interests. Nordstrom uses the phrase Shareholders’ Equity; as of February 3,
2007, there were 257,313 thousand shares issued to shareholders, who had provided funds to
Nordstrom equal to $826,421 thousand in exchange for those shares.

Retained earnings represent the net assets (= total assets — total liabilities) a firm derives
from its earnings that exceed the dividends it has distributed to shareholders since its for-
mation. Earnings generate additional assets or reduce liabilities. To the extent the firm does
not distribute those additional assets to shareholders, it has retained earnings. The Retained
Earnings designation in the Shareholders’ Equity section shows the source of the funding for
assets reinvested by management for the benefit of shareholders and the shareholders’ claims
on those assets. Management operates the firm’s assets with the intent of generating earnings;
that is, the firm expects to receive more assets than it consumes in operations. The increase
in assets, after claims of creditors, belongs to the firm’s owners. As of February 3, 2007,
Nordstrom’s retained earnings is $1,350,680 thousand; that is, its cumulative earnings exceed
its cumulative dividends by approximately $1.35 billion. As of December 31, 2006, Scania’s
retained earnings is SEK22,679 million.

An amount of assets equal to retained earnings does not appear on any single line on the
balance sheet. Instead, a firm such as Nordstrom has used the assets generated by the reten-
tion of earnings to acquire various assets including inventories, new stores, new equipment,

13
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Consolidated Income Statements

EXHIBIT 1.6 ScanlaGroup

January — December, SEK m. Note 2006 2005 2004
Vehicles and Service
Net sales 4 70,738 63,328 56,788
Cost of goods sold 5 -52,255 -47,835 -42,528
Gross income 18,483 15,493 14,260
Research and development expenses ' 5, 11 -3,023 -2,484 -1,987
Selling expenses 5 -6,016 -5,829 -5,343
Administrative expenses 5} -1,189 -858 -789
Share of income in associated companies and joint ventures 2 13 5 8 8
Operating income, Vehicles and Service 8,260 6,330 6,149
Customer Finance 6
Interest and lease income 3,527 3,518 3,427
Interest and depreciation expenses -2,608 -2,575 -2,572
Interest surplus 919 943 855
Other income 232 178 134
Other expenses -179 -138 -132
Gross income 972 983 857
Selling and administrative expenses 5 -416 -374 -318
Bad debt expenses -63 -80 -89
Operating income, Customer Finance 493 529 450
Operating income 8,753 6,859 6,599
Interest income 632 679 346
Interest expenses -863 -866 -638
Other financial income 142 299 96
Other financial expenses -81 -206 -127
Total financial items 7 -170 -94 -323
Income after financial items 8,583 6,765 6,276
Taxes 8 -2,644 -2,100 -1,960
Net income 5,939 4,665 4,316
Attributable to:
Scania shareholders 5,939 4,665 4,314
Minority interest 0 0 2

and other assets. Almost all successful firms use a large percentage of the assets they generate
by earnings to replace assets and to grow, rather than to pay dividends.

Equality of Assets and Liabilities Plus Shareholders’ Equity As the balance
sheets for Nordstrom and Scania show, the total of all assets equals the total of all liabilities
and all shareholders’ equity amounts:

Assets = Liabilities'® + Shareholder’s Equity
Nordstrom: $4,821,578 = $2,653,057 + $2,168,521
Scania: SEK88,078 = SEK61,944 + SEK26,134

A firm invests the resources it obtains from financing. The balance sheet views the same
resources from two angles: as the assets the firm currently holds, having acquired them with
its funds, and as the claims of creditors and owners who provided the funds. Thus,

2Neither Nordstrom nor Scania reports a subtotal for liabilities. To obtain total liabilities, sum the liability
accounts.



Principal Financial Statements

Scania Group
EXHIBIT 1.7 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

January — December, SEK m. Note 2006 2005 2004
Operating activities

Income after financial items 24 a 8,583 6,765 6,276
Items not affecting cash flow 24 b 3,236 2,953 2,386
Taxes paid -2,552 -2,450 -1,784
Cash flow from operating activities before

change in working capital 9,267 7,268 6,878

Cash flow from change in working capital

Inventories -627 284 -959
Receivables 8 439 -1,664
Provisions for pensions 96 124 250
Trade payables 1,276 646 864
Other liabilities and provisions 1,126 -731 356
Total change in working capital 1,879 762 -1,153
Cash flow from operating activities 11,146 8,030 5,725

Investing activities
Net investments through acquisitions/

divestments of businesses 24 ¢ - -205 -49
Net investments in non-current assets 24 d -3,810 -3,597 -2,798
Net investments in credit portfolio

etc., Customer Finance 24 d -3,514 -1,410 -478
Cash flow from investing activities -7,324 -5,212 -3,325
Cash flow before financing activities 3,822 2,818 2,400

Financing activities

Change in net debt from financing activities 24 e 7,591 62 -1,264
Dividend to shareholders -3,000 -3,000 -1,200
Cash flow from financing activities 4,591 -2,938 -2,464
Cash flow for the year 8,413 -120 -64
Cash and cash equivalents, 1 January 1,599 1,589 1,663
Exchange rate differences in cash

and cash equivalents -78 130 -10
Cash and cash equivalents, 31 December 24 f 9,934 1,599 1,589

O —

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholder’s Equity
or
Investing = Financing
Resources = Sources of Resources
Resources = Claims on Resources

The amounts of individual assets that make up total assets, represented by accounts
receivable, inventories, equipment, and other assets, reflect a firm’s investment decisions, and
the mix of liabilities plus shareholders’ equity reflects a firm’s financing decisions, each mea-
sured at the balance sheet date.

Balance Sheet Classification and Aggregation Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS
require that balance sheets separate current items from noncurrent items.!?

B3Nordstrom displays its current assets and current liabilities first, and Scania displays its noncurrent assets
and noncurrent liabilities first. IFRS, but not U.S. GAAP, permits the display used by Scania.

15
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Scania Group
EXHIBIT 1.8 Consolidated Total Recognised Income
and Expenses as Well as Changes in Equity

January — December, SEK m. 2006 2005 2004
Exchange rate difference for the year -661 1,304 -103
Hedge reserve

Fair value changes on cash flow hedging recognised directly in equity 340 -607 -

Cash flow reserve transferred to sales revenue in income statement -103 415 -
Actuarial gains/losses related to pension liabilities recognised directly in equity -68 -770 -72
Taxes attributable to items recognised directly in equity -46 271 21
Total income and expenses recognised directly in equity -538 613 -154
Net income for the year 5,939 4,665 4,316
Total recognised income and expenses for the year 5,401 5,278 4,162
Of which, attributable to:
Scania AB shareholders 5,402 5,277 4,162
Minority interest -1 1 0
January — December, SEK m. 2006 2005 2004
Equity, 1 January 23,736 21,433 18,471
Change in accounting principles - 22 -
Adjusted opening balance 23,736 21,455 18,471
Total recognised income and expenses for the year 5,401 5,278 4,162
Change in minority share related to Ainax -3 3 0
Dividend to shareholders -3,000 -3,000 -1,200
Equity, 31 December 26,134 23,736 21,433

Of which, attributable to:
Scania AB shareholders 26,129 23,727 21,428
Minority interest 5 9 5

B Current assets include cash and assets that a firm expects to turn into cash, or sell, or
consume within approximately one year from the date of the balance sheet. Examples
are accounts receivable and inventory.

B Current liabilities represent obligations a firm expects to pay within one year. Examples
are accounts payable to suppliers and salaries payable to employees.

B Noncurrent assets, typically held and used for several years, include land, buildings,
equipment; patents; and long-term investments in securities.

B Noncurrent liabilities and shareholders’ equity are sources of funds where the supplier of
funds does not expect to receive them all back within the next year.

The line items on the balance sheet represent aggregated amounts. For example, the
amount shown for the line item Merchandise Inventories on Nordstrom’s balance sheet rep-
resents all Nordstrom’s inventories, and the amount shown for the line item Land, Buildings,
and Equipment, Net, contains the aggregated amounts of these resources.

Balance Sheet Measurement Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS use two conceptual bases
to measure the monetary amounts at which assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity appear
on the balance sheet:

1. The historical amount, which reflects the acquisition cost of assets or the amount of
funds originally obtained from creditors or owners, or
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2. The current amount, which reflects some measure of current value as of the balance sheet
date. The notion of a current amount, or current value, can be applied to assets, to liabil-
ities, or to shareholders’ equity.

Some accounting information is reported at historical cost and some at current cost (or fair
value), depending on the requirements of U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Later chapters discuss and
illustrate both of these measurement bases.

Analysis of the Balance Sheet Firms typically finance current assets with current
liabilities and finance noncurrent assets with noncurrent liabilities and shareholders’ equity.
Current assets such as accounts receivable generally convert into cash within one year. Firms
can use this near-term cash flow to pay current liabilities, which require payment within one
year. Long-term liabilities require payment over some number of future years. Noncurrent
assets, such as buildings and equipment, generate cash flows over longer periods. Firms can
use these more extended cash inflows to repay noncurrent liabilities as they come due. A
recurring theme in analyzing troubled businesses is the problem a business faces when it tries
to finance noncurrent assets with current liabilities.

Scania’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2006, reveals the following about the current
versus noncurrent structure of its resources (assets, in SEK millions) and its financing (liabili-
ties and equity, in SEK millions):

Current Assets . . ...... SEK 40,340  Current Liabilities .. ........... SEK 34,103
Noncurrent Liabilities
Noncurrent Assets .. ... 47,738 and Shareholders’ Equity . . . . . .. 53,975

Total............. SEK 88,078 Total ...t SEK 88,078

Similar information reported in Nordstrom’s balance sheet as of February 3, 2007, shows
the following (in thousands of $):

Current Assets . . ...... $2,742,193  Current Liabilities ............. $1,433,143
Noncurrent Liabilities

Noncurrent Assets . . ... 2,079,385 and Shareholders’ Equity . . . .. .. 3,388,435

Total............. $4,821,578 Total o oo i e i $4,821,578

These data show that both Scania and Nordstrom have raised funds from noncurrent
sources in amounts approximately equal to, or slightly greater than, the amount of noncur-
rent assets.

INCOME STATEMENT

The second principal financial statement, the income statement (sometimes called the state-
ment of profit and loss by firms applying IFRS), provides information on profitability. The
terms net income, earnings, and profit are interchangeable. Exhibit 1.2 shows Nordstrom’s
income statement for fiscal years 2004, 2005, and 2006, and Exhibit 1.6 shows Scania’s income
statement for the same three fiscal years. Whereas the balance sheet reports amounts at a spe-
cific date, the income statement reports amounts for a period of time, the reporting period.'*

The income statement reports a firm’s success in achieving the goal of generating earnings
(or profit, or net income) during a given reporting period. Net income is equal to revenues
(and gains) minus expenses (and losses). (We ignore gains and losses in this introduction.) The
income statement reports the sources and amounts of a firm’s revenues and the nature and
amounts of its expenses. A firm strives to generate asset inflows from revenues that exceed
asset outflows from expenses. Net income indicates a firm’s accomplishments (revenues) rela-
tive to the efforts required (expenses) in pursuing its operating activities. When expenses for a
period exceed revenues, the result is a net loss.

“An income statement can report for a period of any length: a year, a quarter, or a month, for example. In all
cases, the reporting period is the amount of time between two successive balance sheets, and the time period
over which the firm measures net income.

17



18

Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

Revenues (also sales or sales revenue; or turnover, a term used by some firms reporting
under IFRS) measure the inflows of assets (or reductions in liabilities) from selling goods
and providing services to customers. In exchange for providing goods and services, firms
receive assets (either cash or promises to pay cash, Accounts Receivable). A firm cannot gen-
erate revenues without simultaneously generating net assets. Nordstrom reports net sales of
$8,560,698 thousand in fiscal 2006. Scania reports net sales of vehicles and services in fiscal
2006 of SEK70,738 million.

Expenses measure the outflow of assets (or increases in liabilities) used in generating rev-
enues. Cost of goods sold or cost of sales (an expense) measures the cost of inventories sold to
customers, or, for service firms, the cost of providing those services. Selling and administrative
expenses measure the cash paid or the liabilities incurred in exchange for selling and admin-
istrative services received during the period. An expense means that an asset decreases or a
liability increases.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses Firms classify revenues and expenses in
different ways and apply different levels of aggregation. For example, Scania reports expenses
for research and development of SEK3,023 million in 2006; some firms might include this
expense in another income statement line item. Scania’s income statement classifies some
expenses by the department that carried out the activities (selling expenses and administrative
expenses) and some expenses by their nature (interest expense, income taxes).

Relation Between the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet The
income statement links the balance sheet at the beginning of the period with the balance
sheet at the end of the period. The balance sheet amount for retained earnings represents
the sum of all prior earnings of a firm in excess of dividends.'> Net income for the current
period helps explain the change in retained earnings between the beginning and the end of
the period. For example, Nordstrom’s income for fiscal 2006 was $677,999 thousand, and it
paid cash dividends of $110,158 thousand to shareholders. Retained earnings declined by
$621,527 thousand, reflecting cash Nordstrom paid to repurchase its common shares from
shareholders. (Chapter 14 discusses share repurchases). We can use this information, along
with the information in Exhibit 1.4, to analyze the change in Nordstrom’s retained earnings
(dollar amounts in thousands):

Retained Earnings, January 28, 2006 . . .. ... v vttt e $1,404,366
Add Net Income for 2006 . . .. ..ottt e e 677,999
Subtract Dividends Declared and Paid During 2006 . .. ..........c.oiiuninnnnnen.. (110,158)
Subtract Other Changes Affecting Retained Earnings . . . ... ... ... (621,527)
Retained Earnings, February 3, 2007 ... ... i e $1,350,680

STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

The third principal financial statement, the statement of cash flows (also called the cash flow
statement) reports information about cash generated from (or used by) operating, investing,
and financing activities during specified time periods. The statement of cash flows shows
where the firm obtains or generates cash and where it spends or uses cash. If a firm is to
continue operating successfully, it must generate more cash than it spends. A firm generates
cash from operations when it collects more cash from customers than it spends on operat-
ing activities. While firms can borrow cash from creditors, future operations must generate
cash to repay these loans. Often a growing business cannot collect cash from customers fast
enough to pay its own bills even though the customers owe the firm more cash than the firm
owes to its suppliers. For example, a firm may agree to pay its suppliers within 20 days, but it
has agreed with its customers that they need not pay for 60 days.

Exhibits 1.3 and 1.7 present the statements of cash flows for Nordstrom and Scania, respec-
tively, for the fiscal years 2004, 2005, and 2006. These statements have three sections, describ-
ing operating, investing, and financing activities that generate or use cash. This three-way
classification captures the categories of business activities described earlier in this chapter.

30Other items can also affect retained earnings. Later chapters discuss some of these (for example, some share
repurchases) and others are beyond the scope of this book.
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Operating Activities Most firms expect to collect more cash from customers than
they pay to suppliers, employees, and others in carrying out operating activities. For many
firms and most successful firms, operating activities provide the largest source of cash. Both
Nordstrom and Scania generated significant cash flows from operating activities in all three
years presented; for example, Scania’s net cash provided by operating activities in 2006 was
SEK11,146 million and Nordstrom’s was $1,142,365 thousand. Both of these statements
begin with net income and make adjustments to convert net income to cash flow from opera-
tions; Chapter 5 discusses these adjustments.

Investing Activities Firms acquire buildings, equipment, and other noncurrent assets
to maintain or expand their productive capacity. These acquisitions, sometimes referred to
as capital expenditures, use cash. A firm can obtain the cash needed for capital expenditures
from selling existing assets, from operating activities, and from financing activities. Nord-
strom’s cash paid for capital expenditures was $264,437 thousand in fiscal 2006. Scania uses
the line item “Net investments in non-current assets” to describe its cash outflows for the
acquisition of property, plant, and equipment; in 2006 its cash outflow for such investments
was SEK 3,810 million.

Financing Activities Firms obtain financing to support operating and investing activi-
ties by issuing bonds or common shares. The firm uses cash to pay dividends and to retire
old financing, such as repaying long-term debt. For example, Nordstrom’s statement of cash
flows shows that it paid cash to make principal payments on long-term debt equal to $307,559
thousand, it paid $110,158 thousand in cash dividends, and it used $621,527 of cash to repur-
chase shares of its common stock. In contrast, Scania was a net borrower, as indicated by the
SEK7,591 million increase in net debt from financing activities, and it paid cash dividends of
SEK3,000 million.

Relation of the Statement of Cash Flows to the Balance Sheet and
Income Statement The statement of cash flows explains the change in cash between the
beginning and the end of the period, and separately displays the changes in cash from operat-
ing, investing, and financing activities. The panel of data below analyzes the changes in cash
for Nordstrom (for the year ending February 3, 2007) and for Scania (for the year ending
December 31, 2006).!¢ Results for Nordstrom are in thousands of U.S. dollars and for Scania
in millions of Swedish kronor (SEK millions).

Changes in Cash for Nordstrom and Scania During Fiscal 2006

Nordstrom Scania
Cash at the Start of Fiscal 2006 . .........c.ci i nnnen.. $ 462,656 SEK 1,599
Cash Flow from Operations During 2006 . . .. .........cccuuunn... 1,142,365 11,146
Cash Flow from Investing During 2006 . . . . ... ... oo vvitnnnnn... (218,280) (7,324)
Cash Flow from Financing During 2006 . . . . .. ..o o v v v e nnn.. (984,182) 4,591
Adjustment for Exchange Rate Differences. . .......... ... ... ... — (78)
Cash at the End of Fiscal 2006 . . ... .. vt ii it i $ 402,559 SEK 9,934

In addition to sources and uses of cash, the statement of cash flows shows the relation
between net income and cash flow from operations. Cash flow from operations exceeds net
income for each of the three years shown for both Nordstrom and Scania. Chapter 5 dis-
cusses the reasons for this excess.

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQuiTy

The fourth principal financial statement presents changes in shareholders’ equity. Firms use
various titles for this statement; for example, Nordstrom’s statement, in Exhibit 1.4, is called

16Scania operates in approximately 100 countries, implying that its activities involve many different currencies.
Scania reports the effects of exchange rate changes on cash flows, measured in millions of SEK, as (78) and
includes that amount in this table. (The parentheses around the number indicated it is subtracted in the calcu-
lation.) This book does not consider the accounting effects of different currencies or of changes in exchange
rates among currencies.
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the statement of shareholders’ equity, while Scania’s statement, in Exhibit 1.8, is called Consol-
idated Total Recognised Income and Expenses as Well as Changes in Equity. This statement
displays components of shareholders’ equity, including common shares and retained earn-
ings, and changes in those components. For example, Nordstrom’s retained earnings changed
between January 28, 2006, and February 3, 2007, because Nordstrom earned net income (an
increase of $677,999 thousand), because it paid cash dividends (a decrease of $110,158 thou-
sand), and because it repurchased shares (a decrease of $621,527). Both Nordstrom and Sca-
nia also present other changes in shareholders’ equity that later chapters discuss.

SUPPORTING SCHEDULES AND NOTES

The financial statements present aggregated information, for example, the total amount of
land, buildings, and equipment. Financial reports provide more detail for some of the items
reported in the financial statements, and they provide additional explanatory material to help
the user to understand the information in the financial statements. This information appears
in schedules and notes that are an integral part of the financial reports.

A firm applies authoritative accounting guidance to prepare its financial reports. This
book considers two accounting systems, U.S. GAAP and IFRS, both of which provide
authoritative guidance. The notes to a firm’s financial statements describe the accounting
guidance, including specific methods and policies that the firm uses to prepare those financial
statements. The notes also provide information that elaborates on, or disaggregates, items pre-
sented in the financial statements. Understanding a firm’s balance sheet, income statement,
statement of cash flows, and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity requires under-
standing the notes. For example, Nordstrom uses a note to explain that its annual reporting
period (fiscal year) ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. As Exhibit 1.9 illustrates, Sca-
nia uses a schedule in its Note 4 to report disaggregated data on the net vehicle and service
sales of SEK70,738 reported on its income statement. This note shows that sales of trucks
and sales of service-related products are the largest components of Scania’s total sales.

SUMMARY: PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements provide information about a firm’s financial position (balance sheet),
its profitability (income statement), its cash-generating activity (statement of cash flows), and
its changes in shareholders’ equity. The balance sheet reports the results of investing and
financing activities as at the balance sheet date. The income statement reports the outcome
of using assets to generate earnings during a reporting period (for example, a year) and helps
explain the change in retained earnings on the balance sheet between the beginning and end
of the period. The statement of cash flows reports the cash inflows and outflows from oper-
ating, investing, and financing activities for the same period and explains the change in cash

Scania Group
EXHIBIT 1.9 Note 4 to the Financial Statements

NOTE 4 Net sales

Vehicles and Service 2006 2005 2004
Trucks 43,021 37,778 33,407
Buses 6,766 6,256 5,504
Engines 1,024 803 658
Service related producs 13,595 12,591 11,418
Used vehicles 5,189 4,897 4,470
Other products 3,032 2,773 2,322
Total delivery value 72,627 65,098 57,779
Adjustment for lease income -1,889 -1,770 -991

Net sales 70,738 63,328 56,788
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Principal Financial Statements

on the balance sheet between the beginning and end of the period. The statement of changes
in shareholders’ equity reports the reasons why the components of shareholders’ equity
increased or decreased during the reporting period. Users should read all of the financial
statements in conjunction with the supporting notes and schedules, which provide explana-
tions and disaggregations of the reported numbers.

PROBLEM 1.1 for Self-Study

Preparing a balance sheet and an income statement. The following information is based
on the annual report of Siemens AG, a German multinational, for the fiscal years end-
ing September 30, 2007, and September 30, 2006. Amounts are reported in millions of
euros (€).

September 30

2007 2006
Balance Sheet Items
Accounts Payable ... ... ... . € 8,382 € 8,443
Property and Equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) ............ 10,555 12,072
Cash and Cash Equivalents . ......... ... it innnnnn.. 4,005 10,214
Common SEOCK . . vttt e e e e 8,823 8,335
Intangible Assets . ... ..t 17,120 13,074
Other Noncurrent Assets . . ..ottt it ittt e et et e et et 3,371 4,370
Long-Term Investment Securities . . .. .. ..o o ittt 12,577 7,998
TNV ENEOM S o v ittt e e e e e e e e 12,930 12,790
Long-Term Debt . .. ... i 9,860 13,122
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . ... ..... ... 8,174 9,547
Other Shareholders” Equity ITtems . . ... ... ... ... 351 858
Accounts Receivable . ... ... . i e 14,620 15,148
Other CUrment ASSEtS . . v v vttt it et e et et e et et e et et 16,377 11,862
Other Current Liabilities . . . . ..ot it i et i e e 33,098 28,939
Retained Earnings . . .. ..ottt e 20,453 16,702
Current Income Taxes Payable . ....... ... ... ... it innn... 2,141 1,582
Income Statement Items
Cost 0f SaleS . ottt e e 51,572
Income Tax EXpENse . . . ..ottt e 1,192
Other (Nonoperating) Expense . ....... ... ...t 144
SAlES .t i e e 72,448
Research & Development Expenses . . ............oouueenn.. 3,399
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses . .................... 12,103

a. Prepare a comparative balance sheet for Siemens as of September 30, 2007 (fiscal
2007), and September 30, 2006 (fiscal 2006) in the format used in Exhibit 1.1. Clas-
sify the balance sheet items into the following categories: current assets, noncurrent
assets, current liabilities, noncurrent liabilities, and shareholders’ equity. Refer to
the Glossary at the back of the book if you have difficulty with any of the accounts.
For each year, verify that assets equal liabilities plus shareholders’ equity on your
balance sheet.

b. Prepare an income statement for Siemens for the year ending September 30, 2007.
Classify income statement items into revenues and expenses.

¢. Based only on the information given here, did Siemens pay cash dividends to its share-
holders during the year ending September 30, 2007? If yes, what is the amount?

Solutions to self-study problems appear at the end of each chapter.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS

The financial reporting process involves four principal types of participants:

1. Managers and governing boards of reporting entities.
2. Accounting standard setters and regulatory bodies.

3. Independent external auditors.

4. Users of financial statements.

This section discusses the role of each of these participants. In addition, this section dis-
cusses three concepts and conventions that underpin the financial reporting process:

1. The distinction between recognition and realization.
2. Materiality.
3. The accounting period convention.

MANAGERS AND GOVERNING BOARDS OF REPORTING ENTITIES

Firms receive funds from owners with the expectation that managers will use the funds to
increase the market value of the firm. From a legal perspective, managers are agents of the
shareholders and have responsibility for safeguarding and properly using the firm’s resources.
Managers establish internal control procedures to ensure the proper recording of transactions
and the appropriate measurement and reporting of the results of those transactions. Share-
holders elect a governing board, sometimes called a board of directors, which is responsible for
selecting, compensating, and overseeing managers; for setting the firm’s dividend policy; and
for making decisions on major issues such as acquisitions of other firms and divestitures of
lines of business. Some governing boards, including all boards of publicly traded U.S. firms,
have a special committee charged with oversight of financial reporting.

Under the oversight of governing boards, managers have responsibility for preparing
the firm’s financial reports. If the firm’s shares trade publicly, laws and regulations may
specify the accounting system the firm must follow (for example, U.S. GAAP or IFRS).
Management has responsibility for understanding the transactions, events, and arrange-
ments that it reports in the firm’s financial statements and for properly applying accounting
requirements.

ACCOUNTING STANDARD SETTERS AND REGULATORY BODIES

Firms apply accounting standards (or rules) to prepare their financial reports. The two sys-
tems of accounting standards considered in this book are U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This section
discusses these two sets of standards and the related regulatory regimes.

U.S. GAAP In the United States the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), an
agency of the federal government, has the legal authority to set acceptable accounting meth-
ods, or standards. The SEC is also the enforcement agency for U.S. securities laws that apply
to firms that access the public debt and equity markets of the United States. For example,
the SEC enforces the proper application of required accounting standards for U.S. SEC reg-
istrants as well as non-U.S. SEC registrants (also called foreign private issuers). A U.S. SEC
registrant is a firm incorporated in the United States that lists and trades its securities in the
United States; a non-U.S. SEC registrant is a firm incorporated under non-U.S. laws that
has filed the necessary documents with the SEC to list and trade its securities in the United
States.

Although it occasionally issues accounting guidance, the SEC has largely delegated the
task of setting U.S. financial accounting standards to the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB), a private-sector body comprising five voting members. FASB Board mem-
bers work full time for the FASB and sever all relations with their previous employers. As
the FASB contemplates a reporting issue, its due-process procedures ensure that it receives
input from all interested constituencies, including preparers, auditors, and financial statement
users.



Financial Reporting Process

Common terminology includes the pronouncements of the FASB (and its predecessors)
in the compilation of accounting rules, procedures, and practices known as generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). The applicable accounting guidance for preparing financial
reports of U.S. firms is U.S. GAAP (a singular noun). The applicable guidance includes,
as well, writings of the SEC, consensuses of the Emerging Issues Task Force (a committee
that operates under the oversight of the FASB), and some pronouncements of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), a professional association. The FASB
issues its major pronouncements in the form of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) that are available on the FASB’s Web site (www. fasb.org). These standards have both a
number (for example, SFAS 95) and a title (for example, “Statement of Cash Flows”).

As this book goes to press, the FASB is in the midst of a codification project that will
organize all of U.S GAAP by topic (for example, revenues), eliminate duplications, and cor-
rect inconsistencies. The FASB intends this project to change how U.S. GAAP is organized
and accessed by those who wish to read and apply. The project will not change the actual con-
tent of the guidance. This textbook uses both the current style of reference (by SFAS number
and title) and the codification reference in parentheses. You can access the test version of
codified U.S. GAAP on the FASB’s Web site.

FASB board members make standard-setting decisions guided by a conceptual framework
that addresses the following issues:!’

1. Objectives of financial reporting. The conceptual framework establishes the objective of
providing information to current and potential investors, creditors, and others to assist
them in making resource allocation decisions.'$

2. Qualitative characteristics of accounting information. The conceptual framework estab-
lishes the features of financial information that enable the information to meet the objec-
tives of financial reporting. For example, the information should possess the following
qualitative characteristics:

B Relevance. The information should be pertinent to the decisions made by users of
financial statements, in the sense of having the capacity to affect their resource allo-
cation decisions.

B Reliability. The information should represent what it is supposed to represent, in the
sense that the information should correspond to the phenomenon being reported,
and it should be verifiable and free from bias.

B Comparability. The information should facilitate comparisons across firms and over
time. Accounting information is comparable if firms account for similar events and
transactions the same way.

3. Elements of financial statements. The conceptual framework defines assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses, and other items that the financial statements contain. An item can
appear in the financial statements only if it meets these definitions. Items that do not
meet these definitions might be disclosed in the notes, which follow immediately after the
four principal financial statements.

4. Recognition and measurement principles. The conceptual framework defines recognition
as depiction in words and numbers in the financial statements with the amount included
in the totals. Other items in financial reports, such as the notes and schedules, are dis-
closures, not recognized items. The conceptual framework specifies criteria that an item
must meet in order for it to be recognized as a financial statement element. The frame-
work also describes various ways to measure recognized items.

The conceptual framework guides the FASB in setting accounting standards. However,
the conceptual framework is not a rigorous, analytical structure from which the FASB can
logically deduce acceptable accounting methods. Chapter 16 discusses the FASB’s conceptual
framework more fully.

"The FASB reports the components of its conceptual framework in Statements of Financial Accounting Con-
cepts. These are available on the FASB’s Web site.

18We distinguish this objective from some other possible objectives, such as calculating income for the purpose
of imposing an income tax. With the exception of one method of accounting for inventories and cost of goods
sold, the accounting methods permitted or required by U.S. GAAP differ from the methods required for cal-
culating taxable income in the United States. With the exception of inventories, you should assume that there
will be significant differences between tax accounting methods and financial accounting methods. See LIFO
conformity rule in the Glossary.
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Concerns over the quality of financial reporting have led, and continue to lead, to govern-
ment initiatives in the United States. For example, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, among
other things, established the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), which
is responsible for monitoring the quality of audits of SEC registrants. This Act requires
the PCAOB to register firms conducting independent audits of SEC registrants; establish
or adopt acceptable auditing, quality control, and independence standards; and provide for
periodic inspections of the registered auditors.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) At one time, accounting
was a largely jurisdiction-specific activity, in that each country with a developed capital mar-
ket had accounting requirements different from others’. The result was that firms in the same
industry but based in different countries reported different amounts in financial statements,
impeding comparisons of firms by investors and creditors. The globalization of capital mar-
kets has increased the need for comparable and understandable financial statements across
countries.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is an independent accounting
standard-setting entity with 14 voting members from a number of countries. Standards set
by the TASB are International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The IASB also has a
conceptual framework that is similar to the FASB’s conceptual framework and that is used
for similar purposes. The IASB began operating in 2001; the standards set by its predeces-
sor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) are called International
Accounting Standards (IAS), and IFRS includes them. Over 100 countries require or permit
firms incorporated under the laws of those countries to use IFRS, or standards based on
IFRS, to prepare their financial reports or have announced plans to do so. Each of these
countries has its own regulatory arrangements for enforcing the proper application of IFRS
in that jurisdiction; these arrangements differ considerably across countries. As a result, dif-
ferent firms subject to IFRS do not necessarily account for the same transaction using the
same set of rules.

In 2007 the U.S. SEC adopted new rules that permit non-U.S. firms that list and trade
their securities in the United States (non-U.S. SEC registrants) to apply IFRS in their finan-
cial reports filed with the SEC without any reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. Prior to this rule
change, non-U.S. SEC registrants could apply any financial reporting system to prepare their
financial reports, but they had to reconcile those reported numbers to the numbers that they
would have reported had they prepared the financial statements using U.S. GAAP.' The
main effect of this 2007 rule change is to create two sets of acceptable financial reporting
systems in the United States, specifically, U.S. GAAP for U.S. SEC registrants and IFRS for
non-U.S. SEC registrants.?”

In 2008 the SEC issued a proposed rule that would allow certain large, multinational U.S.
firms that meet certain qualifying criteria to select between U.S. GAAP and IFRS for prepar-
ing their financial reports filed with the SEC, starting in 2009.2" A second proposal would
require U.S. SEC registrants to report using IFRS, on a staggered basis, beginning in 2014,
provided that certain conditions have been met by 2011. As this book goes to press, the pro-
posed rule is open to comment.

The FASB and IASB have committed to work toward converging their standards, based
on an agreement reached in 2002 and updated since then. The boards intend the convergence
process to eliminate differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS and to improve the result-
ing standards. The boards intend to arrive at a single set of high-quality financial reporting
standards for use in all countries. In addition, the boards have undertaken a separate project
to converge, complete, and improve their conceptual frameworks. Specific information about
convergence activities appears on the FASB’s Web site (www.fasb.org) and on the IASB’s Web
site (www.iash.org.uk). Chapter 16 summarizes some of the important differences between
U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

YSEC Form 20-F was the required filing for the reconciliation.

20Non-U.S. SEC registrants could also choose to apply U.S. GAAP or apply some other accounting standards
and reconcile the resulting numbers to U.S. GAAP.

210ne estimate is that approximately 110 large U.S. SEC registrants would be eligible for the 2010 voluntary
choice to report using IFRS.



Basic Accounting Conventions and Concepts

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Regulatory bodies generally require firms whose securities trade publicly (for example, com-
mon shares) to obtain an audit of their financial reports by an independent external audi-
tor.22 Even if the securities do not trade publicly, financing sources such as banks may require
that the firm obtain an independent audit of its financial statements.

An audit involves:

1. An assessment of the capability of a firm’s accounting system to accumulate, measure,
and synthesize transactional data properly.

2. An assessment of the operational effectiveness of this accounting system.

3. A determination of whether the financial report complies with the requirements of the
applicable authoritative guidance.

The auditor obtains evidence for the first assessment by studying the procedures and
internal controls built into the accounting system. The auditor obtains evidence for the
second assessment by examining a sample of actual transactions. The auditor obtains evi-
dence for the third determination through a combination of audit procedures. The auditor’s
conclusions appear in the audit opinion, part of the financial report. In addition, for most
firms whose shares trade in the United States, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that the audit
involve an assessment, by the independent auditor, of the effectiveness of a firm’s internal
control system for financial reporting. The auditor provides a separate report on internal
control effectiveness.

Users oF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Standard setters and securities regulators intend that financial reports provide information
to investors, creditors, and others that helps decision makers allocate resources and evaluate
the results of their decisions. Financial reporting does not intend to measure firm value or
to provide a// the information that decision makers might need to make resource allocation
decisions. As later chapters discuss, financial reporting, under either U.S. GAAP or IFRS,
intends to provide information that is useful in helping decision makers assess the amount,
timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows of firms.

In order to make sense of financial reports, users of financial statements must have a rea-
sonable knowledge of firms’ businesses and of the kinds of events, transactions, and arrange-
ments that firms engage in. They must also have a reasonable knowledge of the financial
accounting principles and procedures that firms follow to prepare financial reports, and a
reasonable understanding of the judgments and estimates required by those principles.

BASIC ACCOUNTING
CONVENTIONS AND CONCEPTS

Recognition and realization are two fundamental accounting concepts. Recognized items are
depicted in words and numbers on the face of the financial statements, with amounts included in
the totals. As discussed later in this chapter and elsewhere in this book, items must meet certain
conditions (recognition criteria) in order for the financial statements to include them. Realiza-
tion refers to converting a noncash item to cash, for example, collecting an account receivable.
Accounting conventions recognize many accounting items (that is, include them in the financial
statements) before the firm realizes them (that is, converts them to cash). To illustrate, suppose
a firm ships an item for $1,000 on account, payable in 30 days, to a creditworthy customer. The
firm recognizes revenue when it ships the goods but realizes revenue when it collects the cash.
Materiality captures the qualitative notion that financial reports need not include items
that are so small as to be meaningless to users of the reports. No precise quantitative mate-
riality threshold exists, so preparers and auditors must apply judgment to decide whether a

22Employees of a firm might also conduct audits (called internal audits). The employees’ knowledge and famil-
iarity with the activities of their firm probably enhance the quality of the audit work and increase the likeli-
hood that the audit will generate suggestions for improving operations.
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given item would be immaterial, meaning not relevant to a user of the financial reports, and
therefore need not appear in the financial reports.

The accounting period convention refers to the uniform length of accounting reporting
periods. Most business activities do not divide into distinguishable projects. For example, a
firm acquires a plant and uses it in manufacturing products for a period of 20 years or more.
A firm purchases delivery equipment and uses it to transport merchandise to customers for
four or more years. There is no natural stopping point in business activities, so financial state-
ments are, by convention, prepared for periods of uniform length. This approach facilitates
timely comparisons and analyses among firms.

An accounting period (also called a reporting period) is the time between two successive
balance sheet dates. Balance sheets prepared at the end of the day on December 31 of one year
and at the end of the day on December 31 of the next year bound a calendar-year accounting
period; the December 31 balance sheet is also the beginning balance sheet for the next year.
Balance sheets prepared at the end of the day on November 30 and at the end of the day on
December 31 bound a one-month accounting period—the month of December.

Although many firms use the calendar year as the accounting period, some use a natural
business year that coincides with changes in the level of operating activities, for example,
when inventories are at their lowest level during the year. The ending date of a natural busi-
ness year is therefore associated with the activities of the particular firm’s business. Many
retailers, including Nordstrom, use a year ending close to the end of January, the natural
end of the holiday sales season. Winnebago Industries, a U.S. manufacturer of recreational
vehicles, uses a year ending in late August, the end of its model year.

Firms may prepare interim reports for periods shorter than a year. Preparing interim
reports does not eliminate the need to prepare an annual report. Firms with publicly traded
securities in the United States must prepare and file (with the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission) quarterly reports as well as annual reports. Firms file quarterly reports on SEC form
10-Q (the 10-Q report) and file annual reports using SEC form 10-K (the 10-K report). Some
firms use the 10-K report as their annual report to shareholders; some incorporate the 10-K
report into their annual report; and some prepare a separate annual report to shareholders in
addition to the 10-K report.

ACCOUNTING METHODS
FOR MEASURING PERFORMANCE

Many operating activities start in one accounting period and finish in another. For example,
a firm may acquire a building in one period and use it for 30 years; that operating process
extends over 30 years. Firms may purchase merchandise in one accounting period, pay for it
in a second, sell it during a third, and collect cash from customers in a fourth. Cash collection
can precede the sale of merchandise, as occurs when customers make advance payments, or
follow it, as occurs with sales on account. To measure performance for a specific accounting
period requires measuring the amount of revenues and expenses from operating activities
that span more than that one accounting period (the activities have begun but are not yet
complete at the end of the period). Two approaches to measuring operating performance are

1. The cash basis of accounting.
2. The accrual basis of accounting.

CasH Basis oF ACCOUNTING

Under the cash basis of accounting, a firm measures performance from selling goods and
providing services as it receives cash from customers and makes cash expenditures to provid-
ers of goods and services. The performance measurement does not include cash receipts from
financing activities. To understand the measurement of performance under the cash basis of
accounting, consider the following information.

Example 3 Joan Adam opens an art supply store (Adam-Art Supply) on January 1, 2008.
The financing of the store consists of €150,000 in cash, provided by Joan Adam in exchange
for all of the common stock of the firm. The firm rents space on January 1 and pays two
months’ rent of €14,000 in advance. During January it acquires merchandise costing €140,000,
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of which it purchases €86,000 for cash and €54,000 on account for payment in February.
Sales to customers during January total €140,000, of which €114,000 is for cash and €26,000
is on account for collection in February and March. The cost of the merchandise sold during
January was €42,000. The firm paid €25,000 in salaries.

Using the cash basis of accounting, the firm records sales as it receives cash. Income
is cash receipts less cash disbursements for goods and services. Although Adam-Art Sup-
ply made €140,000 in sales during January, it records performance equal to cash receipts
of €114,000. It will record the remaining €26,000 as performance when customers pay the
amounts owed. The firm acquires merchandise costing €140,000 during January but pays
only €86,000 cash to suppliers. Under cash-basis accounting, the performance measure sub-
tracts only the cash paid from cash receipts. The firm also subtracts the cash expenditures
made during January for salaries (€25,000) and rent (€14,000), even though it paid the rent
for both January and February. Cash expenditures for merchandise and services (a total of
€125,000 = €86,000 + €25,000 + €14,000) exceeded cash receipts from customers (a total of
€114,000) during January by €11,000:

Cash Inflows
Cash Receipts from CUSTOMErS. . . . ottt ettt et € 114,000
Total Cash Inflows . . .o vttt e et e e € 114,000

Cash Outflows

Cash Paid for Rent . ... o e (14,000)
Cash Paid for Merchandise . . ... ... i e (86,000)
Cash Paid for Salaries . . ...t e _ (25,000)
Total Cash Outflows. . . . ot i i e €(125,000)
Net Cash Flow. . . oo oot e € (11,000)

As a basis for measuring performance for a particular accounting period, the cash basis
of accounting has three weaknesses.

First, the cash basis does not adequately match the cost of the efforts required to gener-
ate inflows with the inflows themselves. Cash outflows of one period can relate to operating
activities whose cash inflows occur in preceding or succeeding periods. The store rental pay-
ment of €14,000 provides rental services for both January and February; the cash basis sub-
tracts the full amount in measuring performance during January and none for February. As
a result, February’s performance will look better than January’s for no reason other than the
early timing of cash payments for rent.

For performance measurement over long intervals, the cash basis will do a better job of
matching the cost of the efforts required in generating inflows with the inflows themselves
than it does for a shorter period. For example, if Adam-Art Supply calculates cash-basis per-
formance over rwo months, January and February, the €14,000 cost of rental services exactly
matches the period over which the firm receives the benefits. However, delaying performance
measurement is not a good solution because users of financial statements want timely infor-
mation and because of the reasons given in the description of the accounting period conven-
tion—business activities do not divide neatly into discrete projects and discrete periods.

Second, the cash basis of accounting separates the recognition of revenue from the pro-
cess of earning those revenues. A firm should recognize revenue when it has earned those rev-
enues by delivering goods and services to customers, which often occurs before it collects cash
from those customers. In these cases, recognizing revenues when the firm collects cash often
results in reporting the effects of operating activities one or more periods after the critical
revenue-generating activity—the customer’s purchase of goods and service—has occurred.
For example, sales to customers during January by Adam-Art Supply were €140,000. Under
the cash basis of accounting, the firm will not recognize €26,000 of this amount until it col-
lects the cash during February or later. If the firm checks the creditworthiness of customers
before making the sales on account, it will probably collect the cash when it is due, or at least
a predictable fraction of the cash, and therefore need not postpone recognition of the revenue
until the time it actually collects the cash.

Third, performance measured using the cash basis is sensitive to the timing of cash expen-
ditures. For example, the cash-basis measure reduces the performance for Adam-Art Supply
in January by the entire €14,000 cash payment for rent, even though the firm will benefit from
the results of those expenditures by consuming those rental services for two months. A delay
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of even a few days in cash expenditures near the end of the accounting period will increase
earnings for that period, while decreasing earnings in one or more subsequent periods.

Most individuals use the cash basis of accounting for computing personal income and
personal income taxes. So do firms with no medium-term assets (such as inventories, which
have a several-month shelf life) and with no long-term assets (such as property, plant, and
equipment). Lawyers, accountants, and other professionals, who have few or no investments
in inventories and multi-period assets, and who collect cash from clients soon after they ren-
der services, frequently use the cash basis. Even these service firms use a modified cash basis
of accounting, under which they treat the costs of buildings, equipment, and similar items as
assets when purchased, and recognize a portion of the acquisition cost as an expense when
they consume services of these assets. Except for the treatment of these long-lived assets, such
firms measure and record business activity at the times they receive and disburse cash.

AccRUAL Basis oF ACCOUNTING

The accrual basis of accounting typically recognizes revenue when a firm sells goods (manu-
facturing and retailing firms) or renders services (service firms), and recognizes expenses in
the period when the firm recognizes the revenues that the costs helped produce. Thus accrual
accounting attempts to match expenses with associated revenues. When the usage of an asset’s
future benefits does not match with particular revenues, the firm recognizes those costs as
expenses of the period during which the firm uses the benefits provided by the assets.

Example 4 Under the accrual basis of accounting Adam-Art Supply recognizes, for January
2008, the entire €140,000 of sales during January as revenue, even though it has received only
€114,000 in cash by the end of January. The firm reasonably expects to collect the remaining
accounts receivable of €26,000 in February or soon thereafter. The sale of the goods, rather
than the collection of cash from customers, triggers the recognition of revenue. The merchan-
dise sold during January cost €42,000. Recognizing this amount as an expense (cost of goods
sold) matches the cost of the merchandise sold with revenue from sales of those goods. Of
the advance rental payment of €14,000, only €7,000 applies to the cost of benefits consumed
during January. The remaining rental of €7,000 purchases benefits for the month of Febru-
ary and will therefore appear on the balance sheet on January 31 as an asset. The salaries
and rent expenses, unlike the cost of merchandise sold, do not directly match sales revenues
recognized during the period. These costs therefore become expenses of January to the extent
that the firm consumed the services during the month. Using the accrual basis of accounting,
Adam-Art would report net income of €66,000 for the month of January:

Sales REVENUE . . . v vttt e e €140,000
Cost of Goods Sold. . . .. e (42,000)
RENE EXPENSE . . e ettt et e et e e e e (7,000)
Salaries EXPENSE . o o v vt e e e (25,000)

et INCOME ottt e e e e e e e e e e € 66,000

The accrual basis of accounting illustrates the matching convention: it matches expenses
with their related revenues by subtracting their amount in measuring performance. Accrual
accounting and matching separate performance measurement from cash receipts and dis-
bursements. The accrual basis focuses on inflows of net assets from operations (revenues) and
the use of net assets in operations (expenses), independent of whether the firm has collected
cash for those inflows and spent cash for the outflows of net assets.

The accrual basis of accounting provides a better measure of operating performance
for Adam-Art Supply for the month of January than does the cash basis, because revenues
more accurately reflect the results of sales activity during January than does cash received
from customers during that period, and expenses more closely match reported revenues than
expenditures match receipts. Likewise, the accrual basis provides a superior measure of per-
formance for future periods because activities of those periods will bear their share of the
costs of rental services and other services the firm will consume.

Most firms, particularly those involved in merchandising and manufacturing activities,
use the accrual basis of accounting. From this point on in the book, all discussions assume
use of the accrual basis of accounting. We introduced the cash basis of accounting to demon-
strate its deficiencies and the related rationale for the accrual basis.
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PROBLEM 1.2 for Self-Study

Cash versus accrual basis of accounting. Thompson Hardware Store commences opera-
tions on January 1, 2008, when Jacob Thompson invests $30,000 for all of the common
stock of the firm. The firm rents a building on January 1 and pays two months’ rent
in advance in the amount of $2,000. On January 1 it also pays the $1,200 premium for
property and liability insurance coverage for the year ending December 31, 2008. The
firm purchases $28,000 of merchandise inventory on account on January 2 and pays
$10,000 of this amount on January 25. On January 31 the cost of unsold merchandise
is $15,000. During January the firm makes cash sales to customers totaling $20,000
and sales on account totaling $9,000. The firm collects $2,000 from these credit sales
by the end of January. The firm pays other costs during January as follows: utilities,
$400; salaries, $650; and taxes, $350. What are Thompson Hardware Store’s revenues,
expenses, and income for January, assuming (1) the accrual basis of accounting, and
(2) the cash basis of accounting?

This chapter shows how business activities relate to the principal financial statements included
in financial reports to shareholders. The chapter raises questions that it does not fully answer.
It provides you with a broad overview of the four basic financial statements before you exam-
ine the concepts and procedures underlying each statement in later chapters. The Web site for
this book contains additional information on particular topics not covered fully in this book
(go to: www. cengage.comlaccountinglstickney).

This chapter also describes the financial reporting process and introduces the two account-
ing systems addressed in this book: U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Now we turn to the study of
financial accounting. To comprehend the concepts and procedures in the book, you should
study the numerical examples presented in each chapter and prepare solutions to several
problems, including the self-study problems. You may find the Glossary of terms at the back
of the book useful.

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 1.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Siemens AG: preparing a balance sheet and an income statement)
a. Balance sheet for years ended September 30, 2007, and September 30, 2006.

September 30

2007 2006

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents . . ...ttt € 4,005 €10,214
Accounts Receivable . . ... .o 14,620 15,148
Inventories . ... e 12,930 12,790
Other Current Assets . . . oo e 16,377 11,862
Total Current Assets ... ..o e €47,932 €50,014
Property and Equipment (net of accumulated depreciation). .......... €10,555 €12,072
Intangible Assets . . oo vttt e 17,120 13,074
Long-Term Investment Securities . ..........cciiieeeeeeennnn. 12,577 7,998
Other Noncurrent Assets . ... ... 3,371 4,370
Total Noncurrent Assets . . . ..o oottt €43,623 €37,514
Total Assets . ..t e €91,555 €87,528

(continued)
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September 30

2007 2006

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Accounts Payable . . . oo vttt e € 8,382 € 8,443
Current Income Taxes Payable .......... ...ttt 2,141 1,582
Other Current Liabilities . ....... ... .o i, 33,098 28,939
Total Current Liabilities .. ... ..o €43,894 €38,964
Long-Term Debt . . ...t e € 9,860 €13,122
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . . ... ..o i 8,174 9,547
Total Noncurrent Liabilities . ........ ... . ... €18,034 €22,669
Total Liabilities .. ... ..o €61,928 €61,633
Common Stock ..o v it e € 8,823 € 8,335
Retained Earnings .. ... viiin ettt e e 20,453 16,702
Other Shareholders” Equity Items. . . . .. oo i i ittt i i 351 858
Total Shareholders” Equity . .......ccuiinnneinnnnn. €29,627 €25,895
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . .................... €91,555 €87,528

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders” Equity

Fiscal 2007: €91,555 million = €61,928 million + €29,627 million
Fiscal 2006: €87,528 million = €61,633 million + €25,895 million

b. Income statement for year ended September 30, 2007:

SalBS vt e e e e € 72,448
oSt OF SaleS . v v vttt e e e e (51,572)
Research & Development EXpPENSeS . . . oo v vttt e e (3,399)
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses . . ....... ..., (12,103)
Operating Profit . ... ..o e € 5,374
Other (Nonoperating) EXpense . ... ... ..ottt (144)
Earnings Before Income TaxXes . .« v v it ittt e € 5,230
Income Tax EXPeNSe . ...ttt e e (1,192)
Net INCOME .« .ttt e e e e e e e e € 4,038

c. Yes. The change in Retained Earnings is €3,751 million, and Net Income is €4,038 mil-
lion. Based on this information only, Siemens must have paid dividends of €287 million
(= €4,038 — €3,751).

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 1.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Thompson Hardware Store: cash versus accrual basis of accounting)
Calculation of revenues, expenses, and income for January 2008 under the cash and accrual
basis of accounting:

Cash Basis Accrual Basis

Revenues . . ... ... . $22,000 $29,000
Expenses:

Rent .o e $ 2,000 $ 1,000
INSUIANCE & v it e e e e 1,200 100
Costsof Inventory . ...t 10,000 13,000
Utilities « oo e e 400 400
Salanies ... e 650 650
TaXES et e e e e 350 350
Total EXpenses . . .o i ettt e $14,600 $15,500

NetIncome . ........ i i, $ 7,400 $13,500
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Cash basis accounting defines revenues as cash receipts from customers for goods and services.
Accrual accounting defines revenues to include net assets (cash or promises to pay cash) from
customers in exchange for goods and services. Similar distinctions apply to expenses.
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Goals contrasted with strategies

Financing

Shareholders, stockholders

Publicly traded

Dividends

Creditors

Investing activities

Operating activities

Annual report to shareholders

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A)

Fiscal year

Monetary amount

Balance sheet or statement of financial
position

Assets

Liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Retained earnings

Historical amount

Current amount

Income statement or statement of profit
and loss

Net income, earnings, profit

Net loss

Revenues, sales, sales revenue, turnover

Expenses

Statement of cash flows or cash flow
statement

Capital expenditures

Statement of shareholders’ equity

Schedules and notes

Financial reporting process

Managers

Governing board

Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC)

U.S. SEC registrant

Non-U.S. SEC registrant, foreign private
issuer

Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB)

U.S. GAAP (generally accepted
accounting principles)

Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards

Codification project

Conceptual framework

Relevance

Reliability

Comparability

Recognition

Disclosure

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (PCAOB)

International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB)

International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS)

Convergence

Audit opinion

Realization

Materiality

Accounting period convention, reporting
period

Natural business year

Cash basis of accounting

Accrual basis of accounting

Matching convention

QUESTIONS

1. Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed in Key Terms and Concepts.

2. The chapter describes four activities common to all entities: setting goals and strategies,
financing activities, investing activities, and operating activities. How would these four
activities likely differ for a charitable organization versus a business firm?

3. “The photographic analogy for a balance sheet is a snapshot, and for the income state-
ment and the statement of cash flows it is a motion picture.” Explain.

4. What is involved in an audit by an independent external auditor?

5. Who prepares a firm’s financial statements?
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11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

. In what sense can suppliers of raw materials, merchandise, or labor services (employees)

also be sources of financing for firms?

. In what sense are a firm’s accounts receivable a source of financing for that firm’s

customers?

. Investing activities pertain to the acquisition of productive capacity to enable the firm to

carry out its activities. Examples of this capacity include (1) land, buildings, and equip-
ment, and (2) patents and licenses. How are these two kinds of capacity the same, and
how are they different?

. When will a firm’s fiscal year differ from a calendar year?
10.

Financial statements include amounts in units of currency. What is the most common
determinant of the firm’s choice of currency for financial reporting?

Assets and liabilities appear on balance sheets as either current or noncurrent. What is
the difference between a current item and a noncurrent item? Why would users of finan-
cial statements likely be interested in this distinction?

The measurement basis for reporting items on a firm’s balance sheet can be either histor-
ical amounts or current amounts. What is the difference between these two measurement
bases?

How does an income statement connect two successive balance sheets? How does a state-
ment of cash flows connect two successive balance sheets?

What is the role of the following participants in the financial reporting process: the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC); the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB); the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)?

This chapter introduces both U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS). Which of these systems may U.S. firms use, and which may non-U.S. firms
that list and trade their securities in the United States use?

What is the purpose of the conceptual frameworks developed by the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB) and by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB)?

What is the advantage of the accrual basis of accounting, relative to the cash basis of
accounting, for measuring performance?

EXERCISES

18.

19.

Understanding the balance sheet. The balance sheet as of December 31, 2007, of Col-
gate Palmolive Company (Colgate), a U.S. consumer products manufacturer, appears in
Exhibit 1.10. Colgate reports all amounts in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Answer the fol-
lowing questions that pertain to the information in this exhibit.

a. What is Colgate’s largest asset, and what is the asset’s carrying value on the balance
sheet?

b. What is the total amount of Colgate’s noncurrent assets?

c¢. What is Colgate’s largest liability, and what is the liability’s carrying value on the bal-
ance sheet?

d. By how much do Colgate’s current assets differ from its current liabilities?
e. Has Colgate been profitable since its inception? How do you know?
f. What fraction of its assets does Colgate finance with liabilities?

g. Verify that Colgate’s assets equal the sum of liabilities plus shareholders’ equity.

Understanding the income statement. The income statement for the year ended December
31, 2007, for Mayr Melnhof Karton, an Austrian paper and packaging manufacturer,
appears in Exhibit 1.11. Mayr Melnhof reports all amounts in thousands of euros (€).
Answer the following questions that pertain to the information in this exhibit.

a. What is Mayr Melnhof’s largest expense on its income statement, and what is the
amount?

b. What is Mayr Melnhof’s second largest expense on its income statement, and what is
the amount?

Copyright 2010 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved.
May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part.
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Colgate Palmolive Company
EXHIBIT 1.10 Consolidated Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2007
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4287
Receivables (net of allowances of $50.6 and $464, respectively) 1,680.7
Inventories 1,171.0
Other current assets 338.1
Total current assets 3,618.5
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,015.2
Goodwill, net 2,272.0
Other intangible assets, net 844.8
Other assets 361.5
Total assets $10,112.0
I

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Notes and loans payable $ 1559
Current portion of long-term debt 138.1
Accounts payable 1,066.8
Accrued income taxes 262.7
Other accruals 1,539.2
Total current liabilities 3,162.7
Long-term debt 3,221.9
Deferred income taxes 264.1
Other liabilities 1,177.1
Total liabilities 7,825.8

Commitments and contingent liabilities —_

Shareholders” Equity

Preference stock 197.5
Common stock, $1 par value (1,000,000,000 shares authorized,

732,853,180 shares issued) 732.9
Additional paid-in capital 1,517.7
Retained earnings 10,627.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,666.8)

11,408.8

Unearned compensation (218.9)
Treasury stock, at cost (8,903.7)
Total shareholders” equity 2,286.2
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity $10,112.0

~ - ——— —_ - —
—— e —_— e e e — - - — e S =

c¢. What is the ratio of Mayr Melnhof’s gross margin to sales (called the gross margin
percentage)?

d. What amount does Mayr Melnhof report as operating profit for 2007? What amount
does it report as profit before tax? What explains the difference between the two?
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Mayr Melnhof Karton
EXHIBIT 1.11 Consolidated Income Statement

20.

21.

22,

23.

Year ended
(all amounts in thousands of EUR except share and per share data) Notes Dec. 31, 2007
Sales 1,736,959.2
Cost of sales (1,331,292.1)
Gross margin 405,667.1
Other operating income 5 10,746.7
Selling and distribution expenses (172,033.4)
Administrative expenses (74,204.0)
Other operating expenses 6 (758.2)
Operating profit 169,418.2
Financial expenses (9,082.9)
Financial income 14,5341
Share of profit (loss) of associated companies 377.9
Other income (expenses) - net 7 (4,383.4)
Profit before tax 170,863.9
Income tax expense 8 (54,289.9)
Profit for the year 116,574.0

e e B e T e et e s, -

e. What is Mayr Melnhof’s effective tax rate for the year? (The effective tax rate is the
ratio of income tax expense to profit before tax.)

f. Did Mayr Melnhof generate profit for the year, or incur a loss? How much?

Understanding the statement of cash flows. The statement of cash flows for the year ended
March 1, 2008 (fiscal 2007), of Bed, Bath and Beyond, Inc. (BBB), a U.S. home products
retailer, appears in Exhibit 1.12. BBB reports all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars
($). Answer the following questions that pertain to the information in this exhibit.

a. Did BBB generate cash inflows or outflows from operating activities in fiscal 2007,
and in what amount?

b. Did BBB generate cash inflows or outflows from investing activities in fiscal 2007,
and in what amount?

c. Did BBB generate cash inflows or outflows from financing activities in fiscal 2007,
and in what amount?

d. What was BBB’s net cash flow for fiscal 2007?

e. What was the change in the cash balance between the beginning and end of fiscal
2007? What caused this change?

Balance sheet relations. The balance sheet of Alcatel-Lucent, a French communications
firm, for the year ended December 31, 2007, showed current assets of €20,000 million,
current liabilities of €15,849 million, shareholders’ equity of €17,154 million, and non-
current assets of €29,402 million. Alcatel-Lucent reports all amounts in millions of euros
(€). Compute the amount of noncurrent liabilities on Alacatel-Lucent’s balance sheet at
the end of 2007.

Balance sheet relations. The balance sheet of Gold Fields Limited, a South African gold
mining company, for the year ended June 30, 2007, showed current assets of R6,085.1,
noncurrent assets of R49,329.8, noncurrent liabilities of R13,948.4, and current liabilities
of R4,360.1. Gold Fields reports all amounts in millions of South African Rand (R). Com-
pute the amount of shareholders’ equity on Gold Fields’ balance sheet at the end of 2007.

Income statement relations. The income statement of Rolls Royce Group Plc., a UK.
automotive manufacturer, for the year ended December 31, 2007, reported revenues of



Questions, Exercises, and Problems 35

Bed, Bath and Beyond, Inc.
EXHIBIT 1.12 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

March 1,
(in thousands) 2008
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net earnings $ 562,808
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 157,770
Amortization of bond premium 1,538
Stock-based compensation 43,755
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation 2,719
Deferred income taxes 2,315
(Increase) decrease in assets, net of effect of acquisition:
Merchandise inventories (96,673)
Trading investment securities (3,020)
Other current assets (16,217)
Other assets 529
(Decrease) increase in liabilities, net of effect of acquisition:
Accounts payable (31,764)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 15,774
Merchandise credit and gift card liabilities 24,430
Income taxes payable (74,530)
Deferred rent and other liabilities 25,102
Net cash provided by operating activities 614,536
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of held-to-maturity investment securities —
Redemption of held-to-maturity investment securities 494,526
Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities (1,495,155)
Redemption of available-for-sale investment securities 1,546,430
Capital expenditures (358,210)
Payment for acquisition, net of cash acquired (85,893)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 101,698
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 22,672
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 5,990
Repurchase of common stock, including fees (734,193)
Payment of deferred purchase price for acquisition —
Net cash used in financing activities (705,531)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,703
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period 213,381
End of period $ 224,084

L A = .

£7,435 and cost of sales of £6,003. In addition, it reported other operating expenses of
£918, aloss of £2 on the sale of a business, and net financing income of £221. Tax expense
for the year was £133. Rolls Royce reports all amounts in millions of pounds sterling (£).
Compute the amount of net income or loss that Rolls Royce reported for 2007.

24. Income statement relations. The income statement of General Motors Corporation, a
U.S. automotive manufacturer, for the year ended December 31, 2007, reported revenues
of $207,349, cost of sales of $164,682, other operating expenses, including income taxes,
of $50,335, and net financing income, after taxes, of $5,690. General Motors reports all
amounts in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Compute the amount of net income or loss that
General Motors reported for 2007.

25. Retained earnings relations. The balance sheet of Gold Fields Limited (see Problem 1.22),
for the year ended June 30, 2007, showed a balance in retained earnings of R5,872.4 at
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26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

the end of 2007 and R4,640.9 at the end of 2006. Net income for 2007 was R2,362.5 mil-
lion. Gold Fields reports all amounts in millions of South African Rand (R). Compute
the amount of dividends Gold Fields declared during 2007.

Retained earnings relations. The balance sheet of Sterlite Industries, an Indian producer
of copper, showed retained earnings of Rs26,575 at March 31, 2006. At March 31, 2007,
the balance in retained earnings was Rs70,463. Sterlite declared dividends during the
year ended March 31, 2007, of Rs3,544. Sterlite reports all amounts in millions of Indian
Rupees (Rs). Compute Sterlite’s net income for the year ended March 31, 2007 (fiscal
2006).

Cash flow relations. The statement of cash flows for Target Corporation, a U.S. retailer,
for the year ended February 2, 2008 (fiscal 2007), showed a net cash inflow from opera-
tions of $4,125, a net cash outflow for investing of $6,195, and a net cash inflow for
financing of $3,707. The balance sheet at February 3, 2007, showed a balance in cash of
$813. Target reports all amounts in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Compute the amount of
cash on the balance sheet at February 2, 2008.

Cash flow relations. The statement of cash flows for Edenor S.A., a leading electric utility
in Argentina, for the year ended December 31, 2007, showed a net cash inflow from opera-
tions of Ps427,182 and a net cash outflow for financing of Ps21,806. The comparative
balance sheets showed a balance in cash of Ps32,673 at December 31, 2006, and Ps101,198
at December 31, 2007. Edenor reports all amounts in millions of pesos (Ps). Compute the
net amount of cash provided or used by Edenor’s investing activities for 2007.

Preparation of simple balance sheet; current and noncurrent classifications. Kenton Lim-
ited began retail operations on January 1, 2008. On that date it issued 10,000 shares of
common stock for £50,000. On January 31, Kenton used £48,000 of the proceeds to rent
a store, paying in advance for the next two years. Kenton also purchased £12,000 of
merchandise on credit, agreeing to pay the supplier within 30 days. Kenton applies IFRS.
Prepare, in good format, Kenton’s balance sheet as of January 31, 2008.

Preparation of simple balance sheet; current and noncurrent classifications. Heckle Group
began operations as an engineering consulting firm, on June 1, 2008. On that date it
issued 100,000 shares of common stock for €920,000. During June, Heckle used €600,000
of the proceeds to purchase office space and office equipment. It acquired a patent for
€120,000, agreeing to pay the seller within 30 days. On June 30 Heckle signed a bank
loan for €400,000, bearing interest at 8% per year and payable in full on June 30, 2011.
Prepare, in good format, Heckle’s balance sheet as of June 30, 2008.

Accrual versus cash basis of accounting. The following information is based on the finan-
cial statements of Boeing Company for the year ended December 31, 2007. During 2007
Boeing reported revenues of $66,387 million and net expenses (including income taxes)
of $62,313 million. Assume that during 2007, Boeing collected $65,995 in cash from cus-
tomers and had cash outflows associated with payments to suppliers and vendors of
$56,411.

a. Calculate Boeing’s net income for 2007 and its net cash flow for 2007.
b. How can Boeing’s cash collected from customers in 2007 exceed its revenues in 2007?

c¢. How can Boeing’s cash payments to suppliers and vendors be less than its expenses
for 2007?

Accrual versus cash basis of accounting. Consider the following information reported by
Fonterra Cooperative Group Limited for the year ended May 31, 2007; all figures are
in millions of New Zealand dollars ($). Fonterra is the largest dairy cooperative in New
Zealand. Fonterra reported revenues of $13,882, cost of goods sold of $11,671, interest
and other expenses of $2,113, and tax expense of $67. It also reported $13,894 in cash
receipts from customers, $102 in miscellaneous cash receipts, $5,947 in cash payments to
employees and creditors, $6,261 in cash payments for milk, $402 in cash payments for
interest, and $64 in cash payments for taxes. Calculate Fonterra’s net income for 2007
and its net cash flow for 2007.

PROBLEMS

33.

Balance sheet relations. Selected balance sheet amounts for Dragon Group International
Limited, a diversified electronics firm in Singapore, appears next, as of December 31,



34.

35.

36.
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2007, and December 31, 2006. Dragon Group International reports all amounts in mil-
lions of Singapore dollars (§). Compute the missing amounts for the two years.

2007 2006
Total ASSetS &« v v vt e e $199,824 ?
Noncurrent Liabilities .. ... .o vt it e 7,010 ?
NoncUrrent ASSetS & v v v v v ittt e e e e e e ? $ 17,368
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity .................. ... ? ?
Current Liabilities . . . oo oot i e 139,941 126,853
Shareholders” Equity . ... ... ? 53,721
Total Liabilities . ...... . ? ?
CUrrent ASSetS o v v e e 170,879 170,234

Balance sheet relations. Selected balance sheet amounts for Lenovo Group Inc., a Chinese
computer manufacturer, appear next, for the years ended March 31, 2008, and March 31,
2007. Lenovo reports all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars (§). Compute the missing
amounts for the two years.

2008 2007
TOtal ASSEES & v v et e e ? $5,450,838
Current Liabilities . ... ..o $4,488,461 3,527,504
Current Assets . .. vi ittt ? 3,062,449
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity .................... 7,199,847 ?
Noncurrent Liabilities . ....... ... i, 1,098,123 ?
Shareholders” Equity . ... ..ot ? 1,134,276
Noncurrent Assets . . . oo v i vttt e 2,494,481 ?
Total Liabilities. . ... oo ? ?

Income statement relations. Selected income statement information for Colgate Palmolive
Company, a U.S. consumer products manufacturer, appears below for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005. Colgate reports all amounts in millions of U.S. dol-
lars (§). Compute the missing amounts for the three years.

2007 2006 2005
SAlES vt $13,790 ? $11,397
Costof Goods Sold . ... ... vt ? $5,536 5,192
Selling and Administrative Expenses . .................. 4,973 4,355 3,921
Other (Income) EXpense . . ......oeiiinnnnnnneeen... 121 186 69
Interest Expense, net . ...... ... ... . . . i, 157 159 136
Income Tax Expense ... ...t i, 759 648 728
NetIncome . .o v it e e e e e 1,738 1,354 ?

Income statement relations. Selected income statement information for Polo Ralph Lau-
ren, a U.S. clothing manufacturer and distributor, appears next for the years ended
March 31, 2007; April 1, 2006; and April 2, 2005. Polo Ralph Lauren reports all amounts
in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Compute the missing amounts for the three years.

2007 2006 2005
Net Revenues . ... oo v ittt e et et e e $4,295.4 $3,746.3 $3,305.4
Costof Goods Sold .. ... i 1,959.2 1,723.9 1,620.9
Selling and Administrative Expenses . .................. 1,663.4 1,476.9 1,377.6
Other (Income) Expense . ..........ccoiiininiunneeo... 34.0 ? 2.7
Interest (Income) Expense, net ...................... ? (1.2) 6.4
Income Tax Expense ... ... ... ..ot 242.4 194.9 107.4

Net Income . ... i it e e e 400.9 308.0 ?
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37.

38.

39.

Statement of cash flows relations. The following information is based on data reported
in the statement of cash flows for Ericsson, a Swedish telecommunications firm, for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005. Ericsson reports all amounts in millions
of Swedish kronor (SEK).

2007 2006 2005
Inflows of Cash
Proceeds from Borrowings . .............c.iiiia... SEK 15,587  SEK 1,290 SEK 657
Sale of Common Stock . ... ... ... 94 124 174
Revenues, Net of Expenses, from Operations . ............. 19,210 18,489 16,669
Sale of Property and Equipment . ..................... 152 185 362
Sale of Short-Term Investments ...................... 3,499 6,180 6,375
Other Financing Activities . ............. .. ... 406 58 —
Other Investing Activities ................cuunn... — 663 —
Outflows of Cash
Acquisition of Property and Equipment . ................ 4,319 3,827 3,365
Acquisition of Businesses . ........... ... 26,292 18,078 1,210
Repayment of Borrowings . ............ .. ..., 1,291 9,510 2,784
Dividends Paid . . ......c it e 8,132 7,343 4,133
Other Financing Activities . ......... ... .. ..., — — 288
Other Investing Activities . ........ ... ... ..., 573 — 1,131

Prepare a statement of cash flows for Ericsson for the three years using the format in
Exhibit 1.3. Set cash flow from operations equal to revenues, net of expenses, from oper-
ations. The balance in cash at the beginning of 2005 was SEK30,412. Ericsson classifies
changes in short-term investments as investing activities.

Statement of cash flows relations. Selected data from the statement of cash flows for
Jackson Corporation for the years ended October 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 appear as
follows (amounts in millions):

2008 2007 2006
Inflows of Cash
Proceeds from Long-Term Borrowings . . . .o vv v e e vnnnnnn. $ 836 $ 5,096 $ 3,190
Revenues from Operations Increasing Cash . ................ 19,536 19,083 17,233
Issue of Common Stock . ... ..ot 67 37 3
Sale of Property, Plant, and Equipment ................... 332 401 220
Other Investing Transactions . .............cciuuuunnn.. 71 0 268
Total Inflows ... ...t $20,842 $24,617 $20,914
Outflows of Cash
Acquisition of Property, Plant, and Equipment . .............. $ 3,678 $ 3,640 $ 1,881
Expenses for Operations Decreasing Cash . ................. 16,394 18,541 18,344
Repayments of Long-Term Debt . . .. ... ... ... ... ... 766 922 687
Other Investing Activities . ........ .. ..ottt 0 1,501 0
Total OULFlOWS « v o vt e e e e $20,838 $24,604 $20,912

Prepare a statement of cash flows for Jackson Corporation for each of the three years
2008, 2007, and 2006 using the format in Exhibit 1.3. Set cash flow from operations equal
to revenues providing cash minus expenses using cash. The balance in cash at October
31, 2005, was $102 million.

Preparing a balance sheet and income statement. The accounting records of JetAway
Airlines reveal the following for the year ended September 30, 2008 (amounts in
thousands):
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September 30
Balance Sheet Items 2008 2007
Accounts Payable ... ... ... .. $ 157,415 $ 156,755
Accounts Receivable . ... ... . i e 88,799 73,448
Cash & vt e e 378,511 418,819
Common Stock . .o vt e e 352,943 449,934
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt . .......... ... ...... 11,996 7,873
INVENEOMIES o v vttt e e e e e e 50,035 65,152
Long-Term Debt . ... ... .. 623,309 871,717
Other Current Assets . o v v v it ittt et e e e e 56,810 73,586
Other Current Liabilities . ....... ... 681,242 795,838
Other Noncurrent Assets . ..o v ittt it it et et e 4,231 12,942
Other Noncurrent Liabilities ... ... ... . . 844,116 984,142
Property, Plant, and Equipment (net) . .................... 4,137,610 5,008,166
Retained Earnings . ... ...t e 2,044,975 2,385,854

For the Year Ended

Income Statement Items September 30, 2008
FUBL EXPENSE . .ottt e $ 892,415
Interest EXPeNse . ..ottt e e 22,883
Interest INCOME . ..t i it e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 14,918
Maintenance EXpPENSe . . ..ottt t e 767,606
Other Operating EXpenses . .. ...ttt ittt e e e e 1,938,753
SalesS REVENUE . .t ittt et e e e e e 4,735,587
Salaries and Benefits EXpense . . . . ..ottt e 1,455,237

a. Prepare a comparative balance sheet for JetAway Airlines as of September 30, 2008,
and September 30, 2007 in the format used in Exhibit 1.1. Classify each balance sheet
item into one of the following categories: current assets, noncurrent assets, current
liabilities, noncurrent liabilities, and shareholders’ equity.

b. Prepare an income statement for JetAway Airlines for the year ended September 30,
2008. Separate income items into revenues and expenses.

c. Prepare a schedule explaining the change in retained earnings between September 30,
2007, and September 30, 2008.

Cash versus accrual accounting. Jack Block opens a tax and bookkeeping services busi-
ness, Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services, on July 1, 2008. He invests $40,000 for all
the common stock of the business, and the firm borrows $20,000 from the local bank,
promising to repay the loan on December 31, 2008, along with interest at 8% per year, or
approximately $133 per month (=[.08 X $20,000] / 12 months). The firm rents space on
July 1 and pays $6,000 for three months rent in advance, and leases office equipment for
the year, prepaying $12,000 for six months rent. The firm hires an office assistant whom
it will pay $72,000 per year with payments every two months, issuing the first paycheck
on August 31. Finally, the firm pays cash for office supplies during July costing $370; a
physical count at the end of July shows that $280 of office supplies are on hand. During
July, Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services performs services and bills customers for
$44,000. On July 31, 2008, customers had paid $13,000 of the amount owed.

a. What is income for Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services for July, 2008:
(1) Applying cash-basis accounting.
(2) Applying accrual accounting.

b. How much cash on hand does Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services have as of July
31, 2008? Why is the amount of cash on hand not a good representation of the firm’s
performance during July?

Cash versus accrual accounting. Dina Richards opens a high-end stationery store, Statio-

nery Plus, on November 1, 2008. She finances the store by investing $80,000 in cash in

exchange for all the common stock of the firm. She also obtains a bank loan for $100,000,
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which she promises to repay in four equal installments of $25,000 at the end of each of
the next four months, beginning December 31. The interest rate on the loan’s outstand-
ing amount owed is 12% per year (or 1% per month); interest is to be paid along with
each principal repayment. The store rents space, paying $9,000 for six months rent, and
acquires goods costing $40,000. The supplier agrees to allow Stationery Plus to pay half
($20,000) immediately and half on December 15. To attract customers, the firm allows
customers 40 days to pay for their purchases. Stationery Plus’s other monthly costs are
$10,000 in salaries and $480 in utilities and insurance, all paid in cash at the end of every
month. During November total sales to customers were $56,000; Stationary Plus had
collected $23,000 by the end of November; it collected the remainder by December 15.
During December total sales to customers were $62,000; the firm had collected $34,000
by the end of December. So far, no customers have failed to pay the amount owed within
40 days. During December Stationery Plus acquired more merchandise costing $55,000,
paying half immediately and agreeing to pay half in January. During November, Sta-
tionery Plus sold goods for which it had paid $29,000 and during December, Stationery
Plus sold goods for which it had paid $33,600.

a. What is income for Stationery Plus for November 2008:
(1) Applying cash-basis accounting.
(2) Applying accrual accounting.

b. What is income for Stationery Plus for December 2008:
(1) Applying cash-basis accounting.
(2) Applying accrual accounting.

Relations between net income and cash flows. The ABC Company starts the year in fine
shape. The firm makes widgets—just what the customer wants. It makes them for $0.75
each and sells them for $1.00. The ABC Company keeps an inventory equal to shipments
of the past 30 days, pays its bills promptly, and collects cash from customers within 30
days after the sale. The sales manager predicts a steady increase in sales of 500 widgets
each month beginning in February. It looks like a great year, and it begins that way.

January I  Cash, $875; receivables, $1,000; inventory, $750

January In January the firm sells, on account for $1,000, 1,000 widgets costing $750.
Net income for the month is $250. The firm collects receivables outstand-
ing at the beginning of the month. Production equals 1,000 units at a total
cost of $750. The books at the end of January show the following:

February 1 Cash, $1,125; receivables, $1,000; inventory, $750

February  This month’s sales jump, as predicted, to 1,500 units. With a corresponding
step-up in production to maintain the 30-day inventory, ABC Company
makes 2,000 units at a cost of $1,500. It collects all receivables from Janu-
ary sales. Net income so far is $625. Now the books look like this:

March 1 Cash, $625; receivables, $1,500; inventory, $1,125

March March sales are even better, increasing to 2,000 units. Collections are on
time. Production, to adhere to the inventory policy, is 2,500 units. Operat-
ing results for the month show net income of $500. Net income to date is
$1,125. The books show the following:

April 1 Cash, $250; receivables, $2,000; inventory, $1,500

April In April, sales jump another 500 units to 2,500, and the manager of ABC
Company shakes the sales manager’s hand. Customers are paying right on
time. Production increases to 3,000 units, and the month’s business nets
$625 for a net income to date of $1,750. The manager of ABC Company
takes off for Miami before the accountant issues a report. Suddenly a
phone call comes from the treasurer: “Come home! We need cash!”

May 1 Cash, $0; receivables, $2,500; inventory, $1,875

a. Prepare an analysis that explains what happened to ABC Company. (Hint: Compute
the amount of cash receipts and cash disbursements for each month during the period
January 1 to May 1.)

b. How can a firm show increasing net income but a decreasing amount of cash?
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c¢. What insights does this problem provide about the need for all three financial state-
ments—balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows?

d. What actions would you suggest that ABC Company take to deal with its cash flow
problem?

Balance sheet and income statement relations. (Prepared by Professor Wesley T. Andrews
Jr. and reproduced, with adaptation, by permission.)

Once upon a time many, many years ago, a feudal landlord lived in a small province of
central Europe. The landlord, called the Red-Bearded Baron, lived in a castle high on a
hill. This benevolent fellow took responsibility for the well-being of many peasants who
occupied the lands surrounding his castle. Each spring as the snow began to melt, the
Baron would decide how to provide for all his serf dependents during the coming year.

One spring the Baron was thinking about the wheat crop of the coming growing sea-
son. “I believe that 30 acres of my land, being worth five bushels of wheat per acre, will
produce enough wheat for next winter,” he mused, “but who should do the farming? I
believe I'll give Ivan the Indefatigable and Igor the Immutable the task of growing the
wheat.” Whereupon he summoned Ivan and Igor, two gentry noted for their hard work
and not overly active minds, for an audience.

“Ivan, you will farm on the 20-acre plot of ground, and Igor will farm the 10-acre
plot,” the Baron began. “I will give Ivan 20 bushels of wheat for seed and 20 pounds of
fertilizer. (Twenty pounds of fertilizer are worth two bushels of wheat.) Igor will get 10
bushels of wheat for seed and 10 pounds of fertilizer. I will give each of you an ox to
pull a plow, but you will have to make arrangements with Feyador, the Plowmaker, for
two plows. The oxen, incidentally, are only three years old and have never been used for
farming, so they should have a good 10 years of farming ahead of them. Take good care
of them, because an ox is worth 40 bushels of wheat. Come back next fall and return the
oxen and the plows along with your harvest.” Ivan and Igor bowed and withdrew from
the Great Hall, taking with them the things provided by the Baron.

The summer came and went. After the harvest Ivan and Igor returned to the Great
Hall to account to their master for the things given them in the spring. Ivan, pouring 223
bushels of wheat onto the floor, said, “My Lord, I present you with a slightly used ox,
a plow broken beyond repair, and 223 bushels of wheat. I, unfortunately, owe Feyador,
the Plowmaker, three bushels of wheat for the plow I got from him last spring. And, as
you might expect, I used all the fertilizer and seed you gave me last spring. You will also
remember, my Lord, that you took 20 bushels of my harvest for your own personal use.”

Igor, who had been given 10 acres of land, 10 bushels of wheat, and 10 pounds of
fertilizer, spoke next. “Here, my Lord, is a partially used-up ox, the plow for which I
gave Feyador, the Plowmaker, three bushels of wheat from my harvest, and 105 bushels
of wheat. I, too, used all my seed and fertilizer last spring. Also, my Lord, you took 30
bushels of wheat several days ago for your own table. I believe the plow is good for two
more seasons.”

“Knaves, you did well,” said the Red-Bearded Baron. Blessed with this benediction,
the two serfs departed. After the servants had taken their leave, the Red-Bearded Baron,
watching the two hungry oxen slowly eating the wheat piled on the floor, began to con-
template what had happened. “Yes,” he thought, “they did well, but I wonder which one
did better?”

a. What measuring unit should the Red-Bearded Baron use to measure financial posi-
tion and operating performance?

b. Prepare a balance sheet for Ivan and for Igor at both the beginning and the end of the
period.

c. Prepare an income statement for Ivan and for Igor for the period.

d. Prepare a schedule reconciling the change in owner’s equity between the beginning
and the end of the period.

e. Did Ivan or Igor perform better during the period? Explain.
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The Basics of Record Keeping and

Financial Statement Preparation

1. Learn the conventions of recording 2. Understand how the recording of trans- LEARNING
transactions, including the dual nature actions forms the foundation for financial
of transactions, T-accounts, and journal statement preparation. O BJE C EVE S
entries. 3. Understand how the balance sheet and

the income statement articulate.

Businesses engage in transactions with customers, suppliers, employees, governmental
entities, and others. This chapter demonstrates how the accountant records transactions
and then combines transaction records to prepare financial statements. This chapter focuses,
therefore, on bookkeeping and record-keeping procedures, not on accounting principles and
judgments. The latter—accounting principles and judgments—form the core of financial
accounting. The former—bookkeeping—organizes and presents transactions in a standard-
ized manner so that the reader can readily discern the effects of a transaction on the finan-
cial statements from its initial recording. A standardized record-keeping system, which users
understand and accept, facilitates communications.

You need to understand both the recording of transactions and the combining of those
transaction records to form financial statements to develop two skills: (1) your ability to com-
municate the results of transactions to others, and (2) your understanding of how transac-
tions affect the financial statements and how the financial statements reflect the transactions.
We adopt a user perspective throughout this text, which means we focus on how you, as a
user of financial statements, can best understand and analyze financial reports. You will limit
your ability to analyze financial statements if you do not understand how the statements reflect
both the record-keeping process and management’s choices of accounting principles and its pro-
fessional judgments.

Although the rest of this book concerns the accounting principles and professional judg-
ments that form the core of financial reporting, this chapter focuses on the assembly, or
bookkeeping, process without further reference to either accounting principles or judgments.
Therefore, we examine only transactions that require no judgment, so that no ambiguity
arises as to whether and how the procedures recognize and measure the transaction. At this
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point, we do not explain the judgments that the accounting for many business transactions
requires.
This chapter considers four bookkeeping concepts:
1. The dual nature (duality) of transactions and events.

2. The use of T-accounts and journal entries for recording the duality of a transaction or
event.

3. The preparation of a simple balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash
flows.

4. The link, or articulation, between the balance sheet and the income statement.

Because each of these concepts relies on common record-keeping terminology, we begin
with an overview of key terms and their definitions. Subsequent chapters describe the terms
in more detail.

ACCOUNTS

ComMMON TERMINOLOGY

Accounting relies on a system of accounts, with the name or title of each account intended
to capture the nature of the items in the account. An account represents an amount on a
line of a balance sheet or income statement. A common account is Cash. A detailed sys-
tem of accounts allows the preparer of financial statements to decompose, or disaggregate,
each transaction to convey more information about the effects of the transaction than would
result from a system that combined the effects of all transactions in a smaller number of
more inclusive accounts. To take an example, consider that separate information on Cash,
Accounts Receivable, and Inventories conveys more information than a single sum of those
three items in an account for Current Assets. The accounts also group the effects of similar
transactions that occur during the reporting period. For example, if a firm sells one million
copies of a piece of software during a year, little benefit would result from showing in the
financial reports the individual effect of each of the one million transactions. The accounting
process combines, or aggregates, the effects of similar transactions for financial reporting.!
Nowhere do accounting procedures define a list of accounts that management must use,
nor do we know of any exhaustive list of such accounts. Authoritative accounting guidance
sometimes prescribes account names, but most often provides financial statements preparers
with flexibility to choose both the number of accounts that appear on the financial state-
ments and the account names. Those choices result from the complexity and heterogeneity of
the reporting entity’s business, proprietary information considerations,? the sheer amount of
space that a long list of accounts would require, and reporting conventions. With regard to
conventions, selecting nonstandard names for accounts will undermine the communication
benefits from adopting account names that other firms use. Following conventional naming
practices increases the understandability of financial statements to knowledgeable users who
apply their common understanding of the account title. We believe that you will increase your
effectiveness as a user of financial statements if you also follow conventions—by choosing

!Consider a corporation with numerous subsidiaries, each of which maintains one Travel Expense account for
each of 10 departments. Each department manager and the subsidiary controller might review that depart-
ment’s Travel Expense account; the subsidiary president might review total expenses for that department, as
well as other departments. The firm’s income statement would likely include the travel expenses for all depart-
ments in a general account, such as Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Each account would be
assigned an account number that would let internal users summarize expenses in various ways; for example, all
Travel Expenses for a department, for a subsidiary, or for the entire corporation.

2All else equal, a user of financial statements would prefer to have more disaggregated data, since a user can
always aggregate data (but cannot do the reverse). Readers of a firm’s financial statements include, however,
competitors, so accounting guidance provides some amount of flexibility to combine information in ways that
mask competitively sensitive (that is, proprietary) information. Authoritative guidance nevertheless requires
disaggregated information in some instances. For example, both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the disclosure
of segment information, which details resources (assets) and results of operations (income or loss) by segment.
(The Glossary defines both segment and segment reporting.) Users of financial reports value this information
because different segments have different risks and rewards. A multiple-segment firm that did not report on its
segments would not provide as much information about its resources and operations as would an otherwise
similar firm that provided segment reports. Chapter 6 discusses segment reporting.



The Balance Sheet

account titles that are descriptive and unambiguous, by using identical (or similar) account
titles for identical (or similar) items, and as your accounting vocabulary grows, by selecting
titles that others commonly use to describe the item.

The word accounts refers to both balance sheet accounts and income statement accounts.
As we describe later in this chapter, balance sheet accounts are permanent accounts in the sense
that they remain open, with nonzero balances, at the end of the reporting period. In contrast,
income statement accounts are temporary accounts in the sense that they start a period with
a zero balance, accumulate information during the reporting period, and have a zero balance
at the end of the reporting period. As a result, a balance sheet is for a point in time and an
income statement is for a period of time, such as a month, quarter, or year. The closing pro-
cess (discussed later) ensures each income statement account has a zero balance at the end
of the reporting period. The recording of transactions during a period causes amounts in
accounts to increase and decrease. For balance sheet accounts, the total additions during the
period increase the (beginning) balance carried forward from the previous balance sheet date,
and the total subtractions decrease this balance; the result is the new (ending) balance.

Recall from Chapter 1 that one of the principal financial statements is the balance sheet.
The balance sheet shows the assets of a firm and the liabilities and shareholders’ equity that
financed those assets and that therefore have a claim on them at a particular date. The next
section describes several typical balance sheet accounts.

THE BALANCE SHEET

ComMMON TERMINOLOGY

Typical Asset Accounts This section discusses several typical asset accounts, as well
as certain items, such as organization costs and research and development costs, that would
seem to meet the definition of an asset even though authoritative accounting guidance does
not recognize them as accounting assets.

Cash: coins and currency and items such as bank checks and money orders, bank depos-
its against which the firm can draw checks, and time deposits, usually savings accounts and
certificates of deposit. Although money orders are claims against individuals or institutions,
custom calls them cash.

Marketable Securities: government bonds or corporate stocks and bonds that the firm
will hold for a relatively short time. The word marketable implies that the firm can readily buy
and sell them, perhaps through an exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or the
London Stock Exchange.

Accounts Receivable: amounts due from customers from the sale of goods or services on
account. The firm collects cash from the customer sometime after the sale. Accounts Receiv-
able describes the figure representing the total amount of cash owed by (that is, receivable
from) customers. The reporting entity maintains a separate record for each customer and fol-
lows up with customers who have not paid within the agreed-upon period of time.

Notes Receivable: amounts due from customers or from others to whom a firm has made
loans or extended credit. The customer or other borrower puts the claim into writing in a
formal note, which distinguishes the claim from an account receivable.

Interest Receivable: interest, on assets such as promissory notes or bonds, that the bor-
rower owes to the reporting entity because of the passage of time, but that the reporting
entity has not collected as of the date of the balance sheet.

Inventory: goods available for sale, partially completed goods, and materials used in the
manufacture of products. (Outside the United States, common usage refers to inventories
as stocks. Do not confuse the use of stocks to describe inventory with the phrase “common
stock,” which refers to a component of shareholders’ equity.) Inventory includes several
types. Merchandise Inventory reflects goods on hand purchased for resale, such as canned
goods on grocery store shelves or suits on the racks of a clothing store. Raw Materials Inven-
tory includes materials as yet unused for manufacturing products. Work-in-Process Inventory
includes partially completed manufactured products. Finished Goods Inventory is completed
but unsold manufactured products.

Advances to Suppliers: payments the firm has made in advance to a supplier for goods
(such as raw materials) or services (such as for Web advertising that has not yet run) that it
will receive at a later date.
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Prepaid Rent: rent paid in advance for the future use of land, buildings, equipment, and
other resources.

Prepaid Insurance: insurance premiums paid for future coverage.

Investments in Securities: bonds or shares of common or preferred stock that the firm
plans to hold for more than one year.

Land: land used in operations or occupied by buildings used in operations.

Buildings: factory buildings, store buildings, garages, warehouses, and other buildings.

Equipment: lathes, ovens, machine tools, boilers, computers, bins, cranes, conveyors,
automobiles, and so forth.

Furniture and Fixtures: desks, tables, chairs, counters, showcases, scales, and other selling
and office equipment.

Accumulated Depreciation: the cumulative amount of the acquisition cost of long-term
assets (such as buildings and equipment) that the firm has allocated to the costs of produc-
tion or to current and prior period expenses in measuring net income. The amount in this
account is subtracted from the acquisition cost of the long-term asset to which it relates, to
measure the carrying value (sometimes called the book value, or net book value) of the asset
shown on the balance sheet.

Organization Costs: legal and incorporation fees, costs of printing the certificates for
shares of stock, and other costs incurred in organizing a business. Both U.S. GAAP and
IFRS require firms to expense such organization costs in the period the costs are incurred.’
Therefore, although we discuss this account in the context of balance sheet accounts, Organi-
zation Costs would not appear on a balance sheet under current authoritative guidance.

Patents: rights granted for varying numbers of years (depending on the country that
issues the patent) by a government to exclude others from manufacturing, using, or selling
certain processes or devices. The accounting treatment of a cost to acquire a patent depends
on whether the firm applies U.S. GAAP or IFRS. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require that
the firm recognize as an asset the cost to purchase a patent from an external third party.
Under U.S. GAAP, firms expense, in the period incurred, the research and development costs
incurred to develop a patentable process or device. IFRS requires firms to expense research
costs as incurred but, under some circumstances, to recognize development costs as an asset.
Chapter 9 discusses the treatment of internally developed and externally purchased patents
in more detail.

Goodwill: When one firm acquires another firm, it measures the individual identifi-
able assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their current fair values. If the purchase price
exceeds the sum of the fair values of the identifiable assets less the identifiable liabilities, the
excess is goodwill, an accounting asset that includes intangibles that the acquiring firm can-
not separately identify, for example, customer loyalty. These desirable attributes cause the
amount paid for the acquired firm to exceed the sum of the fair values of all the other assets,
less liabilities, identified in the acquisition. Chapter 3 describes fair values in detail.

Typical Liability Accounts This section describes typical liability accounts.

Accounts Payable: amounts owed for goods or services acquired under an informal credit
agreement. The firm typically pays these liabilities within one or two months after the balance
sheet date. (The same items appear as Accounts Receivable on the creditor’s balance sheet.)

Notes Payable: the face amount of promissory notes given in connection with loans from
a bank or with the purchase of goods or services. (The same items appear as Notes Receiv-
able on the creditor’s [lender’s] balance sheet.) Most Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable,
Notes Payable, and Notes Receivable are current items, due within a year of the balance sheet
date. Similar items due more than one year after the balance sheet date could have the same
account titles, but would appear in the noncurrent assets or noncurrent liabilities sections of
the balance sheet.

Interest Payable: interest on obligations that has accrued or accumulated with the passage
of time but that the firm has not yet paid as of the balance sheet. (The same item appears as
Interest Receivable on the creditor’s balance sheet.)

3The U.S. GAAP guidance is in American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Statement of Position 98-
5, “Reporting the Cost of Start-up Activities,” 1998. International Accounting Standard 38, “Intangible Assets,”
1998, applies to start-up activities. The criteria for recognizing internally developed intangible assets are such
that firms treat start-up costs the same as expenditures on internally developed goodwill; they are expensed as
incurred.
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Income Taxes Payable: the estimated liability for income taxes, accumulated and unpaid,
based on the taxable income of the business.

Advances from Customers: the general name used to indicate the obligation incurred
when a firm receives payments in advance for goods or services it will furnish to customers in
the future. This is a nonmonetary liability, because the firm has an obligation to deliver goods
or services, not to return the cash. Even so, the firm records this liability as the amount of
cash received. There is no standardized terminology for this account. Chapter 7 discusses this
account in more detail.

Advances from Tenants, or Rent Received in Advance: another example of a nonmonetary
liability that is an advance from a customer. For example, a tenant may prepay for its rented
office space for several months in advance. The owner of the office space cannot include the
amount applicable to future months in income until it provides rental services as time passes.
Meanwhile the advance payment results in a liability payable in services—the use of the build-
ing. (On the balance sheet of the tenant, the same amount appears as an asset, Advances to
Landlord or Prepaid Rent.*)

Mortgage Payable: a form of long-term promissory note, or loan, where the borrower
has pledged specific pieces of property as security for payment. If the borrower does not pay
the loan or interest according to the agreement, the lender can require the sale of the property
to generate cash to repay the loan.

Bonds Payable: a form of long-term loan. The borrower has signed a formal written con-
tract called an indenture. The borrower usually raises the funds from a number of lenders,
each of whom receives written evidence of its share of the loan.

Deferred Income Taxes: income tax amounts that are delayed beyond the current
accounting period. Chapter 11 discusses this item, which appears on the balance sheets of
most corporations.

Typical Shareholders’ Equity Accounts This section describes typical sharehold-
ers’ equity accounts.

Common Stock (at par): the amount of cash or other assets received equal to the par or
stated value of a firm’s principal class of voting stock.

Additional Paid-In Capital: the amount of cash or other assets received in the issuance of
common or preferred stock in excess of par value or stated value. Some firms use the alterna-
tive title, Capital Contributed in Excess of Par (or Stated) Value. Accountants and analysts
often refer to the sum of the amounts in this account and the common stock at par account
as contributed capital, because the sum of these two items represents the cash and other assets
directly provided by shareholders to a firm.

Preferred Stock: the amount of cash or other assets received for shares of a class of a
firm’s stock that has some preference relative to common stock. Common forms of prefer-
ence include a higher dividend or a higher priority in terms of asset distribution in the event
the firm liquidates.

Retained Earnings: net assets (defined as all assets minus all liabilities) increase as a firm
generates earnings in excess of cash (or other assets) distributed as dividends. Retained Earn-
ings is the balance sheet account that accumulates amounts that measure the net assets a firm
generates from undistributed earnings of the business.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income: an account that accumulates changes in net
assets that are not included in net income. An example is the remeasurement of certain finan-
cial assets. Chapters 4 and 14 discuss this account further.

A TypicAL BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheet groups individual accounts by type (asset, liability, or shareholders’ equity)
and lists these accounts with their balances as of the balance sheet date. The date of the bal-
ance sheet appears at the top of the balance sheet. The asset and liability categories further
group individual accounts by the expected timing of cash receipts (for assets) or cash pay-
ments (for liabilities). Common terminology describes items whose cash receipts or payments
the firm expects will occur within one year as current assets or current liabilities, respectively.

“Prepaid Rent is the more commonly used account title. This title is confusing, however, because the user of the
financial statements cannot tell, without context, whether this account is the asset of the tenant or the liability
of the landlord.
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If the firm expects to collect or pay more than one year after the balance sheet date, the bal-
ance sheet classifies these as noncurrent assets and noncurrent liabilities, respectively. Chapter
3 describes the balance sheet classifications in more detail.

The balance sheet begins with a list of assets and then lists liabilities and shareholders’
equity. Exhibit 2.1 shows the balance sheet for Colgate Palmolive Company (“Colgate”) for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007. Colgate is a leading consumer products company
that operates in two principal segments: (1) oral, personal, and home care (including prod-
ucts such as toothpaste, soaps, and shampoo), and (2) pet nutrition.

Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms to report balance sheet accounts for the prior
year in addition to the current year. Colgate reports the results for the prior year in the right-
most column (the column labeled 2006), and the results for the current year in the column to

Colgate Palmolive Company
Balance Sheet

EXHIBIT 2.1

As of December 31, 2007 2006
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 428.7 $ 4895
Receivables (net of allowances of $50.6 and $464, respectively) 1,680.7 1,523.2
Inventories 1,171.0 1,008.4
Other current assets 338.1 279.9
Total current assets 3,618.5 3,301.0
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,015.2 2,696.1
Goodwill, net 2,272.0 2,081.8
Other intangible assets, net 844.8 831.1
Other assets 361.5 228.0
Total assets $10,112.0 $9,138.0

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Notes and loans payable $ 155.9 S 1741
Current portion of long-term debt 138.1 776.7
Accounts payable 1,066.8 1,039.7
Accrued income taxes 262.7 161.5
Other accruals 1,539.2 1,317.1
Total current liabilities 3,162.7 3,469.1
Long-term debt 3,221.9 2,720.4
Deferred income taxes 264.1 309.9
Other liabilities 1,177.1 1,227.7
Total liabilities 7,825.8 7,727.1

Commitments and contingent liabilities —_ —

Shareholders’ Equity

Preference stock 197.5 222.7
Common stock, $1 par value (1,000,000,000 shares authorized,

732,853,180 shares issued) 732.9 732.9
Additional paid-in capital 1,517.7 1,218.1
Retained earnings 10,627.5 9.643.7
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,666.8) (2,081.2)

11,408.8 9,736.2

Unearned compensation (218.9) (251.4)
Treasury stock, at cost (8,903.7) (8,073.9)
Total shareholders’ equity 2,286.2 1,410.9
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity $10,112.0 $9,138.0

- e e - — —
— ——— — e e e e e e
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the left of this one (the column labeled 2007).°> The lists of asset, liability, and shareholders’
equity accounts include many of the accounts described earlier, as well as a few (such as trea-
sury stock) described in later chapters. Under U.S. GAAP, assets and liabilities appear in order
of decreasing closeness-to-cash; many firms that report under IFRS reverse this ordering.

DuaL EFrecTs oF TRANSACTIONS

Firms engage in transactions, or exchanges, with other entities and individuals during a
period. For example, firms acquire merchandise from suppliers, pay employees for labor ser-
vices, sell merchandise to customers, pay taxes to governments, and so on. In addition, other
events not involving exchanges occur during the period. For example, firms consume the ser-
vices of buildings and equipment as they use them in operations and, as time passes, incur
an obligation to pay interest on outstanding loans. Accountants record the effects of each of
these transactions and events as they occur, and then accumulate the effects of all transac-
tions and events for presentation in the financial statements. Thus,

Individual Accounting System for Principal
Transactions —-  Accumulating Information — e Financial
and Events About Transactions and Events Statements

The balance sheet equation provides the analytical framework that we use throughout this
book to understand the effects of transactions and events on the financial statements. As
this and subsequent chapters illustrate, the balance sheet equation underlies the recording
of transactions and events. It captures the financial statement effects of operating, investing,
and financing transactions—three key activities of business firms. We apply the analytical
framework provided by the balance sheet to successively more complex transactions in later
chapters.

The balance sheet equation shows the equality of assets with liabilities plus shareholders’
equity:

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

This equation requires that an entity’s assets exactly balance, or offset, an equal amount
of financing provided by creditors and owners of the corporation. Total liabilities plus share-
holders’ equity shows the sources of all the firm’s financing, and the assets show how the
firm holds or has invested those funds. The balance sheet equation maintains this equality by
reporting the financial statement effects of each event and transaction in a dual manner, or

what we term the dual effects of transactions. Any single event or transaction will have one of
the following four effects or some combination of these effects:

1. It increases an asset and increases either a liability or shareholders’ equity.

2. It decreases an asset and decreases either a liability or shareholders’ equity.

3. It increases one asset and decreases another asset.

4. Tt increases one liability or shareholders’ equity and decreases another liability or share-
holders’ equity.

To understand the dual effects of various transactions on the balance sheet equation, con-
sider the following transactions for Miller Corporation (Miller) during January as it prepares
to open for business on February 1:

(1) On January 1, Miller issues 10,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $100,000
cash.

(2) On January 5, Miller pays $12,000 cash to rent equipment for one year. In this transac-
tion, Miller’s asset is prepaid rent, not the equipment itself.

(3) On January 15, Miller purchases merchandise inventory costing $15,000 from a supplier,
agreeing to pay later.
(4) On January 21, it pays the supplier in (3) $8,000 of the amount due.

SFirms do not use the same ordering for showing the current year’s results and the prior year’s results. Some
firms order the columns oldest to most recent, while others order most recent to oldest. You must read the
column headings to identify the column.
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Miller Corporation

D'ECI:IE PN lllustration of Dual Effects of Transactions on

Balance Sheet Equation

Shareholders’
Transaction Assets = Liabilities + Equity
(1) On January 1, Miller Corporation issues 10,000 shares
of $10 par value common stock for $100,000 cash
(an increase in an asset and shareholders’ equity). +$100,000 $ 0 +$100,000
Subtotal . ..... ... .. $100,000 = $ 0 + $100,000
(2)  OnJanuary 5, the firm pays $12,000 cash to rent some
equipment (an increase in one asset and a decrease in + 12,000
another asset). — 12,000
Subtotal . ...... .. ... $100,000 = $ 0 + $100,000
(3)  OnJanuary 15, the firm purchases merchandise
inventory costing $15,000 from a supplier on
account (an increase in an asset and a liability). + 15,000 + 15,000
Subtotal . ...... ... $115,000 = $15,000 + $100,000
(4)  OnJanuary 21, the firm pays the supplier in (3)
$8,000 of the amount due (a decrease in an asset
and a liability). — 8,000 — 8,000
Subtotal . ..... ... .. $107,000 = $ 7,000 + $100,000
(5)  On January 25, the supplier in (3) accepts 700 shares
of Miller common stock in settlement of the $7,000
still owed (an increase in shareholders’ equity and a
decrease in a liability). — 7,000 + 7,000
Subtotal ........ .. ... $107,000 = $ 0 + $107,000
(6) OnJanuary 31, the firm pays $600 cash for a one-year
insurance premium for coverage beginning February 1 (an 4 600
increase in one asset and a decrease in another asset). = 600
Subtotal ........ .. ... $107,000 = $ 0 + $107,000
(7)  OnJanuary 31, the firm receives $3,000 from a
customer for merchandise Miller will deliver during
February (an increase in an asset and a liability). + 3,000 + 3,000
Subtotal—January 31 . ... ... ... $110,000 = $ 3,000 e $107,000
(8)  On January 31, the firm purchases a building for $40,000,
financed by a note payable with a local bank (an increase
in an asset and a liability). + 40,000 + 40,000
Total—Jdanuary 31 . ...t $150,000 = $43,000 e $107,000

(5) On January 25, the supplier in (3) accepts 700 shares of Miller common stock at par
value in settlement of the $7,000 amount still owed.

(6) On January 31, Miller pays $600 cash for a one-year insurance premium for coverage
beginning February 1.

(7) On January 31, Miller receives $3,000 from a customer for merchandise Miller will deliver
during February.

(8) On January 31, Miller purchases a building for $40,000 and finances this purchase by
signing a note payable with a local bank. Miller promises to repay the note in full in three
years and to pay interest at 10% per year.

Exhibit 2.2 illustrates the dual effects of these transactions on the balance sheet equation.
Note that after each transaction, assets equal liabilities plus shareholders’ equity.

Each transaction has two effects.® For example, in transaction (1) Miller issues common
stock to shareholders and receives cash. In transaction (2) Miller makes a cash expenditure
and receives the right to use equipment. In transaction (3) Miller promises to make a future
cash payment to a supplier and receives merchandise inventory. These and other transac-

®In general, each transaction will have at least two effects. All the transactions illustrated here have only two.
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tions recorded in the accounting system result from exchanges. The accounting records reflect
effects on assets, liabilities, and shareholders equity arising from these exchanges.

The recording of each transaction maintains the balance sheet equality. Transactions (1),
(3), (7), and (8) increase assets and increase either a liability or shareholders’ equity. Transac-
tion (4) decreases assets and a liability. Transactions (2) and (6) increase one asset and decrease
another asset. Transaction (5) increases shareholders’ equity and decreases a liability.

PROBLEM 2.1 for Self-Study

Dual effects of transactions on balance sheet equation. Using the format in Exhibit 2.2,
indicate the effects of each of the following transactions of Gaines Corporation on the
balance sheet equation.

1. The firm issues 20,000 shares of £10 par value common stock for £12 cash per
share.
2. The firm issues £100,000 principal amount of bonds for £100,000 cash.

3. The firm acquires, with £220,000 in cash, land costing £40,000 and a building cost-
ing £180,000.

4. The firm acquires, on account, equipment costing £25,000 and merchandise inven-
tory costing £12,000. (“On account” means that the firm agrees to pay later for the
equipment and inventory.)

5. The firm signs an agreement to rent equipment from its owner and pays £1,500
rental in advance.

6. The firm pays £28,000 to the suppliers in 4.

T-AcCCcOuUNTS

Although Exhibit 2.2 illustrates the dual effects of individual transactions, it does not provide
a framework for preparing a balance sheet. Specifically, the exhibit does not describe how
much of the total assets of $150,000 represents cash, how much represents inventory, how
much represents equipment, and so on. A disaggregated display of balance sheet items would
provide users of financial statements with information about the sources of a firm’s financing
and how management has invested the cash and other assets received from shareholders and
creditors in specific assets. For example, Exhibit 2.1 shows that as of December 31, 2007, Col-
gate has invested over $1 billion in inventories. To move to a disaggregated reporting format,
we introduce the use of T-accounts for accumulating information about how transactions
and events during a period affect specific asset, liability, and shareholders’ equity accounts.

A T-account is a device or convention for organizing and accumulating the accounting
entries of transactions that affect an individual account, such as cash, accounts receivable,
bonds payable, or additional paid-in capital. As the name implies, the T-account looks like
the letter T, with a horizontal line bisected by a vertical line. Conventionally, the name of the
specific individual account title appears on the horizontal line.

Account Title

Increases and Decreases to the T-Account One side of the space formed by the
vertical line records increases in the account, and the other side records decreases. Which
side records increases and which side records decreases differs depending on whether the
T-account represents an asset account or represents a liability or shareholders’ equity account.
Long-standing custom follows three rules:

1. Increases in assets appear on the left side, and decreases in assets appear on the right side
of T-accounts.

2. Increases in liabilities appear on the right side, and decreases in liabilities appear on the
left side of T-accounts.

3. Increases in shareholders’ equity appear on the right side, and decreases in shareholders’
equity appear on the left side of T-accounts.
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This custom reflects the fact that in the balance sheet equation, assets appear to the left
of the equal sign, while liabilities and shareholders’ equity appear to the right. Following this
format, asset balances appear on the left side of T-accounts; liability and shareholders’ equity
balances appear on the right. Asset balances will appear on the left only if the left side of the
accounts records increases in the asset.” Similarly, liability and shareholders’ equity balances
appear on the right only if accounting records liability and shareholders’ equity increases on
the right side of accounts.

The net amount or balance in an account results from summing the amounts recorded on
the left side and right side of the account and netting the two sums. As we noted previously,
the net amount, or balance, in an asset account typically appears as an amount on the left
side, whereas liability and shareholders’ equity accounts typically have net right side balances.
The balance in an account at the end of one reporting period is that account’s opening bal-
ance at the start of the next reporting period. By convention, the first line in the T-account
reports the beginning or opening balance, and the last line reports the ending or closing bal-
ance. Thus, the following equation describes a typical asset account with a left side balance:

Beginning Balance in Asset Account (left side)

+

Sum of the transactions affecting the left side of the Asset Account
— Sum of the transactions affecting the right side of the Asset Account

Ending Balance in Asset Account (left side)
For a typical liability or equity account, the T-account equation is:

Beginning Balance in Liability or Shareholders” Equity Account (right side)

+

Sum of the transactions affecting the right side of the Liability or Shareholders’ Equity Account
— Sum of the transactions affecting the left side of the Liability or Shareholders’ Equity Account

Ending Balance in Liability or Shareholders” Equity Account (right side)

Proper analysis and recording of the dual effects of a transaction results in recording
equal amounts on the left-hand side and the right-hand side of the various accounts; this
result is consistent with the balance sheet equation described earlier. The equality of the
amounts recorded on the left and right for any transaction provides a powerful check for the
accuracy of record keeping. If you analyze a transaction and get unequal amounts for left and
right amounts, you will know you have erred.

Debit and Credit Accountants use two abbreviations: debit (Dr.) and credit (Cr.). Debit,
used as a verb, means “record an entry on the left side of an account” and, used as a noun or
an adjective, means “an entry on the left side of an account.” Credit, used as a verb, means
“record an entry on the right side of an account” and, used as a noun or an adjective, means
“an entry on the right side of an account.” Combining these terms with the three rules for T-
accounts, we see the following:

B A debit indicates (1) an increase in an asset, (2) a decrease in a liability, or (3) a decrease
in a shareholders’ equity item.

B A credit indicates (1) a decrease in an asset, (2) an increase in a liability, or (3) an increase
in a shareholders’ equity item.

Maintaining the equality of the balance sheet equation requires that the amounts debited
to various accounts for each transaction equal the amounts credited to various accounts. As
a result, the sum of balances in accounts with debit balances at the end of each period must
equal the sum of balances in accounts with credit balances. Debits equal credits: this applies
to each individual transaction and to the balance sheet as a whole.

Summary of Account Terminology and Procedure The following T-accounts
summarize the conventional use of the account form and the terms debit and credit.

7As we describe in a subsequent section of this chapter, some accounts that appear in the asset section of the
balance sheet accumulate subtractions from the asset, so they act like a liability or shareholders’ equity account
in that increases in the account appear on the right side, not the left side. We refer to these accounts, which
accumulate subtractions from another account, as contra-asset accounts. A contra-asset account appears on
the asset side of the balance sheet as a subtraction from an asset, not among the liability or shareholders’
equity accounts. Contra-liability and contra-equity accounts also exist; in subsequent chapters, we discuss each
of these accounts as they arise.
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Any Asset Account Any Asset Liability Any Shareholders’ Equity Account
Beginning Beginning Beginning
Balance Balance Balance
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases Decreases Increases
+ - - + - +
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Ending Balance Ending Balance Ending Balance

RerFLEcTING THE DuaL EFFecTs OF TRANSACTIONS IN T-ACCOUNTS

To show how the dual effects of transactions change the T-accounts, Exhibit 2.3 records the
transactions of Miller Corporation for January using separate T-accounts for each balance
sheet item. The numbers in parentheses refer to the eight January transactions. The data in
Exhibit 2.3 show that Miller Corporation’s total assets of $150,000 as of January 31 consist
of $82,400 in cash, $15,000 in merchandise inventory, $600 in prepaid insurance (advances fo
the insurance provider), $12,000 in prepaid rent, and $40,000 in building. Total liabilities plus
shareholders’ equity of $150,000 consists of $3,000 of advances from customers, $40,000 in
notes payable, and $107,000 of common stock.

Miller Corporation
SRSLLLLLIEEER  |dividual T-Accounts Showing Transactions

Cash (Asset) Accounts Payable (Liability)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(1) 100,000 12,000 (2) (4) 8,000 15,000 (3)
600 (6) 0 Balance
Balance 82,400
Merchandise Inventory (Asset) Advances from Customer (Liability)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)

(3) 15,000 3,000 Q)
Balance 15,000 3,000 Balance
Prepaid Insurance (Asset) Note Payable (Liability)

Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
Belbinee 600 40,000 Balance
Prepaid Rent (Asset) Common Stock (Shareholders’ Equity)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(2) 12,000 e 1
Balance 12,000 7,000 (5)
107,000 Balance
Buildings (Asset) Retained Earnings (Shareholders’ Equity)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(8) 40,000 0 Balance
Balance 40,000
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Miller Corporation
D'CIIEV W Balance Sheet

January 31

ASSETS
Current Assets
(00 $ 82,400
Merchandise InVENtory . ...ttt e 15,000
Prepaid INSUMANCE . & v v v vttt et e e e e e e e e e e e 600
Prepaid ReNt . . .ttt e e 12,000

Total CUMENt ASSEES .« . v v vt e e e e e e e et e e e e e e $110,000

Property, Plant, and Equipment
BUILAINGS « v v ettt e $ 40,000
TOtAl ASSEES « o o v v e et et e e e e e e e e e $150,000

LTABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Advances from CUSTOMEr . . . ..ottt e e e $ 3,000

Noncurrent Liabilities
Note Payable . . . .o oo 40,000
Total Liabilities . .o oottt e e e e $ 43,000

Shareholders’ Equity

ComMON SEOCK « . v v vt e ettt e e e e $107,000
Retained Earmings. . . . ..ottt e —
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . ......... ..., $150,000

One can prepare the balance sheet using the amounts shown as balances in the T-accounts.
The balance sheet of Miller Corporation after the eight transactions of January appears in
Exhibit 2.4.

PROBLEM 2.2 for Self-Study

T-accounts for various transactions. Set up T-accounts for the following accounts:

Cash Bonds Payable
Merchandise Inventory Land

Prepaid Rent Buildings

Equipment Common Stock—Par Value
Accounts Payable Additional Paid-In Capital

Indicate whether each account is an asset, a liability, or a shareholders’ equity item.
Enter in the T-accounts the transactions of Gaines Corporation in Problem 2.1 for
Self-Study.

JOURNAL ENTRIES
The preceding section illustrated the use of T-accounts to

1. Record the effects of transactions on individual balance sheet accounts, and

2. Sum the effects of all transactions affecting a particular account during a period, obtain
an ending balance in that account, and then prepare a balance sheet.




The Balance Sheet

T-accounts are a useful pedagogical device to understand how individual transactions
flow to and accumulate within various accounts, and they provide the needed information
for a balance sheet. However, if the resulting balance sheet does not balance, then it becomes
necessary to retrace the recording of every transaction to find the error. Tracking down the
error using T-accounts can be awkward and time consuming because the effects of each trans-
action spread across two or more T-accounts.

To address this problem, we introduce a step that precedes the recording of individual
transactions in T-accounts: the preparation of a journal entry. A journal entry uses a stan-
dardized format to indicate the accounts and amounts affected by each transaction. Assum-
ing that the journal entry reflects equal debits and credits to various accounts, the accountant
would then transfer the amounts from the journal entry to the appropriate T-accounts.
Assuming proper recording in the T-accounts and summing of all entries in the T-accounts,
the resulting balance sheet should be in balance. Journal entries simply formalize the reason-
ing that supports entering the results of transactions directly in the T-accounts.

We sometimes use T-accounts, sometimes use journal entries, and sometimes use both to
illustrate the effects of transactions in this book. They are both pedagogical devices to assist
your understanding of the effects of transactions.®

The standard format of a journal entry is:

Account Title . ..o ittt e Amount

AccountTitle . ... .. . Amount

The journal entry indicates the dual effects of a transaction on both the accounts and the
balances in accounts. By convention, the first line of the journal entry is the debit line, and
the second (indented) line of the journal entry is the credit line. Thus,

Account Debited . ........ .. .. . ... Amount Debited

Account Credited .. ........ ... .. Amount Credited

Sometimes you will see the following additional (and redundant) notation for debits and
credits added to the journal entry:

Dr. Account Debited . ......... ... . . .. ... Amount Debited

Cr.  AccountCredited ............ ... ....... Amount Credited

The recording of journal entries follows the same rules for increases and decreases in asset,
liability, and shareholders’ equity accounts as illustrated earlier for entries in T-accounts:

1. Debits increase an asset account, or decrease a liability or shareholders’ equity account.
2. Credits decrease an asset account, or increase a liability or shareholders’ equity account.

Journal entries may have multiple debit lines or multiple credit lines, or both. The dual
effects rule requires that the sum of the amounts debited equal the sum of the amounts cred-
ited so that the journal entry balances. Ensuring that all individual journal entries balance
simultaneously guarantees that all debit balances equal all credit balances in the T-accounts
and that total assets equal the sum of total liabilities plus total shareholders’ equity, as the
balance sheet equation requires.

Journal entries generally include the date of the transaction and an explanation for the
transaction(s) journalized; often they include an identifying number, as well. In this book we
show you how journal entries affect the balance sheet equation. This equation is not part of

8Firms initially record individual transactions in journal entries in a general journal and then periodically post
the journal entries to particular accounts in the general ledger. The use of T-accounts, which we use for peda-
gogical purposes, mimics the use of posting to the general ledger.
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the journal entries made in the accounting records, but we find it helps students to under-
stand the transaction better.” Thus, the standard format for journal entries in this book is:

(#) Date
Account Debited . ..... ... .. e Amount
Account Credited . ... ..o i it e Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

Journal entry explanation.

We use the column labeled (Class.) to indicate the classification of the particular share-
holders’ equity account that the transaction affects.
The journal entries for the eight transactions of Miller Corporation appear next.

(1) January 1

{71 £ 100,000
Common Stock. . . v vt e 100,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+100,000 +100,000 ContriCap

Issue 10,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for cash. The issuance
of common stock increases the contributed capital portion of shareholders’
equity, specifically, common stock.

(2) January 5

Prepaid Rent . ..o vt e e e 12,000
Cash. .o e 12,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+12,000
—12,000
Pay annual rent of $12,000 for use of equipment.
(3) January 15
Merchandise Inventory . ... ..ottt e 15,000
Accounts Payable . . .. ... L 15,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

+15,000 +15,000

Purchase merchandise inventory costing $15,000 on account.

9Another approach that is sometimes used, for pedagogical purposes, is to include abbreviations for assets (A),
liabilities (L) and shareholders’ equity (SE) to describe the type of account affected by each portion of the
journal entry. For example, the acquisition of equipment in exchange for a promise to pay the equipment sup-
plier in the future would be journalized (recorded) as follows:

Equipment (A) . o oottt e Amount Debited

Notes Payable (L) . ... oot Amount Credited
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(4) January 21

Accounts Payable . . . ..o o e 8,000
Cash. ot e e 8,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—8,000 —8,000

Pay liabilities of $8,000 with cash.

(5) January 25

Accounts Payable . . . ... o 7,000
Common Stock. . . v vt e 7,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—7,000 +7,000 ContriCap

Issue 700 shares of $10 par value common stock in settlement of $7,000
accounts payable.

(6) January 31

Prepaid Insurance (or Advances to Insurance Company) . .............. 600
Cash. . e 600
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+600
—600

Pay one-year insurance premium of $600 in advance.

(7) January 31

Cash . v e e e e 3,000
Advances from CUStOMErS. . . v v vttt it it e et et et et e 3,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+3,000 +3,000

Receive $3,000 from customer for merchandise to be delivered in February.

(8) January 31

BUildings . ..o vt 40,000
Note Payable . . ... ..o i 40,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+40,000 +40,000

Purchase building costing $40,000, financed by note payable from local
bank.

PROBLEM 2.3 for Self-Study

Journal entries for various transactions. Prepare journal entries for each of the six trans-
actions of Gaines Corporation in Problem 2.1 for Self-Study.
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PROBLEM 2.4 for Self-Study

Journal entries, T-accounts, and balance sheet preparation. Electronics Appliance Cor-
poration begins operations on September 1 and engages in the following transactions
during September:

(1) September 1: Issues 4,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $12 cash per
share.

(2) September 2: Gives 600 shares of $10 par value common stock to acquire a patent
from another firm. The two entities agree on a price of $7,200 for the patent.

(3) September 5: Pays $10,000 as two months’ rent in advance on a factory building
that it leases for the three years beginning October 1. Monthly rental payments are
$5,000.

(4) September 12: Purchases raw materials on account for $6,100.

(5) September 15: Receives a check for $900 from a customer as a deposit on a special
order for equipment that Electronics plans to manufacture. The contract price is
$4,800.

(6) September 20: Acquires office equipment with a list price of $950. After deducting
a discount of $25 for prompt payment, it issues a check in full payment.

(7) September 28: Issues a cash advance totaling $200 to three new employees who will
begin work on October 1.

(8) September 30: Purchases factory equipment costing $27,500. It issues a check for
$5,000 and assumes a long-term note payable for the balance.

(9) September 30: Pays $450 for the labor costs of installing the new equipment in (8).

a. Prepare journal entries for each of the nine transactions.

b. Set up T-accounts and enter each of the nine transactions. Note that all account
balances are zero at the beginning of September.

c. Prepare a balance sheet for Electronics Appliance Corporation as of Sep-
tember 30.

THE INCOME STATEMENT

ComMMON TERMINOLOGY

The preceding sections described the application of three bookkeeping conventions (dual
effects of transactions, T-accounts, and journal entries) to transactions affecting the balance
sheet, and emphasized the usefulness of the balance sheet equation. We now consider trans-
actions that affect the income statement, a second principal financial statement that firms
prepare to report on their business activities. We begin by describing some account titles used
in income statements to provide a sense of typical names (sometimes called “rows” or “line
items”) used in published income statements.

Revenues or Sales: assets received (for example, cash) in exchange for goods sold and ser-
vices rendered. Outside the U.S., sales or revenues are sometimes called rurnover.

Cost of Goods Sold: the cost of products sold. Cost of services is a similar concept and
refers to the cost of services sold.

Selling, General and Administrative (SG&A): costs incurred to sell products and services
(such as salaries of the sales force) as well as costs of administration (such as the salaries of top
executives, and rent and insurance on corporate headquarters buildings and furnishings).

Research and Development (R&D) Expense: costs incurred to create and develop new
products, processes, and services.

Advertising Expense: costs incurred with the goal of increasing sales by attracting more
customers or inducing existing customers to increase their purchases. No rule requires that
the income statement separately show these items, which can be part of SG&A.

Interest Expense: the cost of using borrowed funds.
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Colgate Palmolive Company

EXHIBIT 2.5
Income Statement
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For the years ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Net sales $13,789.7 $12,237.7 $11,396.9
Cost of sales 6,042.3 5,536.1 5191.9

Gross profit 7,747.4 6,701.6 6,205.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 4,973.0 4,355.2 3,920.8
Other (income) expense, net 121.3 185.9 69.2

Operating profit 2,653.1 2,160.5 2,215.0
Interest expense, net 156.6 158.7 136.0

Income before income taxes 2,496.5 2,001.8 2,079.0
Provision for income taxes 759.1 648.4 727.6

Net income $ 1,737.4 $ 1,353.4 $ 1,351.4
Earnings per common share, basic $ 3.35 $ 2.57 S 2.54
Earnings per common share, diluted $ 3.20 $ 2.46 $ 2.43

s . e

e e e s e e I

Interest Income: income earned on amounts lent to others or from investments in
interest-yielding securities.
Income Tax Expense: federal, state, and local taxes levied on income.

A TypicAL INCOME STATEMENT

Just as the balance sheet lists accounts, grouped by type, so too does the income statement.
The income statement displays, for a given period, revenues (net asset inflows) and expenses
(net asset outflows); the difference is net income (also called earnings or profit). If the expenses
exceed the revenues of a period, the result is a loss or a net loss.

The income statement begins with revenues (sometimes called the “top line”) and then
subtracts expenses associated with operating the business (for example, cost of goods sold,
SG&A, R&D, and advertising). The next line items display other sources of income (such
as interest income) and other expenses (such as interest expense) to arrive at income before
taxes. Income tax expense is then subtracted to arrive at net income (sometimes called the
“bottom line”). Some firms declare, then pay, dividends to their shareholders. A dividend is
a distribution of net assets generated by earnings—not a cost incurred in generating earn-
ings—so it never appears as an expense on the income statement.

The income statement of Colgate Palmolive Company for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2007, is shown in Exhibit 2.5. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the display of income
statements for the current year as well as the two prior years. Colgate reports the results for
the current year, 2007, in the first (Ileftmost) column of numbers, with the results for 2006 and
2005 reported in the remaining two columns. Colgate’s income statement reflects a relatively
sparse listing of accounts. Most firms’ income statements contain more detail, that is, more
line items or rows.

Firms have considerable flexibility in the way they present income items. Colgate, for
example, reports subtotals for Gross Profit, Operating Profit, and Income Before Income
Taxes. A later section of this chapter and subsequent chapters discuss these terms more fully.

RELATION BETWEEN THE BALANCE SHEET
AND THE INCOME STATEMENT

The income statement links the beginning and ending balance sheets. The beginning bal-
ance of the shareholders’ equity account Retained Earnings plus net income from the income
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statement less dividends equals the ending balance of Retained Earnings. The equation
that describes the relation between the balance sheet and the income statement through the
Retained Earnings account is as follows:

Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)

In this sense, common terminology often says that the income statement “articulates” with
the balance sheet. Retained earnings measures the cumulative excess of net income over divi-
dends for the life of a firm. Cumulative means that retained earnings aggregates a// undistrib-
uted earnings.

Inspection of Colgate’s balance sheet, shown in Exhibit 2.1, reveals that Colgate’s Retained
Earnings balance increased from $9,643.7 million on December 31, 2006, to $10,627.5 mil-
lion on December 31, 2007. From Exhibit 2.5 we see that Colgate’s net income for 2007 was
$1,737.4 million. Elsewhere in its annual report, Colgate reported 2007 dividends of $721.6
million for common shareholders and $28.0 million for preferred shareholders, or a total
of $749.6 million in dividends. Using this information, we can calculate whether Colgate’s
balance sheet and income statement articulate by examining whether the retained earnings
relation holds:

Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)
= $9,643.7 + $1,737.4 — $749.6
= $10,631.5

The calculated amount, $10,631.5, is $4.0 million higher than Colgate’s reported balance
in Retained Earnings at the end of 2007, $10,627.5 million. The difference of $4.0 million
results from an adjustment for the application of a new accounting standard, which Colgate
charged to Retained Earnings.

In summary, the retained earnings relation does not hold for Colgate for 2007 because of
other transactions that affected its Retained Earnings during the year. We ignore these kinds
of items here and revisit them in Chapter 14.

The following disaggregation of the balance sheet equation shows the relation of rev-
enues, expenses, and dividends to the components of the balance sheet.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

Contributed

Assets = Liabilities + Retained Earnings

Capital
Retained |
Assets = Liabilities + Contributed Earnings, | Net Income for Period _ Dividends
Capital Beginning for Period
of Period
Retained Revenues Expenses
Assets = Liabilities + Contributed Earmings, e - for _ Dividends
Capital Beginning . . for Period
. Period Period
of Period

The preceding diagram shows that items that affect net income (revenues and expenses) also
affect shareholders’ equity. It is, therefore, possible to record revenue and expense amounts
directly in the Retained Earnings account. Measuring net income would then involve solving
the retained earnings relation for net income, as follows:
Net Income = Retained Earmings _ Reta.ine.d Earm'ng? at 4+ Dividends
at End of Period Beginning of Period

The purpose of the income statement is not the calculation of net income, per se, because
the reader can do this by analyzing the retained earnings relation. However, recording revenues
and expenses directly in the Retained Earnings account suppresses information about the
causes of net income. The line items or rows on the income statement display the sources and
amounts of revenues as well as the nature and amounts of expenses that net to earnings for
the period. Knowing these income components helps the user both to understand the causes
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of past performance and to forecast future performance. Knowing the purpose of the income
statement—to display the line items for components of net income—will help you under-
stand the procedures for preparing it.

Accountants maintain individual revenue and expense accounts during an accounting
period to permit preparation of an income statement. Recall from our earlier discussion that
income statement accounts are temporary accounts, as opposed to the permanent accounts
that appear on the balance sheet. All temporary accounts begin with a zero balance and accu-
mulate information for the period. After preparing the income statement at the end of the
period, the accountant transfers the balance in each temporary revenue and expense account
to the Retained Earnings account. This procedure is called closing the revenue and expense
accounts, because after closing (that is, the transfer to Retained Earnings), each revenue and
expense account has a zero balance. Retained Earnings increases by the amount of net income
(or decreases by the amount of net loss) for the period.

Maintaining separate revenue and expense accounts during the period and transfer-
ring their balances to the Retained Earnings account at the end of the period has the same
effect on the balance sheet equation as initially recording revenues and expenses directly in
the Retained Earnings account. The separate revenue and expense accounts collect the infor-
mation needed to display the specific types of revenues and expenses in the income state-
ment, which otherwise could show the total amount of net income but not its components.
Once revenue and expense accounts serve their purpose of accumulating specific revenue and
expense items for an accounting period, they have no further purpose for that period. The
accountant closes these accounts so that they begin the following accounting period with a
zero balance, ready for the revenue and expense entries of the new period.

ACCOUNTING PROCESS FOR REVENUES,
EXPENSES, AND DIVIDENDS

Revenues, expenses, and dividends increase or decrease retained earnings, so the recording
procedures for these items are the same as for any other transaction affecting shareholders’
equity accounts.

Shareholders’ Equity

Decreases Increases
(Debit) (Credit)
Expenses Revenues
Dividends Issues of

Capital Stock

A transaction generating revenue increases net assets (either by increasing assets or
decreasing liabilities) and increases shareholders’ equity. The usual journal entry to record a
revenue transaction is therefore as follows:

Asset Increase or Liability Decrease (orboth) . ........ ... .. ... ... Amount
Revenue . . .. i e Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+ or — + IncSt — RE

Typical entry to recognize revenue.

We use the designation IncSt — RE in the “Class.” column to indicate an income state-
ment account that is closed to retained earnings at the end of the period.

A transaction generating an expense decreases net assets (either by decreasing assets or
increasing liabilities) and decreases shareholders’ equity. The usual journal entry to record an
expense transaction is therefore as follows:
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EXPENSe .« it e e Amount
Asset Decrease or Liability Increase (or both)................. Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
— or + — IncSt — RE

Typical journal entry to recognize expense.

Dividends, which a firm may pay in cash or in other assets, decrease net assets and
decrease shareholders’ equity. We assume that firms pay dividends in cash unless we have
contrary information. The following journal entry records the declaration of a dividend by
the board of directors:

Retained Earnings. . . . oottt e Amount
Dividend Payable . . ... ... ...t Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+ — RE

Typical entry to record dividend declaration.

The following journal entry records the payment of the dividend:

Dividend Payable . . ... ... . Amount
Cash. oo e e e Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

Typical entry to record dividend payment.

Although the journal entries for dividends resemble those for expenses, dividends are not
expenses. They are not costs incurred in generating revenues. Rather, dividends represent dis-
tributions, to owners, of assets that the firm obtained from its operations. Because dividends
are not expenses, they do not affect the measurement of net income and, therefore, are not
included in the calculation of net income. Note that Colgate’s income statement in Exhibit 2.5
shows no deduction for the $749.6 million dividends paid in 2007.

ILLusTRATION OF DuAL EFFECTS AND JOURNAL
ENTRIES FOR INCOME TRANSACTIONS

Earlier in this chapter, we illustrated the transactions of Miller Corporation for January. None
of those transactions involved income statement accounts, as Exhibit 2.4 reflects because it
shows a zero balance in the Retained Earnings account. The account has a zero balance at
the end of January because during January Miller did not generate revenues, incur expenses,
or declare a dividend.

In this section, we consider transactions that affect both the income statement and the
balance sheet. We consider seven transactions that Miller engages in during February.

Transaction 1: On February 5 Miller purchases an additional $25,000 of merchandise on
account.

(1) Merchandise Inventory . ...... ...t 25,000

Accounts Payable . . . ... o e 25,000
(continued)
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Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

+25,000 +25,000

Purchase of inventory costing $25,000 on account.

Transaction 2: During February, Miller sells merchandise to customers for $50,000. Of
this amount, $3,000 represents sales to customers who paid $3,000 to Miller on January 31.
We recorded this amount as Advances from Customer (transaction (7) that occurred during
January). Miller makes the remaining $47,000 of sales on account. Retail firms such as Miller
typically recognize revenue at the time they deliver merchandise to customers, regardless of
whether the customers have paid cash. The journal entry to record these sales is:

(2) Advances from Customer . ... ...t 3,000
Accounts Receivable . . ... ..o 47,000
Sales Revenue .. ...t e 50,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+47,000 —3,000 +50,000 IncSt — RE

Sales of merchandise for $50,000, $3,000 of which Miller had received during
January, and $47,000 of which is on account.

Sales Revenue is a temporary income statement account that Miller will close to Retained
Earnings at the end of February.

Transaction 3: The acquisition cost of the merchandise sold to customers in transaction
(2) is $30,000. Because Miller has sold and delivered this merchandise to customers, it is no
longer Miller’s asset. The following journal entry reduces the balance in Miller’s inventory
account and recognizes the cost of the inventory sold as an expense.

(3) Costof Goods Sold . ... ..o vi e e 30,000
Merchandise Inventory . ...... ... 30,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—30,000 —30,000 IncSt — RE

The cost of merchandise sold to customers during February is $30,000.

Cost of Goods Sold is a temporary income statement account that Miller will close to the
Retained Earnings account at the end of February. The minus sign under the Shareholders’
Equity column shows the effect on shareholders’ equity, not on Cost of Goods Sold.

Transaction 4: Miller Corporation incurs and pays $14,500 of selling and administrative
costs during February. The journal entry to record this transaction is:

(4) Selling and Administrative Expenses . .. ..., 14,500
Cash. ot e e 14,500
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—14,500 —14,500 IncSt — RE

Selling and administrative expenses paid in cash during February total
$14,500.

We assume that Miller Corporation received all the benefits of these selling and adminis-
trative services during February, so the full amount of cost is an expense for the month. None
of the expenditure results in an asset that would appear on the balance sheet at the end of
February.
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Transaction 5: Miller Corporation collects $35,000 from customers for sales previously
made on account. Miller recognized revenue from these sales at the time of sale (see transac-
tion (2) for February); it will not record those revenues again. Collecting cash from customers
increases the balance in the cash account and decreases accounts receivable.

(5) Cash. oot e 35,000
Accounts Receivable . . . ... o i i e 35,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+35,000
—35,000

Cash collections of $35,000 from sales previously made on account.

Transaction 6: Miller pays $20,000 to suppliers for merchandise previously purchased on
account. The journal entry to record this payment is:

(6) Accounts Payable .. ... ... 20,000
Cash. ot e e 20,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—20,000 —20,000

Cash payments of $20,000 for purchases previously made on account.

Transaction 7: Miller Corporation declares and pays a dividend to shareholders of
$1,000. The entry to record the dividend is:

(7) Retained Earnings. . ... oo vttt e 1,000
Cash. oo 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—1,000 —1,000 RE

Dividends declared and paid during February total $1,000.

These seven journal entries summarize Miller Corporation’s activities during February.
Each entry records an exchange between Miller and its suppliers, or its customers, or its share-
holders. A typical firm would record entries such as these as the events occur. We have simplified
the journal entries by aggregating the month’s transactions into a single summary number.

An accounting system would transfer the information in these journal entries to the bal-
ance sheet and income statement accounts affected; this activity is the posting process. We use
T-accounts to show the account balances at the beginning of February and the posting of these
seven transactions during February for Miller Corporation. Exhibit 2.6 shows the T-accounts,
with the seven entries recorded in blue. We discuss the entries recorded in red and gold next. The
balance sheet accounts have beginning-of-February balances equal to their ending balances at
the end of January. The income statement accounts have zero balances at the beginning of Feb-
ruary (by design, because they are temporary accounts). Both the balance sheet accounts and
the income statement accounts reflect the effects of the seven February transactions.

ADJUSTING ENTRIES

Transactions (1) to (7) involve exchanges between Miller Corporation and other entities or
individuals during February. Each of the seven transactions involves a transaction or exchange
that triggers accounting recognition in the form of a journal entry. For example, the events in
transactions (1) and (2) are a purchase of inventory and the sale of merchandise to a customer,
respectively. In addition to accounting entries that result from transactions or exchanges, some
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entries result from the passage of time. For example, interest expense on borrowing accrues as
time passes. The costs of rent and insurance accrue as the firm uses these services.

Most firms record journal entries that result from the passage of time at the end of the
accounting period. These entries are called adjusting entries because they adjust the account-
ing records for changes in balance sheet and income statement accounts that continually
occur and reflect changes in the firm’s resources (assets) and claims on those assets (liabilities
and shareholder’s equity). The adjusting entries are part of the measurement of net income
for the period and financial position at the end of the period.

Miller Corporation will make five adjusting entries at the end of February (shown in red
in Exhibit 2.6).

Transaction 8: Miller records the cost of insurance, which is the portion of prepaid insur-
ance attributable to insurance services received during February. Miller paid the $600 one-
year insurance premium on January 31 for coverage from February 1 of this year through
January 31 of next year. Assuming the allocation of an equal amount of this insurance pre-
mium to each month of the year, the cost of insurance during February is $50 (= $600/12
months). Miller includes the cost of insurance in selling and administrative expenses. The
entry is:

(8) Selling and Administrative EXpenses ... ...t 50
Prepaid InSUrance. . v v v ettt ettt e e 50
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—50 —50 IncSt — RE

The cost of insurance services received during February is $50.

The remaining $550 of prepaid insurance becomes an expense during the next 11 months.
In the meantime, it remains an asset on the balance sheet.

Transaction 9: Miller Corporation records the cost of rent, which is the portion of pre-
paid rent that is attributable to rent services consumed during February. Miller paid $12,000
on January 31 to prepay its rent for February 1 of this year through January 31 of next year.
Assuming the allocation of an equal amount of rental cost to each month, February’s rent
expense is $1,000 (= $12,000/12 months). Miller Corporation includes rent expense in selling
and administrative expenses. The entry is:

(9) Selling and Administrative EXpenses ... ......c..outiinn i 1,000
Prepaid Rent . .ot i  eee 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—1,000 —1,000 IncSt — RE

The cost of rental services received during February is $1,000.

The remaining $11,000 of prepaid rent becomes an expense during the next 11 months.

Transaction 10: Accumulated Depreciation shows the cumulative amount of the acqui-
sition cost of long-lived assets that the firm has allocated to the cost of production or to
expenses. On February 1, Miller Corporation begins consuming the services of the building
that it purchased on January 31 for $40,000 and recorded as an asset on that date.'” Miller
records depreciation on the building starting from February 1 (the date that it began using
the building) to reflect the consumption over time of building services. Assume that Miller
expects the building to last for 20 years and that Miller believes the building will have no
value at that time (that is, the salvage value at the end of 20 years is zero). Miller will depre-
ciate the cost of the building over its useful life by recording an expense proportional to the
amount of the asset’s life that has elapsed during the period. The depreciation charge each
month is thus $167 [= $40,000/(20 years X 12 months per year)]. Miller includes depreciation
on the building in selling and administrative expenses.

0Chapter 9 describes the judgments and estimates involved in measuring depreciation on long-lived assets;
Transaction (10) illustrates only the mechanics and the accounts affected.
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EXHIBIT 2.6

The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation

Miller Corporation

Individual T-Accounts Showing Transactions
During February

Cash (A) Accounts Receivable (A)
v 82,400 v 0
(5) 35,000 | 14,500 (4) (2) 47,000 | 35,000 (5)
20,000 (6)
1,000 7)
v/ 81,900 v 12,000
Merchandise Inventory (A) Prepaid Insurance (A)
v 15,000 v 600
(1) 25,000 | 30,000 3) 50 (8)
v 10,000 v 550
Prepaid Rent (A)
v 12,000
1,000 (9)
v 11,000
Buildings (A) Accumulated Depreciation (A)
v 40,000 0 v
167 (10)
v 40,000 167 v
Accounts Payable (L) Advances from Customer (L)
0 v 3,000 v
(6) 20,000 | 25,000 (1) (2) 3,000
5,000 4 0 v
Note Payable (L) Accrued Interest Payable (L)
40,000 4 0 v
333 (11)
40,000 v 333 v
(continued)

One way to record depreciation is to reduce the amount in the Buildings account by $167
and recognize an expense of $167. However, instead of reducing the amount in the Buildings
account directly, firms use the balance sheet contra account Accumulated Depreciation to
accumulate the subtractions for depreciation charges. That is, each accounting period Miller
will add to the balance in Accumulated Depreciation the cost of the building services used
during the period. The Accumulated Depreciation account appears on the balance sheet as
a subtraction from the acquisition cost of the building. An account, such as Accumulated
Depreciation, that accumulates subtractions from another account is a contra account. Thus,
Miller will record depreciation for February as follows:

(10) Selling and Administrative Expenses (Depreciation Expense)

Depreciation of building for February of $167.

Accumulated Depreciation

Assets
—167

Liabilities

+

Equity
—167

Shareholders’

(Class.)
IncSt — RE

167
167



EXHIBIT 2.6

Accounting Process for Revenues, Expenses, and Dividends

Miller Corporation (Continued)
Individual T-Accounts Showing Transactions

During February

Income Tax Payable (L)

Income Tax Expense (SE)

0 v v 0
1,382 (12) (12) 1,382 | 1,382 (13)
1,382 v v 0

Common Stock (SE) Retained Earnings (SE)

107,000 v 0 v
(7) 1,000 2,568 (13)
107,000 v 1,568 v

Sales Revenue (SE) Cost of Goods Sold (SE)

0 v v 0
(13) 50,000 | 50,000 (2) (3) 30,000 | 30,000 (13)
0 v v 0

Interest Expense (SE) Selling and Administrative Expenses (SE)

4 0 v/ 0

(11) 333 333 (13) (4) 14,500

4 0 (8) 50
(9) 1,000
(10) 167 | 15,717 (13)
v 0

Black = Balances Red = Adjusting Entries

Blue = Transaction Entries Gold = Closing Entries

The minus sign under Assets in the balance sheet equation indicates the effect on assets,
not on Accumulated Depreciation. Likewise, the minus sign under Shareholders’ Equity indi-
cates the effect on shareholders’ equity, not on Selling and Administrative Expense.

Transaction 11: Miller Corporation records interest expense on the note payable for the
month of February. On January 31, Miller signed a note payable promising to repay the bank
the $40,000 of principal borrowed in three years’ time and to make yearly interest payments
at the rate of 10% per annum, or $4,000 (= 10% X $40,000) per year. Whenever Miller pre-
pares financial statements, it will compute the amount of interest that has accumulated or
accrued since the previous financial statement date. At the end of February, Miller will recog-
nize (accrue) $333 (= $4,000/12) of interest, which is one-twelfth of the total yearly interest
amount, by making an adjusting entry:

(11) Interest EXPENse . . ..ottt e e 333
Interest Payable . ... ... .. . . . i 333
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+333 —333 IncSt — RE

The cost of interest on the note payable for the month of February is $333.

Transaction 12: Miller Corporation recognizes income tax expense on February’s income
before income taxes. Assume an income tax rate of 35%. Net income before income taxes
for February is $3,950 (= $50,000 — $30,000 — $14,500 — $50 — $1,000 — $167 — $333).
Income tax expense is therefore $1,382 (= 0.35 X $3,950). Firms pay income taxes quarterly,
so Miller’s income taxes remain unpaid at the end of February. Income taxes are an expense
of the accounting period, regardless of when the firm pays them. The adjusting entry to
record income tax expense is:
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(12) Income TaX EXPeNnse. « o v v vt ittt e et e e e 1,382
Income Tax Payable .. ... ... o i 1,382
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,382 —1,382 IncSt — RE

Income tax expense for February is $1,382.

In addition to recording effects that arise with the passage of time, adjusting entries also
correct recording errors that the firm detects at the end of the period. These entries are some-
times called correcting entries. For example, property taxes on the headquarters buildings
may appear as a debit to Cost of Goods Sold instead of Selling and Administrative Expenses,
or a payment to a supplier for purchases on account may appear as a debit to Accounts
Receivable instead of Accounts Payable. There were no such errors for Miller Corporation
during February so it need not make adjusting entries to correct errors. After all the adjusting
entries are complete, the accountant posts those entries to the accounts affected. Adjusting
entries appear in red in Exhibit 2.6.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION

PREPARATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENT

The revenue and expense accounts show the effects of income transactions during Febru-
ary and adjusting entries at the end of February. We can use these amounts to prepare an
income statement for the month. Exhibit 2.7 shows Miller Corporation’s income statement
for February.

This income statement uses the convention that parentheses indicate numbers to be sub-
tracted. Numbers without parentheses are revenues, income subtotals, or net income. Exhibit
2.7 shows a measure of income before financing charges (that is, interest expense) and before
taxes. This measure is called operating income in Exhibit 2.7; in Exhibit 2.5 Colgate uses the
term operating profit. Operating income (or profit) is usually sales revenues less expenses asso-
ciated with core operations, where core refers to transactions that are central to a firm’s busi-
ness. Miller Corporation operates a retailing business model: it buys and resells merchandise.
Its operating income calculation includes the revenues associated with sales of merchandise
and the expenses associated with operating this business. These expenses include, for example,
the cost of merchandise sold and selling and administrative expenses. Neither U.S. GAAP
nor IFRS defines operating income and profit, although both often appear on income state-
ments. Managers can exercise judgment in determining whether to report this number and, if
reported, managers can use judgment in how to calculate it. In addition, IFRS requires sepa-
rate presentation of financing costs, as shown in Exhibit 1.6 for Scania. In particular, Scania
reports net financial expenses of SEK 170 million for 2006.

Miller Corporation
EXHIBIT 2.7 Income Statement
For the Month of February

SalES REVEIMUE & i v vttt et e et e e e e e $50,000
Cost of Goods Sold . . . ..o o e (30,000)
Selling and Administrative EXpenses . ... ...ttt (15,717)
Operating INCOME . « o o v vttt et e e e e e e e e $ 4,283
Interest EXPENSE. « o v vttt et e (333)
Income Before INCOME TaXES & v v v v vttt e et e et e e et e e ettt et et e $ 3,950
Income Tax EXpense . . ..ottt e e (1,382)

2o T 11 L= $ 2,568




Financial Statement Preparation

CLosING ENTRIES

The revenue and expense accounts have now served their purpose in accumulating the amounts
to be included as line items on the income statement. That is, each revenue account contains
a total of that revenue, and each expense account contains a total for that expense. Income
statement accounts are temporary accounts and, as such, will have beginning and ending bal-
ances of zero. The next step is to transfer the amounts in the revenue and expense accounts
to the Retained Earnings account—that is, to close each revenue and expense account for the
period. The closing process involves reducing to zero the balance in each income statement
account by debiting the revenue accounts and crediting the expense accounts, and transfer-
ring to Retained Earnings the differences between total revenues and total expenses. Closing
entries are shown in gold in Exhibit 2.6.

An income statement account with a debit balance requires a closing entry that credits
that account, because a credit closing entry will result in a zero ending balance in the account.
Miller’s Cost of Goods Sold account has a debit balance of $30,000. The closing entry for
this account is:

Retained Earnings. . . . oottt e e 30,000
Costof Goods Sold . .. ....ov i 30,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—30,000 IncSt —RE
+30,000 IncSt —RE

To close the Cost of Goods Sold account to Retained Earnings at the end of
February.

An income statement account with a credit balance requires a closing entry that debits
that account, because a debit closing entry will result in a zero ending balance in the account.
For example, Miller’s Sales Revenue account has a credit balance of $50,000. The closing
entry for this account is:

Sales RevenUES. . . . vttt e 50,000
Retained Earnings. . . .o oo v vttt e 50,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—50,000 IncSt —RE
+50,000 IncSt —RE

To close the Sales Revenue account to Retained Earnings at the end of
February.

Exhibit 2.6 shows, in gold, the closing entry for the revenue and expense accounts; the
entry nets all of the income statement accounts in a single journal entry:

(13) Sales RevenUE. . .ot v it e 50,000
Costof Goods Sold . . . ... v 30,000
Selling and Administrative Expenses ... .......covuvio.. 15,717
Interest EXPeNse . ..o vttt e e 333
Income Tax EXpENse . . v v vt vt et e e 1,382
Retained Earnings . .. .ov vttt e e 2,568

To close the income statement accounts to Retained Earnings at the end of
February.

The net effect of journal entry (13) changes the balance in the Retained Earnings account
to reflect the net income of the period. In the case of Miller Corporation, the net effect cred-
its Retained Earnings for February net income of $2,568 (as reported in the income statement
shown in Exhibit 2.7).
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Miller Corporation
Bl BT 2ol Comparative Balance Sheets

February 28 January 31
ASSETS
(07T £ $ 81,900 $ 82,400
Accounts Receivable . . . . ..o i e 12,000 —
Merchandise Inventory. . . . ..o vttt 10,000 15,000
Prepaid INSUMANCE . & v v v vt ettt e e e e e e e e e 550 600
Prepaid ReNt . . v v ittt e 11,000 12,000
Total Current AsSetS . . v v it ittt e e e e e $115,450 $110,000
BUILAINGS. « o v vttt e e $ 40,000 $ 40,000
Accumulated Depreciation . ... .......iiiiiiiiiii (167) 0
Buildings, Net of Depreciation . ........... ... . ... ... .. $ 39,833 $ 40,000
TOtal ASSEES &+ v vttt e e e e $155,283 $150,000
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts Payable . .. ... ... $ 5,000 $ —
Advances from Customer . ...... ... ... i — 3,000
Accrued Interest Payable . . ... ... . 333 —
Income Tax Payable . ...... ... . oot 1,382 —
Total Current Liabilities . . ..o oot i et e et et e $ 6,715 $ 3,000
Note Payable . .. .vo ettt e $ 40,000 $ 40,000
Total Liabilities . . v v v v e e e e et e $ 46,715 $ 43,000
CommONn SEOCK & v v vttt e e e e e e $107,000 $107,000
Retained Earmings. . . . ..ottt 1,568 —
Total Shareholders” Equity . ... .....oiiuneennnnnn. $108,568 $107,000
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . ................... $155,283 $150,000

PREPARATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET

After the closing process is completed, the accounts with nonzero balances are all balance
sheet accounts. We can use these accounts to prepare the balance sheet as at the end of the
period. Exhibit 2.8 presents the comparative balance sheets for Miller Corporation on Janu-
ary 31 and February 28.

The balance in Retained Earnings has increased from zero at the end of January to $1,568
at the end of February. The change in Retained Earnings equals net income of $2,568 minus
dividends of $1,000. Retained Earnings will begin March with a balance of $1,568. Net income
less dividends (if any) for March will be added to $1,568 to yield the balance in Retained Earn-
ings at the end of March. The balance in the Retained Earnings account, like all other balance
sheet accounts, reflects the cumulative effect of transactions affecting that account.

PREPARATION OF A STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

The statement of cash flows describes the sources and uses of cash during a period and classi-
fies them into operating, investing, and financing activities. It provides a detailed explanation
for the change in the balance of the cash account during that period. For example, a statement
of cash flows for Miller Corporation explains why the cash balance decreased from $82,400
on February 1 to $81,900 on February 28. Chapter 5 and Chapter 15 focus on the statement
of cash flows and describe two approaches used to compute cash flow from operations. The
first approach, called the direct method, involves a relatively straightforward listing of the
sources and uses of cash from operating activities, as one would understand from identify-
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Miller Corporation
DCI:IRF N Statement of Cash Flows—Direct Method
For the Month of February

Sources of Cash

Cash Received from CUSEOMErS. . . o oottt ettt et $35,000
Uses of Cash

Cash Paid for Selling and Administrative Items. . . .. ... ... o (14,500)

Cash Paid to SUppliers . . . ...ttt e e (20,000)

Dividends Paid . . .. .. ..ottt e (1,000)
Change in Cash. . ..o ottt e e e e $ (500)
Cash, Beginning of Month . . ... ... e e e 82,400
Cash, End of MONth . . o .ottt e e e e $81,900

ing and understanding the transactions that affect the Cash account. The second approach,
called the indirect method, reconciles net income to cash flows from operations by adjusting
net income for noncash income statement components. Although the indirect method domi-
nates in practice, it is not intuitive at this point because many of the necessary adjustments to
net income involve items that we have not yet covered. For this reason, we illustrate the direct
method in this chapter and defer the discussion of the indirect method to Chapter 5.

As noted previously, Miller’s cash balance declined by $500 during February. A simplified
statement of cash flows for February, shown in Exhibit 2.9, explains this change.

The rows reported in Exhibit 2.9 correspond to all transactions that generated cash and all
transactions that consumed cash during February. One way to identify these transactions is
to look at the T-account for the cash account (shown in Exhibit 2.6 and reproduced below):

Cash (A)
82,400
(5) 35,000 14,500  (4)
20,000  (6)
1,000  (7)
81,900

Recall from transaction (2) that the $50,000 in February sales revenues consists of $3,000
in the form of a cash advance received in January (so it is a cash inflow on the January state-
ment of cash flows) and $47,000 in the form of customers’ promise to pay in the future (so
this amount will be a cash inflow in the accounting period when the cash is collected). For the
latter, transaction (5) tells us that Miller collected $35,000 in cash from customers in Febru-
ary for goods that customers purchased on credit in February. Therefore, Miller has a $35,000
cash inflow for February associated with collections of cash from customers on sales made in
February.

Cash outflows in February consist of $14,500 for selling, general, and administrative
expenses and $20,000 for items purchased on account in February; Miller also paid a cash
dividend of $1,000. Total cash outflows ($35,500) exceed cash inflows ($35,000), meaning
that Miller used some cash on hand to cover the shortfall of $500. As shown in Exhibit 2.9,
the shortfall explains the decrease in the cash balance from $82,400 at the beginning of Feb-
ruary to $81,900 at the end of February.

The statement of cash flows in Exhibit 2.9 is a simplified presentation based on a state-
ment of cash flows prepared using the direct method. Under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, the
statement of cash flows displays sources and uses of cash by activity. That is, the statement
contains separate sections for operating cash flows, investing cash flows, and financing cash
flows. We leave the discussion of these three sections, as well as more complex issues relating
to this statement, to Chapter 5 and Chapter 15.
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Recording the effects of each transaction in a dual manner in the accounts maintains the
balance sheet equation: total assets = total liabilities + shareholders’ equity. The format of a
journal entry to record a transaction is:

Debit Account (Asset Increases and Liability and
Shareholders’ Equity Decreases) .. .........ceeee.... Debit Amount

Credit Account (Asset Decreases and Liability and
Shareholders” Equity Increases) ... ................ Credit Amount

T-accounts provide an alternative way of organizing the recording of transactions; they
are also convenient devices for collecting the records of a series of transactions or journal
entries that affect a single account during a period. Like journal entries, T-accounts reflect
the dual effects of transactions as shown by the following T-account format:

Asset Accounts Liability (or Shareholders’ Equity) Accounts
Beg. Bal. Beg. Bal.
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
End. Bal. End. Bal.

Journal entries and T-accounts also record the effects of transactions that affect the
income statement. All income statement accounts are temporary: they begin and end with
zero balances. The closing process ensures that the ending balance in an income statement
account is zero, by debiting or crediting each account with exactly the amount necessary to
ensure that debits equal credits, so that the ending account balance is zero. The offsetting
credit or debit to each of these closing transactions is generally Retained Earnings. Thus, the
closing process reflects the articulation between the income statement and the balance sheet,
as expressed in the retained earnings relation:

Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)

In this equation, net income is a summary measure of the individual revenue and expense
amounts.

The dual nature of transactions and the reporting consequences of that dual nature
extend to items for which no event triggers a journal entry. Some items give rise to a journal
entry and recognition in the financial statements because of the passage of time, such as
wages earned but not yet paid to employees, consumption of a portion of a prepaid asset
(for example, prepaid rent and prepaid insurance), and interest accrued on loans but not yet
paid. These and similar items are recorded using adjusting entries at the end of the reporting
period. Adjusting entries may increase or decrease balances in balance sheet accounts and
income statement accounts.

OVERVIEW OF THE ACCOUNTING PROCESS
The record-keeping process generally involves the following steps:

1. Recording each transaction in a file or other record in the form of a journal entry.

2. Posting the amounts from the journal entries to individual balance sheet and income
statement accounts in a general ledger. In computerized systems, posting occurs instantly
and automatically after journalizing. T-accounts are useful devices for textbook illustra-
tions and end-of-chapter problems to accumulate the effects of transactions on balance
sheet and income statement accounts.

These first two steps occur daily (and perhaps many times during a day). The remaining
steps typically occur at the end of the accounting period:

3. Making adjusting journal entries to the accounts to correct errors and to reflect the
financial statement impacts of items that occur because of usage or the passage of time.
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Azkﬂg HErly Makin i TG Preparing the
Results of __ Journalizing __  Posting to Jand 9 L the o Closing L the u Star;emeat of
Transactions Transactions Accounts Correctin Income Entn'eg Balance Cash Flows
Hng Statement Sheet
Entries
Occur Continually During the Period Occur at the End of the Period

4. Preparing the income statement for the period from amounts in the income statement
accounts.

5. Closing the temporary income statement accounts to retained earnings.

6. Preparing the balance sheet from amounts in the balance sheet accounts.

7. Preparing the statement of cash flows from balance sheet amounts and from details of
transactions affecting the cash account.

Figure 2.1 shows these operations, which the previous section illustrated using the trans-
actions of Miller Corporation during February.

This chapter illustrated the use of journal entries and T-accounts. Some instructors and stu-
dents might prefer to use a computer spreadsheet to accomplish the same objectives. This
appendix illustrates the use of a spreadsheet using the transactions of Miller Corporation
discussed in the chapter and summarized in Exhibit 2.2.

Exhibit 2.2 presents the balance sheet equation horizontally. That is,

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders” Equity

Picture now the balance sheet equation presented vertically at both the beginning and the
end of a period. Thus,

Assets Assets
Liabilities Liabilities
+ +
Shareholders’ Equity Shareholders’ Equity
I >
Beginning End

This vertical arrangement of the balance sheet equation corresponds to the actual presen-
tation of balance sheets; see, for example, Colgate’s balance sheet in Exhibit 2.1. We use this
vertical arrangement to design a spreadsheet for recording the dual effects of transactions on
the balance sheet equation.

Exhibit 2.10 presents the spreadsheet template, which you can download from the Web site
for this book at www.cengage.comlaccountingl/stickney. The column titled Balance: Beginning
of Period reports amounts on the balance sheet at the beginning of a period, and the column
titled Balance: End of Period reports amounts on the balance sheet at the end of the period.
The rows of the spreadsheet show assets (current and noncurrent), liabilities (current and
noncurrent), and shareholders’ equity. We leave spaces to add individual accounts, such as




D ULIRRP P IOR  Transactions Spreadsheet Template

A B c | D E F G H K
1 Balance Sheet Accounts Transactions, by Number and Description
2 Balance: Balance:
Beginning End of
of Period | Describe Transaction here Period
3 1 2 3 4 5 6
4 ASSETS
5 Current Assets:
6
7
8
9 Total Current Assets
10 Noncurrent Assets:
11
12
13
14 Total Noncurrent Assets
15 Total Assets
16 LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
17 Current Liabilities:
18
19 Total Current Liabilities
20 Noncurrent Liabilities:
21
22 Total Noncurrent Liabilities
23 Total Liabilities
24 | Shareholders’ Equity:
25
26
27 Total Shareholders’ Equity
28 Total Liabilities and Shareholders’
Equity
29
30 Imbalance, If Any
31
32 Income Statement Accounts
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cash, accounts payable, and common stock. The columns labeled Transactions, by Number
and Description refer to transactions whose recording transforms the balance sheet at the
beginning of the period to the balance sheet at the end of the period. We use this spreadsheet
to show the dual effects of transactions, entering the appropriate account titles in the rows in
the first column. The next-to-last row of the spreadsheet, labeled Imbalance, If Any, serves as
an arithmetical check to ensure that we have recorded each transaction to maintain the bal-
ance sheet equation.!!

We illustrate the use of this spreadsheet template using the eight transactions for Miller
Corporation during January as it prepares to open for business on February 1. We indicate
whether each account is an asset (A), a liability (L), or a shareholders’ equity (SE) account.
Exhibit 2.11 shows the completed spreadsheet incorporating the eight transactions.

Transaction 1: On January 1, Miller issues 10,000 shares of $10 par value common stock
for $100,000 cash. This transaction increases cash by $100,000 and common stock, a share-
holders’ equity account, by an equal amount. Thus,

A)Cash ... .. + 100,000
(
(SE) Common Stock . .. ... ... ... + 100,000

We enter the account title, Cash, on the first row under Current Assets and the account
title, Common Stock, on the first row under Shareholders’ Equity and place 100,000 in each
of these accounts under the Transaction 1 column. A nonzero amount in the Imbalance, If
Any row would indicate an incorrect recording of the transaction, which we must correct
before moving to the next transaction.

Transaction 2: On January 5, Miller pays $12,000 for the use of equipment during the
next 12 months. This transaction decreases cash by $12,000 and increases Prepaid Rent, a
current asset, by $12,000. Thus,

(A)yCash ..o — 12,000
(A) PrepaidRent . .................... + 12,000

Transaction 3: On January 15, Miller purchases merchandise costing $15,000 from a sup-
plier on account, agreeing to pay later. This transaction increases inventory by $15,000 and
accounts payable, a current liability, by $15,000. Thus,

(A) Merchandise Inventory . . ............ + 15,000
(L) Accounts Payable. . ................ + 15,000

Transaction 4: On January 21, Miller pays the supplier in transaction (3) $8,000 of the
amount due. This transaction reduces cash and accounts payable by $8,000. Thus,

ash ..o -8,
(A) Cash 8,000
(L) Accounts Payable............... ... — 8,000

Transaction 5: On January 25, the supplier in transaction (3) accepts 700 shares of com-
mon stock in settlement of the $7,000 still owed. This transaction reduces accounts payable
and increases common stock by $7,000. Thus,

(L) Accounts Payable............... ... — 7,000
(SE) Common Stock . . .. ... + 7,000

Transaction 6: On January 31, Miller pays $600 cash for a one-year insurance policy for
coverage beginning February 1. This transaction reduces cash by $600 and increases Prepaid
Insurance, a current asset, for the future benefits of insurance coverage. Thus,

(AyCash . .oovvii i — 600
(A) Prepaid Insurance ................. + 600

'The transactions template follows the usual procedures for the use of an Excel spreadsheet. If a particular
problem has more than eight transactions, the Insert Column command allows for additional columns. The
Insert Row command allows for additional rows for more accounts. Insert columns and rows as indicated on
the transactions template to ensure that summation formulas include the effects of additional rows and col-
umns. The Edit Delete Row and Edit Delete Column commands allow for the deletion of unneeded rows and
columns.
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EXHIBIT 11

Miller Corporation
Transactions Spreadsheet

A B (o3 D E F G H | J K
1 Balance Sheet Accounts Transactions, by Number and Description
2 Balance: Issue Prepay Purchase Pay Cash Give Prepay Receive Purchase Balance:
Beginning Common Rent Inv. on to Common Insurance Advance Building Using | End of
of Period Stock for Equipment Account Supplier Stock to from Note Period
Cash for Cash Supplier Customer Payable

3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

4 | ASSETS

5 Current Assets:

6 Cash 100,000 —12,000 —8,000 —600 3,000 82,400

7 Inventory 15,000 15,000

8 Prepaid Insurance 600 600

9 Prepaid Rent 12,000 12,000
10 Total Current Assets 110,000
11 Noncurrent Assets:
12 Buildings 40,000 40,000
13 Total Noncurrent Assets 40,000
14 Total Assets 150,000
15 LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
16 Current Liabilities:
17 Accounts Payable 15,000 —8,000 —7,000
18 Advance from Customer 3,000 3,000
19 Total Current Liabilities 3,000
20 Noncurrent Liabilities:
21 Note Payable 40,000 40,000
22 Total Noncurrent Liabilities 40,000
23 Total Liabilities 43,000
24 Shareholders’ Equity:
25 Common Stock 100,000 7,000 107,000
26
27 Total Shareholders’ Equity 107,000
28 Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ 150,000
Equity

29
30 Imbalance, If Any
31
32 Income Statement Accounts
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Solutions to Self-Study Problems

Transaction 7: On January 31, Miller receives $3,000 from a customer for merchandise to
be delivered during February. This transaction increases cash and increases Advances from
Customers, a current liability, by $3,000. Thus,

(A)Cash .o + 3,000
(L) Advances from Customers . ........... + 3,000

Transaction 8: On January 31, Miller purchases a building for $40,000 by signing a note
payable with its local bank. This transaction increases Buildings by $40,000 (a noncurrent
asset) and increases Notes Payable (a noncurrent liability) by the same amount. Thus,

(A) Buildings « ..o oo + 40,000
(L) Note Payable..................... + 40,000

The last column on the right shows the amounts for the balance sheet on January 31. The
amounts result from summing the amounts from the balance sheet at the beginning of the
period (zero in this case) and the amounts for each transaction during the period. We can
then use the amounts in the spreadsheet to prepare a balance sheet. Exhibit 2.4 in the chapter
presents the balance sheet for Miller Corporation on January 31.

PROBLEM 2.5 for Self-Study

Spreadsheet analysis of business transactions. Design a spreadsheet similar to that in
Exhibit 2.10 or use the transactions spreadsheet template available with this text at
www. cengage. comlaccountingl/stickney. Enter each of the transactions of Gaines Cor-
poration in Problem 2.1 for Self-Study and derive the amounts for the balance sheet
after the six transactions.
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SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gaines Corporation; dual effects of transactions on balance sheet equation)

Shareholders’

Transaction Assets = Liabilities + Equity
1. The firm issues 20,000 shares of

£10 par value common stock for

fl2 cashpershare ............ ... ... ... +£240,000 = 0 + +£240,000
2. The firm issues £100,000 principal

amount of bonds for £100,000 cash........... +100,000 = +100,000 + 0
3. The firm acquires, with £220,000

cash, land costing £40,000 and a

building costing £180,000 . .. ... ........... +220,000

................................... —220,000 = 0o + 0

4. The firm acquires, on account,
equipment costing £25,000 and
merchandise inventory costing £12,000 .. ... ... +37,000 = 437,000 + 0

5. The firm signs an agreement to rent
equipment from its owner and pays
£1,500 rentalinadvance . . ................ +1,500
................................... -1,500 = 0 + 0

6. The firm pays £28,000 to the suppliers
NG o e —28,000 = —28,000

Totals ... v v £349,000 = £109,000 + £240,000
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SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gaines Corporation; T-accounts for various transactions)

Cash (Asset)

Merchandise Inventory (Asset)

The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation

Prepaid Rent (Asset)

(1) 240,000 | 220,000 (3)
(2) 100,00 | 1,500  (5)
28,000 (6)

Land (Asset)

(4) 12,000

Buildings (Asset)

(5) 1,500

Equipment (Asset)

(3) 40,000 |

(3) 180,000 |

(4) 25,000 |

Common Value
(Shareholders’ Equity)

| 200,000 (1)

Accounts Payable (Liability)
(6) 28000 | 37,000 (4)

Bonds Payable (Liability)
| 100,000 (2)

Additional Paid-In Capital
(Shareholders’ Equity)

| 40,000 (1)

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.3 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gaines Corporation; journal entries for various transactions)

(1) Cash. oot e 240,000
Common Stock. . oo 200,000
Additional Paid-In Capital . .. ...... vt 40,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+240,000 +200,000 ContriCap
+40,000 ContriCap
Issue 20,000 shares of £10 par value common stock for £12 cash per share.
(2) Cash. ..ot 100,000
Bonds Payable . . .. ... o 100,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+100,000 +100,000
Issue £100,000 principal amount of bonds for £100,000 cash.
(3) Land ..ot e 40,000
BUilding . . o oot e 180,000
Cash. oo e e e 220,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+40,000
+180,